
Page 1 of 3 
 

 

REVISED AGENDA | REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL 
MEETING 

November 14, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

Council Chambers - Apex Town Hall, 73 Hunter Street 
The meeting will adjourn when all business is concluded or 10:00 PM, whichever comes first 

Town Council and Administration 
Mayor: Jacques K. Gilbert | Mayor Pro-Tempore: Audra Killingsworth 

Council Members: Brett D. Gantt; Terry Mahaffey; Edward Gray; Arno Zegerman 
Interim Town Manager: Shawn Purvis 

Assistant Town Managers: Demetria John and Marty Stone 
 Town Clerk: Allen Coleman | Town Attorney: Laurie L. Hohe 

COMMENCEMENT 

Call to Order | Invocation | Pledge of Allegiance 

CONSENT AGENDA 
All Consent Agenda items are considered routine, to be enacted by one motion with the adoption of the Consent Agenda,  

and without discussion. If a Council Member requests discussion of an item, the item may be removed from the 
 Consent Agenda and considered separately. The Mayor will present the Consent Agenda 

 to be set prior to taking action on the following items: 

CN1 2024 Town Council Meeting Calendar  

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

CN2 Agreement - Construction Agreement - CSX Transportation, Inc - Hunter Street 

Sidewalk 

 Adam Stephenson, Transportation Engineering Manager, Transportation and Infra. Dev. Dept. 

CN3 Agreement - Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement - Equipment Sharing - 

with Town of Cary, Town of Morrisville and Town of Apex 

Tim Herman, Chief, Apex Fire Department  

CN4 Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres 

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

CN5 Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 acres 

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk  

CN6 Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres 

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

CN7 Construction Contract Award - Browe Construction Company - Laura Duncan Sidewalk 

Project 

Adam Stephenson, Transportation Engineering Manager, Transportation and Infra. Dev. Dept.  

CN8 Council Meeting Minutes – Various 

Allen Coleman, Town Clerk  

CN9 Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258 

Chris Johnson, P.E., MPA, Director, Transportation & Infrastructure Development Dept.  

CN10 Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 13 Occupational Licenses, Taxes and Regulations, 

Article III, Subsection 54 Exemptions - Pleasant Park Concessions 

Craig Setzer, Director, Parks, Recreation and Cultural Resources Department   

CN11 Tax Report - September 2023  

Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

CN12 Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck 

John Mullis, Director, Public Works Department  

PRESENTATIONS 

PR1 Apex Public School Foundation - Quarterly Peak S.T.A.R. Awards 

Councilmember Terry Mahaffey, Sponsor  

PR2 Proclamation – Adoption Awareness Month – November 2023 

 Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert  

PR3 Proclamation - Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Day - Wednesday, November 15, 

2023 

 Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert  

PR4 Proclamation - Small Business Saturday 2023 - Saturday, November 25, 2023 

Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert 

PR5 Western Wake Ministry Presentation 

 Seaira Green, Executive Director of Western Wake Ministry  

 Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert, Sponsor  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Mayor Gilbert will call for additional Agenda items from Council or Staff and set the  

Regular Meeting Agenda prior to Council actions. 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

PUBLIC FORUM 
Public Forum allows the public an opportunity to address the Town Council.  The speaker is requested not to address items 

that appear as Public Hearings scheduled on the Regular Agenda.  The Mayor will recognize those who would like to speak at the  
appropriate time.  Large groups are asked to select a representative to speak for the entire group. 

Comments must be limited to 3 minutes to allow others the opportunity to speak. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

PH1 Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 

Dianne Khin, Director, Planning Department  

OLD BUSINESS 

OB1 Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler 

System Requirements (2nd Reading) 

Councilmember Terry Mahaffey, Sponsor 

Clerk’s Note:  Councilmember Mahaffey intends to make a motion to remove this 

item from consideration.  This motion will likely occur during the 

“Regular Meeting Agenda” section (page 2).  

 

UPDATES BY TOWN MANAGER 

CLOSED SESSION 

Council will enter into closed session pursuant to: 
CS1 Laurie Hohe, Town Attorney 

NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6): 
consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions of 

appointment, or conditions of initial employment of an individual public officer or employee 
or prospective public officer or employee; or to hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or 

grievance by or against an individual public officer or employee.” 
 

CS2 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6): 
consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions of 

appointment, or conditions of initial employment of an individual public officer or employee 
or prospective public officer or employee; or to hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or 

grievance by or against an individual public officer or employee.” 

ADJOURNMENT 



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 
 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk    

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office    

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt the Town Council meeting schedule for calendar year 2024. 

 

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

In accordance with North Carolina General Statute 143-318.12, a schedule of regular meetings shall be 

filed with the Town Clerk to the Town Council.  The schedule must show the date, time, and place of each 

meeting.   

 

Attachments 

• CN1-A1: DRAFT - 2024 Council Meeting Calendar  
• CN1-A2: DRAFT – 2024 Test Calendar (to be provided under separate cover) 

 



S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 3 4 5 6 1 1 2 3 1 2

7 8 T9 10 11 T12 13 4 5 6 T7 8 9 10 3 4 5 6 T7 8 9

14 15 T16 17 18 19 20 11 12 T13 14 T15 T16 17 10 11 T12 13 T14 15 16

21 22 T23 24 T25 26 27 18 19 T20 21 T22 23 24 17 18 P19 20 T21 22 23

28 29 H30 31 25 26 T27 28 29 24 25 T26 27 28 29 30

31

9th 7th 7th

12th 15-16 14th

16th 20th 19th

25th 22nd 21st

30th

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 T2 3 T4 5 6 1 T2 3 4 1

7 8 T9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

14 15 T16 17 18 T19 20 12 13 T14 T15 T16 17 18 9 10 T11 12 13 T14 15

21 22 T23 24 25 26 27 19 20 T21 22 T23 24 25 16 17 T18 19 20 T21 22

28 29 30 26 27 T28 29 H30 31 23 24 T25 26 27 28 29

30

2nd 2nd 14th

4th 15th 18th

16th 16th 21st

19th 21st

23rd

30th

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 T9 10 8 9 T10 11 T12 13 14

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 T13 14 15 16 17 15 16 T17 18 19 T20 21

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 T20 T21 22 23 24 22 23 T24 25 T26 27 28

28 29 30 31 25 26 T27 28 29 30 31 29 H30
9th 12th

20th 17th

21st 20th

26th

30th

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
T1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

6 7 T8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 T10 11 12 13 14

13 14 P15 16 T17 T18 19 10 11 T12 13 T14 T15 16 15 16 T17 18 19 20 21

20 21 22 23 24 T25 26 17 18 T19 20 T21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28

27 H28 29 T30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31

1st 14th 13th

15th 15th 17th

17th 19th

18th

25th

28th

30th

13

21 P

11 T

22 S

3 H

4 O

2

4 67

1

67 67

December

Personnel Committee

Work Session 

DRAFT 11/3/2023                       Town Council 2024 Meeting Calendar         DRAFT

Pre-Budget Public Hearing/ Regular Mtg

Work Session

Economic Development Committee

March

Budget Work Session 

Budget Work Session 

Rules Committee

February

Personnel Committee 

Joint Collaboration Meeting w/Morrisville 

Planning Committee 

Finance Committee 

Finance Committee

Planning Committee

CS - Evaluation (Appointed)

Senior Center 

Halle Cultural Arts Center

Closed Session - Evaluation (Appointed)

Work Session

Planning Committee 

Rules Committee

Joint Collaboration Meeting / Wake County

Closed Session - Evaluation (Appointed) Work Session  

Personnel Committee 

Work Session

Regular Meetings 

SPECIAL NOTE

Meeting Times, Location, Etc. are 
noted on the next page titled:
"Apex Town Council Meeting 
Calendar for Year 2024 - Text"

Council Strategic Planning Update 

Other

October

Work Session

June

Rules Committee Work Session

Work Session

January

Finance Committee

Annual Council Retreat (Option B) Annual Council Retreat (Option A) 

Joint Collaboration Meeting/Holly Springs

Work Session

Finance Committee

Work Session

Joint Finance/Personnel Committee Mtg

July

April May

Personnel Committee 

September

Planning Committee

Joint Collaboration Meeting/Cary

Economic Development Committee

Personnel Committee

Rules Committee 

Work Session

November

Economic Development Committee 

Questions should be directed to the 
Town Clerk's Office 

919-249-1260 or allen.coleman@apexnc.org 

August

Total MeetingsTotal Meetings

Committee Meetings

Budget Hearings/Work Sessions

Retreat/Strategic Planning

Joint Collaboration Meetings

MEETING LOCATION(S)

Town Hall 

Finance Committee

Holidays

Work Sessions

Police Department 

Meeting days

Two meetings same day

Economic Development Committee 



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Adam Stephenson, Transportation Engineering Manager 

Department(s): Transportation & Infrastructure Development 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve a Construction Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc and the Town of Apex, for Hunter 

Street sidewalk connecting to the existing railroad crossing surface, and to authorize the Interim Town 

Manager, or their designee, to execute on behalf of the Town.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The project will construct sidewalk on the north side of Hunter Street adjacent to the skate park and will 

connect to the existing railroad crossing surface as part of the BL-0047 Downtown Safe Routes to School & 

Transit Connections project. This construction agreement is required by CSXT due to the required flagging 

and inspection of construction. Under the terms of the agreement, a fee of $24,354 is due prior to Notice to 

Proceed to CSXT. The project is subject to reimbursable expenses as outlined in Section 4 of the agreement.  

 
 

Attachments 

 CN2-A1: Construction Agreement - CSX Transportation, INC - Hunter Street Sidewalk 
o Exhibit A – Allocation of Work 
o Exhibit B – Plans and Specifications dated 7/29/22 
o Exhibit C – CSXT Special Provisions 
o Exhibit D – Initial Estimate dated 7/18/22 
o Exhibit E – Payment Schedule 
o Exhibit F – Insurance Requirements 
o Schedule I – Contractor’s Acceptance 

 

- Page 5 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

1 
 

 
CONSTRUCTION  AGREEMENT 

 
 This Construction Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of ______________________, 
20____, by and between CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC., a Virginia corporation with its 
principal place of business in Jacksonville, Florida (“CSXT”), and the Town of Apex, a body 
corporate and political subdivision of the State of North Carolina (“Agency”). 
 

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT 
 
1. Agency has proposed to construct, or to cause to be constructed, Hunter Street sidewalk 
connecting to the existing railroad crossing surface in Apex, Wake Co., NC; SDS-20.58; near 
DOT No. 845902P, Carolinas Zone and Aberdeen Subdivision (the “Project”). 
 
2. Agency has obtained, or will obtain, all authorizations, permits and approvals from all local, 

state and federal agencies (including Agency), and their respective governing bodies and 
regulatory agencies, necessary to proceed with the Project and to appropriate all funds 
necessary to construct the Project. 

 
3. Agency acknowledges that: (i) by entering into this Agreement, CSXT will provide services 

and accommodations to promote public interest in this Project, without profit or other 
economic inducement typical of other Agency contractors; (ii) neither CSXT nor its affiliates 
(including their respective directors, officers, employees or agents) will incur any costs, 
expenses, losses or liabilities in excess of payments made to CSXT, by or on behalf of Agency 
or its contractors, pursuant to this Agreement; and (iii) CSXT retains the paramount right to 
regulate all activities affecting its property and operations. 

 
4. It is the purpose of this Agreement to provide for the terms and conditions upon which the 

Project may proceed. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Explanatory Statement and other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by the 
parties, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 
1. Project Plans and Specifications 
 

1.1 Preparation and Approval.  Pursuant to Exhibit A of this Agreement, all plans, 
specifications, drawings and other documents necessary or appropriate to the design and 
construction of the Project shall be prepared, at Agency’s sole cost and expense, by 
Agency or CSXT or their respective contractors.  Project plans, specifications and 
drawings prepared by or on behalf of Agency shall be subject, at CSXT’s election, to the 
review and approval of CSXT.  Such plans, specifications and drawings, as prepared or 

- Page 6 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

2 
 

approved by CSXT, are referred to as the “Plans”, and shall be incorporated and deemed 
a part of this Agreement.  Plans prepared or submitted to and approved by CSXT as of 
the date of this Agreement are set forth in Exhibit B to this Agreement. 

 
1.2 Effect of CSXT Approval or Preparation of Plans. By its review, approval or preparation 

of Plans pursuant to this Agreement, CSXT signifies only that such Plans and 
improvements constructed in accordance with such Plans satisfy CSXT’s requirements. 
CSXT expressly disclaims all other representations and warranties in connection with the 
Plans, including, but not limited to, the integrity, suitability or fitness for the purposes of 
Agency or any other persons of the Plans or improvements constructed in accordance 
with the Plans. 

 
1.3 Compliance with Plans.  The Project shall be constructed in accordance with the Plans. 

 
2. Allocation and Conduct of Work 
 

Work in connection with the Project shall be allocated and conducted as follows: 
 

 2.1 CSXT Work.  Subject to timely payment of Reimbursable Expenses as provided by 
Section 4, CSXT shall provide, or cause to be provided, the services as set forth by 
Exhibit A to this Agreement.  Agency agrees that CSXT shall provide all services that 
CSXT deems necessary or appropriate (whether or not specified by Exhibit A) to 
preserve and maintain its property and operations, without impairment or exposure to 
liability of any kind and in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local 
regulations and CSXT’s contractual obligations, including, but not limited to, CSXT’s 
existing or proposed third party agreements and collective bargaining agreements. 

 
2.2 Agency Work.  Agency shall perform, or cause to be performed, all work as set forth by 

Exhibit A, at Agency’s sole cost and expense. 
 

2.3 Conduct of Work.  CSXT shall commence its work under this Agreement following: (i) 
delivery to CSXT of a notice to proceed from Agency; (ii) payment of Reimbursable 
Expenses (as provided by Section 4.1) as required by CSXT prior to the commencement 
of work by CSXT; (iii) issuance of all permits, approvals and authorizations necessary 
or appropriate for such work; and (iv) delivery of proof of insurance acceptable to CSXT, 
as required by Section 9.  The initiation of any services by CSXT pursuant to this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the issuance of purchase orders or bids for 
materials or services, shall constitute commencement of work for the purposes of this 
Section.  The parties intend that all work by CSXT or on CSXT property shall conclude 
no later than 12 (twelve) months from the date of agreement, unless the parties 
mutually agree to extend such date. 

 

- Page 7 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

3 
 

3. Special Provisions.  Agency shall observe and abide by, and shall require its contractors 
(“Contractors”) to observe and abide by the terms, conditions and provisions set forth in 
Exhibit C to this Agreement (the “Special Provisions”).  To the extent that Agency performs 
Project work itself, Agency shall be deemed a Contractor for purposes of this Agreement.  
Agency further agrees that, prior to the commencement of Project work by any third party 
Contractor, such Contractor shall execute and deliver to CSXT Schedule I to this Agreement 
to acknowledge Contractor’s agreement to observe and abide by the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement. 

 
4. Cost of Project and Reimbursement Procedures 
 

4.1 Reimbursable Expenses.  Agency shall reimburse CSXT for all costs and expenses 
incurred by CSXT in connection with the Project, including, without limitation: (1) all 
out of pocket expenses, (2) travel and lodging expenses, (3) telephone, facsimile, and 
mailing expenses, (4) costs for equipment, tools, materials and supplies, (5) sums paid to 
CSXT’s consultants and subcontractors, and (6) CSXT labor in connection with the 
Project, together with CSXT labor overhead percentages established by CSXT pursuant 
to applicable law (collectively, “Reimbursable Expenses”). Reimbursable Expenses 
shall also include expenses incurred by CSXT prior to the date of this Agreement to the 
extent identified by the Estimate provided pursuant to Section 4.2. 

 
4.2 Estimate.  CSXT has estimated the total Reimbursable Expenses for the Project as shown 

on Exhibit D (the “Estimate”, as amended or revised).  In the event CSXT anticipates 
that actual Reimbursable Expenses for the Project may exceed such Estimate, it shall 
provide Agency with the revised Estimate of the total Reimbursable Expenses, together 
with a revised Payment Schedule (as defined by Section 4.3.1), for Agency’s approval 
and confirmation that sufficient funds have been appropriated to cover the total 
Reimbursable Expenses of such revised Estimate.  CSXT may elect, by delivery of notice 
to Agency, to immediately cease all further work on the Project, unless and until Agency 
provides such approval and confirmation. 

 
4.3 Payment Terms. 

 
4.3.1 Agency shall pay CSXT for Reimbursable Expenses in the amounts and on the 

dates set forth in the Payment Schedule as shown on Exhibit E (the “Payment 
Schedule”, as revised pursuant to Section 4.2).  CSXT agrees to submit invoices to 
Agency for such amounts and Agency shall remit payment to CSXT at the later of 
thirty (30) days following delivery of each such invoice to Agency or, the payment 
date (if any) set forth in the Payment Schedule. 

 
4.3.2 Following completion of the Project, CSXT shall submit to Agency a final invoice 

that reconciles the total Reimbursable Expenses incurred by CSXT against the total 
payments received from Agency.  Agency shall pay to CSXT the amount by which 

- Page 8 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

4 
 

Reimbursable Expenses exceed total payments as shown by the final invoice, 
within thirty (30) days following delivery of such invoice to Agency.  In the event 
that the payments received by CSXT from Agency exceed the Reimbursable 
Expenses, CSXT shall remit such excess to Agency. 

 
4.3.3 In the event that Agency fails to pay CSXT any sums due CSXT under this 

Agreement: (i) Agency shall pay CSXT interest at the lesser of 1.0% per month or 
the maximum rate of interest permitted by applicable law on the delinquent amount 
until paid in full; and (ii) CSXT may elect, by delivery of notice to Agency: (A) to 
immediately cease all further work on the Project, unless and until Agency pays the 
entire delinquent sum, together with accrued interest; and/or (B) to terminate this 
Agreement. 

 
4.3.4 All invoices from CSXT shall be delivered to Agency in accordance with Section 

16 of this Agreement.  All payments by Agency to CSXT shall be made by certified 
check and mailed to the following address or such other address as designated by 
CSXT’s notice to Agency: 

 
CSX Transportation, Inc. 

P.O. Box 530192 
Atlanta, GA 30353-0192 

 
4.4 Effect of Termination.  Agency’s obligation to pay to CSXT Reimbursable Expenses in 

accordance with Section 4 shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason. 
 

5. Appropriations Agency represents to CSXT that: (i) Agency has appropriated funds sufficient 
to reimburse CSXT for the Reimbursable Expenses encompassed by the Estimate attached as 
Exhibit D; (ii) Agency shall use its best efforts to obtain appropriations necessary to cover 
Reimbursable Expenses encompassed by subsequent Estimates approved by Agency; and (iii) 
Agency shall promptly notify CSXT in the event that Agency is unable to obtain such 
appropriations. 

 
6. Easements and Licenses 

 
6.1 Agency Obligation.  Agency shall acquire all necessary licenses, permits and easements 

required for the Project. 
 

6.2 Temporary Construction Licenses.  Insofar as it has the right to do so, CSXT hereby 
grants Agency a nonexclusive license to access and cross CSXT’s property, to the extent 
necessary for the construction of the Project (excluding ingress or egress over public 
grade crossings), along such routes and upon such terms as may be defined and imposed 
by Railroad and as may be designated on the Plans approved by CSXT. 

 

- Page 9 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

5 
 

6.3 Temporary Construction Easements.  CSX may grant without warranty to Agency if 
required temporary non-exclusive easement for access to the extent necessary for the 
project on terms and conditions, and at a price acceptable to the parties. 

 
6.4 Maintenance Agreement. Contemporaneous with the execution of this Agreement, 

CSXT and Agency have executed that certain Maintenance Agreement providing for 
Agency’s ongoing use maintenance, repair, renewal and removal of the Project. 

 
6.5 Permanent Easements.  Insofar as it has the right to do so, CSXT shall grant, without 

warranty to Agency, easements for the use and maintenance (in accordance with the 
provisions of the Maintenance Agreement described in 6.4) of the Project wholly or 
partly on CSXT property as shown on the Plans approved by CSXT, if any, on terms 
and conditions and at a price acceptable to both parties.  Upon request by CSXT, 
Agency shall furnish to CSXT descriptions and plat plans for the easements. 

 
7. Permits. At its sole cost and expense, Agency shall procure all permits and approvals required 

by any federal, state, or local governments or governmental agencies for the construction, 
maintenance and use of the Project, copies of which shall be provided to CSXT. 

 
8. Termination 
 

8.1 By Agency.  For any reason, Agency may, as its sole remedy, terminate this Agreement 
by delivery of notice to CSXT.  Agency shall not be entitled to otherwise pursue claims 
for consequential, direct, indirect or incidental damages or lost profits as a consequence 
of CSXT’s default or termination of this Agreement or Work on the Project by either 
party. 

 
8.2 By CSXT.  In addition to the other rights and remedies available to CSXT under this 

Agreement, CSXT may terminate this Agreement by delivery of notice to Agency in the 
event Agency or its Contractors fail to observe the terms or conditions of this Agreement 
and such failure continues more than ten (10) business days following delivery of notice 
of such failure by CSXT to Agency. 

 
8.3 Consequences of Termination.  If the Agreement is terminated by either party pursuant 

to this Section or any other provision of this Agreement, the parties understand that it 
may be impractical for them to immediately stop the Work.  Accordingly, they agree that, 
in such instance a party may continue to perform Work until it has reached a point where 
it may reasonably and safely suspend the Work.  Agency shall reimburse CSXT pursuant 
to this Agreement for the Work performed, plus all costs reasonably incurred by CSXT 
to discontinue the Work and protect the Work upon full suspension of the same, the cost 
of returning CSXT’s property to its former condition, and all other costs of CSXT 
incurred as a result of the Project up to the time of full suspension of the Work.  
Termination of this Agreement or Work on the Project, for any reason, shall not diminish 

- Page 10 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

6 
 

or reduce Agency’s obligation to pay CSXT for Reimbursable Expenses incurred in 
accordance with this Agreement.  In the event of the termination of this Agreement or 
the Work for any reason, CSXT’s only remaining obligation to Agency shall be to refund 
to Agency payments made to CSXT in excess of Reimbursable Expenses in accordance 
with Section 4. 

 
9. Insurance. In addition to the insurance that Agency requires of its Contractor, Agency shall 

acquire or require its Contractor to purchase and maintain insurance in compliance with 
CSXT’s insurance requirements attached to this Agreement as Exhibit F.  Neither Agency nor 
Contractor shall commence work on the Project until such policy or policies have been 
submitted to and approved by CSXT’s Risk Management Department. 

 
10. Ownership and Maintenance. 
 

10.1 By Agency. Agency shall maintain and repair, at its sole cost and expense, all parts 
comprising the permanent aspects of the Project, as shown by the Plans, consisting of 
roadway pavement up to the outer ends of the railroad cross ties, sidewalks, guardrails, 
and curbs, in good and safe condition to CSXT’s satisfaction.  In the event Agency fails 
to do so after reasonable notice from CSXT (unless an emergency condition exists or is 
imminent in the opinion of CSXT that requires immediate action), CSXT may perform 
such maintenance and repair, at Agency’s sole cost and expense.  

 
Agency shall own, maintain and repair, at its sole cost and expense, all parts comprising 
the permanent aspects of the Project, as shown by the Plans.  In the event Agency fails 
to do so after reasonable notice from CSXT (no more than thirty (30) days, unless an 
emergency condition exists or is imminent in the opinion of CSXT, that requires 
immediate action), CSXT may perform such maintenance and repair, at Agency’s sole 
cost and expense. Upon the cessation of use of the Project by Agency, Agency shall 
remove the structure and restore CSXT’s property to its original condition, at Agency’s 
sole cost and expense, to CSXT’s satisfaction. 

 
10.2 By CSXT.  CSXT shall maintain and repair the crossing surface between the ends of its 

cross ties and its signal facilities at the crossing, at Agency’s sole cost and expense.   
 

10.3 Alterations. Agency shall not undertake any alteration, modification or expansion of the 
Project, without the prior written approval of CSXT, which may be withheld for any 
reason, and the execution of such agreements as CSXT may require.  CSXT may 
undertake alterations of its property, track or facilities and shall be reimbursed by Agency 
for the expenses incurred by CSXT with respect to the removal and restoration of the 
crossing in connections with such alteration. 

 

- Page 11 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

7 
 

Agency shall not undertake any alteration, modification or expansion of the Project, 
without the prior approval of CSXT, which may be withheld for any reason, and the 
execution of such agreements as CSXT may require. 

 
11. Indemnification 

 
11.1 Generally.  To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, Agency and its 

Contractors shall indemnify, defend, and hold CSXT and its affiliates harmless from and 
against all claims, demands, payments, suits, actions, judgments, settlements, and 
damages of every nature, degree, and kind (including direct, indirect, consequential, 
incidental, and punitive damages), for any injury to or death to any person(s) (including, 
but not limited to the employees of CSXT, its affiliates, Agency or its Contractors), for 
the loss of or damage to any property whatsoever (including but not limited to property 
owned by or in the care, custody, or control of CSXT, its affiliates, Agency or its 
Contractors, and environmental damages and any related remediation brought or 
recovered against CSXT and its affiliates), arising directly or indirectly from the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractors, Agency, 
and their respective agents, employees, invitees, contractors, or its contractors’ agents, 
employees or invitees in the performance of work in connection with the Project or 
activities incidental thereto, or from their presence on or about CSXT’s property.  The 
foregoing indemnification obligation shall not be limited to the insurance coverage 
required by this Agreement, except to the extent required by law or otherwise expressly 
provided by this Agreement. 

 
11.2 Compliance with Laws.  Agency shall comply, and shall require its Contractors to 

comply, with any federal, state, or local laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, rules, and 
regulations applicable to its construction and maintenance of the Project.  Agency’s 
Contractors shall indemnify, defend, and hold CSXT and its affiliates harmless with 
respect to any fines, penalties, liabilities, or other consequences arising from breaches of 
this Section. 

 
11.3 “CSXT Affiliates”.  For the purpose of this Section 11, CSXT’s affiliates include CSX 

Corporation and all entities, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by or under 
common control of CSXT or CSX Corporation and their respective officers, directors, 
employees and agents.  

 
11.4 Notice of Incidents.  Agency and its Contractor shall notify CSXT promptly of any loss, 

damage, injury or death arising out of or in connection with the Project work. 
 

11.5 Survival.  The provisions of this Section 11 shall survive the termination or expiration of 
this Agreement. 

 

- Page 12 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

8 
 

12. Independent Contractor. The parties agree that neither Agency nor its Contractors shall be 
deemed either agents or independent contractors of CSXT.  Except as otherwise provided by 
this Agreement, CSXT shall exercise no control whatsoever over the employment, discharge, 
compensation of, or services rendered by Agency or Agency’s Contractors, or the construction 
practices, procedures, and professional judgment employed by Agency or its Contractor to 
complete the Project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 12 shall in no way affect 
the absolute authority of CSXT to prohibit Agency or its Contractors or anyone from entering 
CSXT’s property, or to require the removal of any person from its property, if it determines, 
in its sole discretion, that such person is not acting in a safe manner or that actual or potential 
hazards in, on or about the Project exist.  

 
13. “Entire Agreement”  This Agreement embodies the entire understanding of the parties, may 

not be waived or modified except in a writing signed by authorized representatives of both 
parties, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous written or oral understandings, 
agreements or negotiations regarding its subject matter.  In the event of any inconsistency 
between this Agreement and the Exhibits, the more specific terms of the Exhibits shall be 
deemed controlling. 

 
14. Waiver. If either party fails to enforce its respective rights under this Agreement, or fails to 

insist upon the performance of the other party’s obligations hereunder, such failure shall not 
be construed as a permanent waiver of any rights or obligations in this Agreement. 

 
15. Assignment. CSXT may assign this Agreement and all rights and obligations herein to a 

successor in interest, parent company, affiliate, or future affiliate.  Upon assignment of this 
Agreement by CSXT and the assumption of CSXT’s assignee of CSXT’s obligations under 
this Agreement, CSXT shall have no further obligation under this Agreement.  Agency shall 
not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without CSXT’s prior consent, which 
consent may be withheld for any reason. 

 
16. Notices.  All notices, consents and approvals required or permitted by this Agreement shall be 

in writing and shall be deemed delivered upon personal delivery, upon the expiration of three 
(3) days following mailing by first class U.S. mail, or upon the next business day following 
mailing by a nationally recognized overnight carrier, to the parties at the addresses set forth 
below, or such other addresses as either party may designate by delivery of prior notice to the 
other party: 

 
If to CSXT:   CSX Transportation, Inc.    
    4900 Old Osborne Tpke., Suite 200 
    Richmond, VA  23231 
    Attn: Michael Liebelt, Project Manager II-Public Projects 
 

    
 

- Page 13 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

9 
 

If to Agency:   Town of Apex 
     P.O. Box 250 
     73 Hunter Street 
     Apex, NC 27502 
     Attn: Adam Stephenson, Transportation Engineering Manager 

 
17. Severability.  The parties agree that if any part, term or provision of this Agreement is held to 

be illegal, unenforceable or in conflict with any applicable federal, state, or local law or 
regulation, such part, term or provision shall be severable, with the remainder of the Agreement 
remaining valid and enforceable. 

 
18. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North 

Carolina, exclusive of its choice of law rules.  The parties further agree that the venue of all 
legal and equitable proceedings related to disputes under this Agreement shall be situated in 
Wake County, North Carolina, and the parties agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of 
any State or Federal court situated in Wake County, North Carolina. 

 
 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
  

- Page 14 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 

10 

BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, I certify that there have been no changes made to the 
content of this Agreement since its approval by the CSXT Legal Department on September 19, 
2023. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in duplicate, 
each by its duly authorized officers, as of the date of this Agreement. 

TOWN OF APEX 

By: 

Name:  Shawn Purvis 

Title:  Deputy Town Manager 

Attest:  _________________________ 
Allen  L.  Coleman, Town Clerk 

This instrument has been preaudited in the manner 
required by the Local Government Budget and 
Fiscal Control Act. 

________________________________ 
Finance Director 

CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. 

By: 

Print Name: Michael Liebelt  

Title: Public Projects Manager 

- Page 15 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

A-1 

 
EXHIBIT A 

ALLOCATION OF WORK 
 

 
Subject to Section 2.1, work to be performed in connection with the Project is allocated as follows: 
 

A. Agency shall let by contract to its Contractors: 
 

1. Construction of a 5’ wide sidewalk that will taper down to 4’ to cross 
the tracks over the existing crossing surface and will include revision of 
storm drainage inlet pipes from the railroad ditch line to the City’s storm 
sewer system 

 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 16 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
 
Plans, Specifications and Drawings: 
 
 As of the date of this Agreement, the following plans, specifications and drawings have 
been submitted by Agency to CSXT for its review and approval: 
 
 [IDENTIFY PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS BY DATE, PREPARER, TITLE, 
PROJECT NUMBER, ETC.] 
 
 
 
 
SHEET DESCRIPTION PREPARER DATE   
1 of 1 Hunter Street Sidewalk – Sheet 1 Town of Apex 9/15/21 
1 of 1 10-plan-L5 Town of Apex 10/25/22 
 
  
 
NOTE: In the event subsequent plan submissions are made by Agency to CSXT for 
review and approval, once approved, said plans shall be considered to be incorporated into 
this Exhibit B as of the date of CSXT's written approval. 
 

- Page 17 -



INV 15" 501.4
INV OUT 500.8

18"RCP

24
"R

C
P

TBC 502.1

INV 498.9

30
"R

C
P

18"RCP

INV 499.50

30
"R

C
P

15"RCP

12
" D

IP

16" DIP

6" DIP

16" DIP

0+19
1+00

2+002+56

HUNTER ST

N
 SALEM

 ST

AM
BE

R
G

AT
E 

ST
AT

IO
N

JB7
TOP 503.10
 INV  496.40

CB 4A
TOP 502.15
INV  499.20

CB 4B
TOP 502.37
INV  495.70

4' @15" RCP
TIE TO EXISTING
INV. OUT: 502.30

MASONRY JUNCTION BOX
W/ 4" MANHOLE FRAME & COVER
INV. IN: 502.40
INV. OUT: 502.30

Feet

40200

4' @15" RCP W/ FES
INV.: 502.50

GRADING LIMIT

8' @15" RCP W/ FES
TIE TO EXISTING CB

INV.: 502.50

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
5' WIDTH, 4" DEPTH TYPICAL

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
5' WIDTH, 6" DEPTH AT DRIVEWAY

CONCRETE PANEL BEHIND SIDEWALK
2' WIDTH, 6" DEPTH

N
O

R
T H  CA RO L

I N
A

APEX
1873

TOWN OF APEX
PUBLIC WORKS & TRANSPORTATION

ENGINEERING DIVISION
73 HUNTER STREET

APEX, NC 27502
919-249-3417

PROJECT REFERENCE NO. SHEET NO.

PRELIMINARY
DO NOT USE

FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Feet
0 20 40

Se
pt

em
be

r 1
5,

 2
02

1

- Page 18 -

AutoCAD SHX Text
JB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
27917



W

W

W

EXISTING 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK

EXISTING 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK

EXISTING 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK

INV 15" 501.4

INV OUT 500.818"RCP

24
"R

CP

TBC 502.1

INV 498.9

30
"R

CP

18"RCP

INV 499.50

30
"R

CP

CB 4A
TOP 502.15

 INV  499.20
W

W
W W W W

W

6'
 C

HA
IN

 LI
NK

 F
EN

CE
 3

 S
TR

AN
D 

BA
RB

ED
 W

IR
E

12
" D

IP

16" DIP

 INV 502.17 JB7
TOP 503.10

 INV  496.40

15"RCP

6" DIP

16" DIP

CSX TRANSPORTATION

PIN: 0742428513

DB: 001000 PG: 00001

USE: MANUF

HUNTER STREET

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
ST

AT
IO

N

N
 S

AL
EM

 S
TR

EE
T

DS1

12'x15" @ 9.2%
Pipe1

12'x15" @ -4.2%
Pipe2

2.
5' 2.
5'

2'

4'
4'

4'

-L
6-

 -0
+0

0

-L
6-

 1
+0

0

-L
6-

 2
+0

0

-L
5-

 1
3+

60

-L5- 10+00

-L5- 11+00

-L5- 12+00 -L5- 13+00

495
500
505
510
515
520

490
495
500
505
510
515
520

10+80 11+00 11+50 12+00 12+50 13+00 13+50 13+64

-1.3% -0.7%
-366.5%

-0.7% -1.5% 1.2% -1.1% -1.3%-0.1%

10

N
O

R
T H  CA ROL

I N
A

APEX
1873

TOWN OF APEX
TRANSPORTATION &

INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT
105-B UPCHURCH ST

APEX, NC 27502
919-249-3417

PROJECT REFERENCE NO. SHEET NO.

Feet
0 30 60

BL-0046

M
AT

CH
LI

N
E 

ST
AT

IO
N

 9
+2

5

RXR SIGN TO REMAIN

CURB RAMP, TYPE 3 MOD.

CURB RAMP (TYP.)

EXISTING CSX RAILROAD
CROSSING SURFACE

· INSTALL ASPHALT WITHIN 4' OF OUTSIDE RAIL
4' WIDTH MINIMUM

· MAINTAIN 2' OFFSET FROM END OF CROSSING
SURFACE TO OUTSIDE OF SIDEWALK

MAINTAIN 2.5' OFFSET FROM CENTER
OF CANTILEVER MAST & GATE MAST

10/25/2022 9:10:13 AM
- Page 19 -

AutoCAD SHX Text
JB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JB

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
27917



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-1 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

CSXT SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
 

 
DEFINITIONS: 
 
As used in these Special Provisions, all capitalized terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
by the Agreement, and the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below: 
 
“CSXT” shall mean CSX Transportation, Inc., its successors and assigns. 
 
“CSXT Representative” shall mean the authorized representative of CSX Transportation, Inc. 
 
"Agreement" shall mean the Agreement to which this Exhibit C is made a part thereof and as may 
be amended from time to time. 
 
“Agency” shall mean the TOWN OF APEX. 
 
“Agency Representative” shall mean the authorized representative of the TOWN OF APEX. 
 
“Contractor” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term by the Agreement. 
 
“Work” shall mean the Project as described in the Agreement. 
 
I. AUTHORITY OF CSXT ENGINEER 
 
The CSXT Representative shall have final authority in all matters affecting the safe maintenance 
of CSXT operations and CSXT property, and his or her approval shall be obtained by the Agency 
or its Contractor for methods of construction to avoid interference with CSXT operations and 
CSXT property and all other matters contemplated by the Agreement and these Special Provisions. 
 
II. INTERFERENCE WITH CSXT OPERATIONS 

A. Agency or its Contractor shall arrange and conduct its work so that there will be no 
interference with CSXT operations, including train, signal, telephone and 
telegraphic services, or damage to CSXT’s property, or to poles, wires, and other 
facilities of tenants on CSXT’s Property or right-of-way.  Agency or its Contractor 
shall store materials so as to prevent trespassers from causing damage to trains, or 
CSXT Property. Whenever Work is likely to affect the operations or safety of trains, 
the method of doing such Work shall first be submitted to the CSXT Representative 
for approval, but such approval shall not relieve Agency or its Contractor from 
liability in connection with such Work. 

- Page 20 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-2 
 

 
B. If conditions arising from or in connection with the Project require that immediate 

and unusual provisions be made to protect train operation or CSXT’s property, 
Agency or its Contractor shall make such provision.  If the CSXT Representative 
determines that such provision is insufficient, CSXT may, at the expense of Agency 
or its Contractor, require or provide such provision as may be deemed necessary, 
or cause the Work to cease immediately. 

 
III. NOTICE OF STARTING WORK.  Agency or its Contractor shall not commence any work 

on CSXT Property or rights-of-way until it has complied with the following conditions: 
 

A. Notify CSXT in writing of the date that it intends to commence Work on the Project. 
Such notice must be received by CSXT at least ten business days in advance of the 
date Agency or its Contractor proposes to begin Work on CSXT property.  The 
notice must refer to this Agreement by date.  If flagging service is required, such 
notice shall be submitted at least thirty (30) business days in advance of the date 
scheduled to commence the Work.  

 
B. Obtain authorization from the CSXT Representative to begin Work on CSXT 

property, such authorization to include an outline of specific conditions with which 
it must comply.  

 
C. Obtain from CSXT the names, addresses and telephone numbers of CSXT’s 

personnel who must receive notice under provisions in the Agreement.  Where more 
than one individual is designated, the area of responsibility of each shall be 
specified. 

 
IV. WORK FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CONTRACTOR 

A. No temporary or permanent changes to wire lines or other facilities (other than third 
party fiber optic cable transmission systems) on CSXT property that are considered 
necessary to the Work are anticipated or shown on the Plans.  If any such changes 
are, or become, necessary in the opinion of CSXT or Agency, such changes will be 
covered by appropriate revisions to the Plans and by preparation of a force account 
estimate.  Such force account estimate may be initiated by either CSXT or Agency, 
but must be approved by both CSXT and Agency.  Agency or Contractor shall be 
responsible for arranging for the relocation of the third party fiber optic cable 
transmission systems, at no cost or expense to CSXT. 

 
B. Should Agency or Contractor desire any changes in addition to the above, then it 

shall make separate arrangements with CSXT for such changes to be accomplished 
at the Agency or Contractor’s expense. 

 

- Page 21 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-3 
 

V. HAUL ACROSS RAILROAD 
 

A. If Agency or Contractor desires access across CSXT property or tracks at other than 
an existing and open public road crossing in or incident to construction of the 
Project, the Agency or Contractor must first obtain the permission of CSXT and 
shall execute a license agreement or right of entry satisfactory to CSXT, wherein 
Agency or Contractor agrees to bear all costs and liabilities related to such access. 

 
B. Agency and Contractor shall not cross CSXT’s property and tracks with vehicles 

or equipment of any kind or character, except at such crossing or crossings as may 
be permitted pursuant to this section. 

 
VI. COOPERATION AND DELAYS 

A. Agency or Contractor shall arrange a schedule with CSXT for accomplishing stage 
construction involving work by CSXT.  In arranging its schedule, Agency or 
Contractor shall ascertain, from CSXT, the lead time required for assembling crews 
and materials and shall make due allowance therefore. 

 
B. Agency or Contractor may not charge any costs or submit any claims against CSXT 

for hindrance or delay caused by railroad traffic; work done by CSXT or other delay 
incident to or necessary for safe maintenance of railroad traffic; or for any delays 
due to compliance with these Special Provisions. 

 
C. Agency and Contractor shall cooperate with others participating in the construction 

of the Project to the end that all work may be carried on to the best advantage. 
 

D. Agency and Contractor understand and agree that CSXT does not assume any 
responsibility for work performed by others in connection the Project. Agency and 
Contractor further understand and agree that they shall have no claim whatsoever 
against CSXT for any inconvenience, delay or additional cost incurred by Agency 
or Contractor on account of operations by others. 

 
VII. STORAGE OF MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 

Agency and Contractor shall not store their materials or equipment on CSXT’s property or 
where they may potentially interfere with CSXT’s operations, unless Agency or Contractor 
has received CSXT Representative’s prior written permission.  Agency and Contractor 
understand and agree that CSXT will not be liable for any damage to such materials and 
equipment from any cause and that CSXT may move, or require Agency or Contractor to 
move, such material and equipment at Agency’s or Contractor’s sole expense.  To 
minimize the possibility of damage to the railroad tracks resulting from the unauthorized 
use of equipment, all grading or other construction equipment that is left parked near the 

- Page 22 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-4 
 

tracks unattended by watchmen shall be immobilized to the extent feasible so that it cannot 
be moved by unauthorized persons.   

 
VIII. CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES 

A. General 
 

1. Construction work on CSXT property shall be subject to CSXT’s inspection 
and approval. 

2. Construction work on CSXT property shall be in accord with CSXT’s 
written outline of specific conditions and with these Special Provisions. 

3. Contractor shall observe the terms and rules of the CSXT Safe Way manual, 
which Agency and Contractor shall be required to obtain from CSXT, and 
in accord with any other instructions furnished by CSXT or CSXT’s 
Representative.  

 
B. Blasting 

 
1. Agency or Contractor shall obtain CSXT Representative’s and Agency 

Representative’s prior written approval for use of explosives on or adjacent 
to CSXT property.  If permission for use of explosives is granted, Agency 
or Contractor must comply with the following: 

 
a. Blasting shall be done with light charges under the direct 

supervision of a responsible officer or employee of Agency or 
Contractor. 

 
b. Electric detonating fuses shall not be used because of the possibility 

of premature explosions resulting from operation of two-way train 
radios. 

 
c. No blasting shall be done without the presence of an authorized 

representative of CSXT.  At least 10 days’ advance notice to CSXT 
Representative is required to arrange for the presence of an 
authorized CSXT representative and any flagging that CSXT may 
require. 

 
d. Agency or Contractor must have at the Project site adequate 

equipment, labor and materials, and allow sufficient time, to (i) 
clean up (at Agency’s expense) debris resulting from the blasting 
without any delay to trains; and (ii) correct (at Agency’s expense) 
any track misalignment or other damage to CSXT’s property 
resulting from the blasting, as directed by CSXT Representative, 

- Page 23 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-5 
 

without delay to trains. If Agency’s or Contractor’s actions result in 
delay of any trains, including Amtrak passenger trains, Agency shall 
bear the entire cost thereof. 

 
e. Agency and Contractor shall not store explosives on CSXT 

property. 
 

2. CSXT Representative will: 
 

a. Determine the approximate location of trains and advise Agency or 
Contractor of the approximate amount of time available for the 
blasting operation and clean-up. 

 
b. Have the authority to order discontinuance of blasting if, in his or 

her opinion, blasting is too hazardous or is not in accord with these 
Special Provisions. 

 
IX. MAINTENANCE OF DITCHES ADJACENT TO CSXT TRACKS 
 

Agency or Contractor shall maintain all ditches and drainage structures free of silt or other 
obstructions that may result from their operations. Agency or Contractor shall provide 
erosion control measures during construction and use methods that accord with applicable 
state standard specifications for road and bridge construction, including either  (1) silt 
fence; (2) hay or straw barrier; (3) berm or temporary ditches; (4) sediment basin; (5) 
aggregate checks; and (6) channel lining.  All such maintenance and repair of damages due 
to Agency’s or Contractor’s operations shall be performed at Agency’s expense. 

 
X. FLAGGING / INSPECTION SERVICE 
 

A. CSXT has sole authority to determine the need for flagging required to protect its 
operations and property.  In general, flagging protection will be required whenever 
Agency or Contractor or their equipment are, or are likely to be, working within 
fifty (50) feet of live track or other track clearances specified by CSXT, or over 
tracks. 

 
B. Agency shall reimburse CSXT directly for all costs of flagging that is required on 

account of construction within CSXT property shown in the Plans, or that is 
covered by an approved plan revision, supplemental agreement or change order.  

 
C. Agency or Contractor shall give a minimum of 10 days’ advance notice to CSXT 

Representative for anticipated need for flagging service.  No work shall be 
undertaken until the flag person(s) is/are at the job site.  If it is necessary for CSXT 
to advertise a flagging job for bid, it may take up to 90-days to obtain this service, 

- Page 24 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

C-6 
 

and CSXT shall not be liable for the cost of delays attributable to obtaining such 
service. 

 
D. CSXT shall have the right to assign an individual to the site of the Project to perform 

inspection service whenever, in the opinion of CSXT Representative, such 
inspection may be necessary. Agency shall reimburse CSXT for the costs incurred 
by CSXT for such inspection service.  Inspection service shall not relieve Agency 
or Contractor from liability for its Work. 

 
E. CSXT shall render invoices for, and Agency shall pay for, the actual pay rate of the 

flagpersons and inspectors used, plus standard additives, whether that amount is 
above or below the rate provided in the Estimate. If the rate of pay that is to be used 
for inspector or flagging service is changed before the work is started or during the 
progress of the work, whether by law or agreement between CSXT and its 
employees, or if the tax rates on labor are changed, bills will be rendered by CSXT 
and paid by Agency using the new rates.  Agency and Contractor shall perform 
their operations that require flagging protection or inspection service in such a 
manner and sequence that the cost of such will be as economical as possible. 

 
XI.  UTILITY FACILITIES ON CSXT PROPERTY 
 

Agency shall arrange, upon approval from CSXT, to have any utility facilities on or over 
CSXT Property changed as may be necessary to provide clearances for the proposed 
trackage.   

 
XII. CLEAN-UP 
 

Agency or Contractor, upon completion of the Project, shall remove from CSXT’s Property 
any temporary grade crossings, any temporary erosion control measures used to control 
drainage, all machinery, equipment, surplus materials, falsework, rubbish, or temporary 
buildings belonging to Agency or Contractor.  Agency or Contractor, upon completion of 
the Project, shall leave CSXT Property in neat condition, satisfactory to CSXT 
Representative. 

 
XIII. FAILURE TO COMPLY 

If Agency or Contractor violate or fail to comply with any of the requirements of these 
Special Provisions, (a) CSXT may require Agency and/or Contractor to vacate CSXT 
Property; and (b) CSXT may withhold monies due Agency and/or Contractor; (c) CSXT 
may require Agency to withhold monies due Contractor; and (d) CSXT may cure such 
failure and the Agency shall reimburse CSXT for the cost of curing such failure. 

 

- Page 25 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

D-1 
 

EXHIBIT D 
 

INITIAL ESTIMATE ATTACHED 
 

- Page 26 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

D-1 
 

    ACCT. CODE : 709 - NC1055 Form Revision

45037

ESTIMATE SUBJECT TO REVISION AFTER: 9/19/2024 DOT NO.: 845902P
CITY: COUNTY: Wake STATE: NC

ZONE: Carolinas SUB-DIV: 0 MILE POST: SDS 20.58
AGENCY PROJECT NUMBER: 0

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING:

212 Contracted & Administrative Engineering Services 0

Subtotal 0

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING/INSPECTION:

212 Contracted & Administrative Engineering Services 14000

Subtotal 14000

FLAGGING SERVICE: (Contract Labor)

70 Labor (Conductor-Flagman) 0 Days @ 350.00$  0

50 Labor (Foreman/Inspector) 5 Days @ 504.00$  2520

70 Additive 182.00%  (Transportation Department) 0
50 Additive 223.00%  (Engineering Department) 5620

Subtotal 8140

SIGNAL & COMMUNICATIONS WORK: 0

TRACK WORK: 0

PROJECT SUBTOTAL: 22140
900 CONTINGENCIES: 10.00% 2214

PROJECT TOTAL: ***************************************************** 24354

CURRENT AUTHORIZED BUDGET: ***************************************************** 0

TOTAL SUPPLEMENT REQUESTED: ***************************************************** 24354

DIVISION OF COST:

Agency 100.00% 24354

Railroad 0.00% 0

NOTE:  Estimate is based on FULL CROSSING CLOSURE during work by Railroad Forces.

Office of Chief Engineer Public Projects--Jacksonville, Florida

ffatt & Nichol Approved by:M. Liebelt CSXT Public Project Group

DATE: 12/11/22 REVISED: 09/20/23 DATE: 12/14/22

Apex
DESCRIPTION: Hunter Street sidewalk connecting to the existing railroad crossing surface

Estimated prepared by:

This estimate has been prepared based on site conditions, anticipated work duration periods, material prices, labor rates, manpower and resource availability, and other 
factors known as of the date prepared.  The actual cost for CSXT work may differ based upon the agency's requirements, their contractor's work procedures, and/or 
o ther conditions that become apparent once construction commences or during the progress of the work

- Page 27 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

E-1 
 

EXHIBIT E 
 

PAYMENT SCHEDULE 
 

 
Advance  Payment in Full 
 
Upon execution and delivery of notice to proceed with the Project, Agency will deposit with CSXT 
a sum equal to the Reimbursable Expenses, as shown by the Estimate.  If CSXT anticipates that it 
may incur Reimbursable Expenses in excess of the deposited amount, CSXT will request an 
additional deposit equal to the then remaining Reimbursable Expenses which CSXT estimates that 
it will incur.  CSXT shall request such additional deposit by delivery of invoices to Agency.  
Agency shall make such additional deposit within 30 days following delivery of such invoice to 
Agency. 
 

- Page 28 -



1 of 1 
 

 

CSXT Schedule PA 
 

PAYMENT SUBMISSION FORM 
 
 

Project Description: Apex, Wake Co., NC – Hunter St. Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing 
Railroad Crossing Surface – Carolinas Zone, Aberdeen Sub. – DOT #845902P; MP SDS-20.3 
 
CSXT OP#  NC1055 (To be filled in by CSXT) 
 
****************************************************************************** 

Payment may be made via paper check or ACH/EFT payment as detailed below. 
Payment due prior to work commencing. 

 
*********Mail a Check********* 

Mail this form (via USPS only), 
along with your paper check (do not 
send the Agreement) to the following 
address: 
 

CSX Transportation, Inc. 
P.O. Box 530192 

Atlanta, GA 30353-0192 
 

****************************** 

 
 
 
 

OR 

*******ACH/EFT Payment******* 
Submit Payment to: 

 
 

CSXT Govt. Billing 
P.O. Box 530192 

Atlanta, GA 30353-0192 
 

Acct # 1219082172 
ACH ABA# 267084199 

******************************

When submitting payment VIA EITHER CHECK OR ACH/EFT, send a photocopy of the check 
or associated ACH/EFT payment info, along with this form via email/mail to: 
 

Michael Liebelt 
Project Manager II - Public Projects 
4900 Old Osborne Tpke., Suite 200 

Richmond, VA 23231 
Regina_Jeter@csx.com 
Phone# 804-226-7716 

 
****************************************************************************** 

(All information below to be completed by Agency providing Payment) 
 
 Sponsor Name Payment Date Check #  Amount 
 
         $24,354.00 

- Page 29 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

F-2 
 

EXHIBIT F 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

I. Insurance Policies: 
 
Agency and Contractor, if and to the extent that either is performing work on or about 

CSXT’s property, shall procure and maintain the following insurance policies: 
 

1. Commercial General Liability coverage at their sole cost and expense with limits of not 
less than $5,000,000 in combined single limits for bodily injury and/or property 
damage per occurrence, and such policies shall name CSXT as an additional named 
insured. The policy shall include endorsement ISO CG 24 17 evidencing that coverage 
is provided for work within 50 feet of a railroad. If such endorsement is not included, 
railroad protective liability insurance must be provided as described in item 4 below. 

 
2. Statutory Worker’s Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance with limits of not 

less than $1,000,000, which insurance must contain a waiver of subrogation against 
CSXT and its affiliates (if permitted by state law). 

 
3. Commercial automobile liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 

combined single limit for bodily injury and/or property damage per occurrence, and 
such policies shall name CSXT as an additional named insured. The policy shall 
include endorsement ISO CA 20 70 evidencing that coverage is provided for work 
within 50 feet of a railroad. If such endorsement is not included, railroad protective 
liability insurance must be provided as described in item 4 below. 

 
4. Railroad protective liability insurance with limits of not less than $5,000,000 combined 

single limit for bodily injury and/or property damage per occurrence and an aggregate 
annual limit of $10,000,000, which insurance shall satisfy the following additional 
requirements: 

 
a. The Railroad Protective Insurance Policy must be on the ISO/RIMA Form of 

Railroad Protective Insurance - Insurance Services Office (ISO) Form CG 00 35.  
 

b. CSX Transportation must be the named insured on the Railroad Protective 
Insurance Policy.  

 
c. Name and Address of Contractor and Agency must appear on the Declarations 

page.  
 

d. Description of operations must appear on the Declarations page and must match the 
Project description. 

- Page 30 -



Sidewalk Connecting to the Existing Railroad Crossing Surface 
DOT #845902P, Hunter Street 

Apex, Wake County, North Carolina 
MP SDS-20.58 

CSX OP# NC1055 
 

F-2 
 

 
e. Authorized endorsements must include the Pollution Exclusion Amendment - CG 

28 31, unless using form CG 00 35 version 96 and later. 
 
f. Authorized endorsements may include: 

 
  (i). Broad Form Nuclear Exclusion - IL 00 21 
  (ii) 30-day Advance Notice of Non-renewal or cancellation 
  (iii) Required State Cancellation Endorsement 
  (iv) Quick Reference or Index - CL/IL 240 
 

g. Authorized endorsements may not include: 
  

 (i) A Pollution Exclusion Endorsement except CG 28 31 
(ii) A Punitive or Exemplary Damages Exclusion 
(iii) A “Common Policy Conditions” Endorsement 
(iv) Any endorsement that is not named in Section 4 (e) or (f) above. 
(v) Policies that contain any type of deductible 

 
5. All insurance companies must be A. M. Best rated A- and Class VII or better. 
 
6. The CSX OP number or CSX contract number, as applicable, must appear on each 

Declarations page and/or certificates of insurance. 
 

7. Such additional or different insurance as CSXT may require. 
 

II.    Additional Terms 
 

1. Contractor must submit the original Railroad Protective Liability policy, Certificates 
of Insurance and all notices and correspondence regarding the insurance policies to: 

 
Insurance Department 
CSX Transportation, Inc. 
500 Water Street, 14th Floor 
Jacksonville, FL 32202 
Phone: 904-366-3804 
 

OR 
 
insurancedocuments@csx.com and cfontenelle@moffattnichol.com  

 
2. Neither Agency nor Contractor may begin work on the Project until it has received 

CSXT’s written approval of the required insurance. 

- Page 31 -



 

I-1 
 

SCHEDULE I 
 

CONTRACTOR’S ACCEPTANCE 
 

 To and for the benefit of CSX Transportation, Inc. (“CSXT”) and to induce CSXT to permit 
Contractor on or about CSXT’s property for the purposes of performing work in accordance with 
the Agreement dated _______________________, 20___, between the Town of Apex and CSXT, 
Contractor hereby agrees to abide by and perform all applicable terms of the Agreement, including, 
but not limited to Exhibits C and F to the Agreement, and Sections 3, 9 and 11 of the Agreement.   
 
 
      Contractor:  ___________________________ 
       
       By:  ___________________________ 
       Name:  _________________________ 
       Title:  __________________________ 
       Date:  __________________________ 
 
 

 
 
 
\\COR\130459.7 

- Page 32 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Tim Herman, Fire Chief 

Department(s): Fire 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve a Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement between the Town of Cary, Town of 

Morrisville and the Town of Apex, effective from the date of execution until July 1, 2024, and, thereafter shall 

renew automatically on July 1 of each subsequent year for twenty (20) years, for the sharing of equipment, 

and to authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute on behalf of the Town.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

Mutual Aid is a vital component in firefighting and emergency responses. Our neighboring municipalities 

have implemented a shared service strategy among Fire Departments in the event of borrowing an 

apparatus in order to ensure the preservation of life and property across all of our communities.  

 

The Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement outlines the sharing of Fire Engines between the 

Town of Morrisville, Town of Cary and Town of Apex in the event one of the three (3) towns are in a situation 

that requires the borrowing of a fire truck. All Fire Departments agree that the mutual agreement of shared 

equipment will not exceed three (3) weeks, unless agreed on case-by-case basis by all Fire Chiefs.  

 

It is understood and agreed by all three (3) towns that normal wear and tear and damage to the equipment 

is expected and will be at the expense of the Lending Fire Department. Any damage to the equipment 

while in use that is beyond normal wear and tear will be repaired in the manner elected by the Lending Fire 

Department. The cost of the repairs will be reimbursed by the Requesting Fire Department upon receipt of 

an invoice from the Lending Fire Department.  

 

The Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement is effective from date of execution until July 1, 2024, 

and, thereafter should renew automatically on July 1 of each year for twenty (20) years.  

- Page 33 -



 

Attachments 

 CN3-A1: Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement -  Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid 
Agreement - Equipment Sharing - with Town of Cary, Town of Morrisville and Town of Apex 

 

- Page 34 -



FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT 

MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

 

WAKE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA 

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

 THAT, WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute §58-83-1 authorizes municipal 

corporations and fire protection districts to send (or decline to send) firefighters and firefighting 

equipment beyond the response areas that they normally serve (a practice generally known as 

“mutual aid”), provides for retention of rights, privileges and immunities enjoyed by firefighters 

in their response areas when those firefighters respond beyond those response areas, and further 

provides for retention of rights, privileges and immunities of counties, municipal corporations 

and fire protection districts enjoyed by those agencies in their response areas when those 

agencies respond beyond those response areas; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on or about July 1, 2022, the Towns of Cary, Apex, and Morrisville (among 

other parties) entered into a Wake County Fire Protection Mutual Aid Agreement which, unless 

terminated earlier in accordance with its terms, renews automatically each year on July 1st; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Wake County Fire Protection Mutual Aid Agreement outlines the 

agreement between the parties to provide fire protection services to response areas that they 

normally do not serve but does not directly address the need to share Equipment among the 

participating parties; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the Towns of Cary, Apex, and Morrisville, 

municipal corporations within Wake County, to formalize their commitment to the sharing of 

Equipment in the form of a mutual aid agreement (Cary, Apex, and Morrisville may be 

collectively referred to as “Parties” hereinafter); and  

 

WHEREAS, this Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement (hereinafter 

“Agreement”) does not replace, terminate, alter, or in any way modify the Wake County Fire 

Protection Mutual Aid Agreement but will instead operate in addition to it.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein by and 

among the parties hereto, it is hereby agreed as follows: 

 

1. The following definitions are hereby adopted as part of this Agreement: 

 

a. EQUIPMENT means Fire Engines and Rescue trucks and apparatus associated 

with, or necessary for the function of, the vehicles only and does not include 

aerial or other apparatus. 

 

b. FIRE CHIEF means the chief operating officer of a lawfully-organized fire 

department. 

 

- Page 35 -



c. FIRE DEPARTMENT means the municipal government that is a party to this 

Agreement that delivers fire protection services. 

 

d. LENDING FIRE DEPARTMENT means the Fire Department that owns the 

Equipment that is being used by the Requesting Fire Department pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

e. MUTUAL AID RESPONSE is a response of the lending of Equipment and/or 

apparatus of a Fire Department party to this Agreement requested by the Fire 

Chief of a Fire Department party to this Agreement, or the Fire Chief’s designee, 

in command of an emergency response activity, and is in addition to, and does not 

supersede or void any automatic-aid response.    

 

f. REQUESTING FIRE DEPARTMENT means the Fire Department requesting the 

use of another Fire Department’s Equipment. 

 

2. Each Fire Department party to this Agreement agrees as follows: 

 

a. The Fire Chiefs will collectively provide for a written standard operating 

procedure that gives direction to department members on how a mutual aid 

response for Equipment will be summoned (on the part of a Requesting Fire 

Department) or undertaken (on the part of a Lending Fire Department), including 

the process and the listing of what, if any, other apparatus typically associated 

with the requested truck will be needed; 

 

b. The Fire Departments agree that it is the intent of this Agreement that Equipment 

will be shared for only a short term, not to exceed three (3) weeks.  The respective 

Fire Chiefs may however agree to a longer term on a case-by-case basis as agreed 

to consistent with the procedure created by subsection (a) of Paragraph 2 of this 

Agreement; 

 

c. It is understood and agreed to by the Fire Departments that normal wear and tear 

to Equipment is expected during use by a Requesting Fire Department and repair 

of normal wear and tear will be at the election and expense of the Lending Fire 

Department.  Damage occurring to the Equipment while in use by the Requesting 

Fire Department that is beyond normal wear and tear will be repaired in the 

manner elected by the Lending Fire Department.  The cost of said repair will be 

reimbursed by the Requesting Fire Department upon receipt of an invoice from 

the Lending Fire Department. The Lending Fire Department will consult with the 

Requesting Fire Department and make the Requesting Fire Department aware of 

the cost of repair prior to incurring that cost; 

 

d. The Requesting Fire Department waives any and all claims of liability against the 

Lending Fire Department for death or injury of any person, and for damage, theft, 

loss or destruction of any Requesting Fire Department equipment, or personal 

- Page 36 -



property of the Requesting Fire Department employees, in connection with 

operation of Equipment provided by a Lending Fire Department;   

 

e. To the extent provided by law, the Requesting Fire Department indemnifies and 

holds harmless the Lending Fire Department and its respective Fire Chief, and 

Fire Department employees, from third-party claims arising from third-party 

personal injury or property damage in connection with the Requesting Fire 

Department’s use of Equipment; and 

 

3. This Agreement shall remain in effect from the date of execution until July 1, 2024, and, 

thereafter shall renew automatically on July 1 of each subsequent year for twenty (20) years, 

except that: 

  

(a) A party to this Agreement may elect to terminate its participation upon thirty-day 

written notice, mailed via certified mail or through a mail delivery service with a 

delivery receipt, to all other participating parties; or 

 

(b) A party to this Agreement may propose an amendment to this Agreement, 

applicable to all parties, for approval by the respective other parties. 

 

4. Nothing in this Agreement will be deemed to interfere with the right of any party to enter 

into a mutual aid agreement with any other Fire Department inside or outside of Wake County. 

 

5. Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to amend, override, supplant, terminate, or 

otherwise modify any mutual aid agreement existing between the parties, or between any party 

and other Fire Departments, Wake County, or any other entity.  

 

6.   Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall be construed as waiving any immunity 

or other defense available under North Carolina law. 

 

7. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 

 

8. This Agreement contains the full understanding of the Parties. Any modifications or 

addendums to this Agreement must be in writing and executed with the same formality as this 

Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

[The Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signatures Follow] 

 

 

 

- Page 37 -



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have hereunto set their hands and seals, the day 

and year first written above. 

 

Town of Apex: 

 

______________________________             Date: ____________________ 

Shawn Purvis, Interim Town Manager 

 

 

 

Town of Cary 

 

______________________________             Date:  ___________________ 

Michael Cooper, Fire Chief 

 

     

 

Town of Morrisville 

 

______________________________             Date:  ___________________ 

Brandon Zuidema, Town Manager 

- Page 38 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office  

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt a Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition Received, to accept the 

Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, and to adopt a Resolution Setting the Date of a Public Hearing 

for November 28, 2023, on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town Council’s intent to annex 5.226 acres, 

located in Alderwood (two remaining parcels), Annexation No. 765 into the Town Corporate Limits.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Town Clerk certifies to investigation of said annexation. Adoption of the Resolution authorizes the 

Town Clerk to advertise said public hearing by electronic means and on the Town of Apex’s website.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN4-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition 
 Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk 
 Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing  

 CN4-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres 
 CN4-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres 

 CN4-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres 
 CN4-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 

acres 
 

 

- Page 39 -



    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE TOWN CLERK 

TO INVESTIGATE PETITION RECEIVED UNDER G.S.§ 160A-31 

 

Annexation Petition No. 765 

Alderwood – 5.226 acres 

 

   WHEREAS, G.S. §160A- 31 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall 

be investigated by the Town Clerk before further annexation proceedings may 

take place; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex deems it advisable to 

proceed in response to this request for annexation; 

 

   NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of 

Apex, that the Town Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the 

above-described petition and to certify to the Town Council the result of his 

investigation. 

 

This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Jacques K. Gilbert 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

 

  

- Page 40 -



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SUFFICIENCY BY THE TOWN CLERK 

 

Annexation Petition No. 765 

Alderwood – 5.226 acres 

 

 

 

 

To:     The Town Council of the Town of Apex, North Carolina 

 

    I, Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk, do hereby certify that I have investigated the 

annexation petition attached hereto, and have found, as a fact, that said petition 

is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in 

accordance with G.S.§ 160A-31, as amended. 

 

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 

Town of Apex, North Carolina this 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                      

________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

    

 

 

 
         (Seal) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 41 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S.§ 160A-31 AS AMENDED 

 

Annexation Petition No. 765 

Alderwood – 5.226 acres 

 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has 

been received; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Apex, North Carolina has by Resolution 

directed the Town Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and 

 

         WHEREAS, Certification by the Town Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition 

has been made; 

 

      NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex, 

North Carolina that: 

 

     Section 1.   A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area 

described herein will be held at the Apex Town Hall at 6 o’clock p.m. on the 28th day 

of November, 2023. 

 

      Section 2.   The area proposed for annexation is described as attached. 

 

      Section 3.   Notice of said public hearing shall be published on the Town of 

Apex Website, www.apexnc.org, Public Notice, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 

of said public hearing. 

 

     This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

                ________________________________________ 

              Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor  

 

ATTEST:                        

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk 

 

 

Attachment: Legal Description 

- Page 42 -

http://www.apexnc.org/


 
 

www.BohlerEngineering.com 

 

  

Bohler Engineering NC, PLLC 
4130 Parklake Avenue, Suite 200 

Raleigh, NC 27612 
919.578.9000 

Page 1 of 2 
 

        

 
 

Date: October 3, 2023 

                    Legal Description of a 

4.145 Acre Area 

To Be Annexed into the Town of Apex 

PINs: 0722-68-9065 & 0722-68-7241 

DB 19165, PG 2155 & DB 19165, PG 2160 
 

Subject area being located in Wake County, North Carolina: 

 

BEGINNING at an iron pipe found, said iron pipe being along the northerly right-of-way of Jenks Road, 

thence with the northerly right-of-way of Jenks Road, S 75° 56’ 34” W 291.94’ to an iron pipe found, 

said iron pipe being along the northeastern intersection of Jenks Road and Wimberly Road; 

 

Thence with the easterly right-of-way of Wimberly Road the following courses and distances: 

N 39° 21’ 54” W 21.52’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 34° 18’ 40” W 40.74’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 34° 18’ 40” W 48.45’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 25° 39’ 20” W 57.64’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 24° 20’ 12” W 78.57’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 23° 50’ 28” W 74.50’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 23° 59’ 14” W 87.67’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 23° 48’ 42” W 58.44’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 22° 46’ 50” W 22.70’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 23° 34’ 47” W 71.73’ to an iron pipe set; 

N 24° 33’ 56” W 83.70’ to an iron pipe set; 

 

Thence leaving the easterly right-of-way of Wimberly Road, N 88° 00’ 39” E 244.98’ to an iron pipe 

found; 

Thence N 88° 00’ 38” E 195.61’ to an iron pipe found; 

Thence S 09° 41’ 58” E 21.06’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 86° 06’ 28” W 61.68’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 47° 45’ 30” W 36.06’ to a computed point; 

Thence N 66° 40’ 13” W 9.19’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 04° 08’ 37” W 10.30’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 31° 29’ 19” E 2.05’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 62° 21’ 21” E 10.07’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 09° 49’ 58” E 187.40’ to a computed point; 

Thence S 04° 38’ 25” E 93.33’ to a computed point; 

Thence N 79° 51’ 43” E 100.96’ to a computed point; 

 

Thence S 09° 41’ 58” E 7.79’ to an iron pipe set; 

- Page 43 -



Bohler Engineering NC, PLLC 
4130 Parklake Avenue, Suite 200 

Raleigh, NC 27612 
919.578.9000 

Page 2 of 2 

Thence S 10° 37’ 25” E 17.37’ to an iron pipe set; 

Thence S 53° 07’ 45” E 32.93’ to an iron pipe set; 

Thence S 14° 19’ 08” E 161.07’ to an iron pipe found, said iron pipe also being THE POINT AND 

PLACE OF BEGINNING and containing 180,551 square feet or 4.145 acres, more or less. 

The property described hereon is subject to all easements, rights-of-way and restrictions of record. 

 

- Page 44 -



Bohler Engineering NC, PLLC 
4130 Parklake Avenue, Suite 200 

Raleigh, NC 27612 
919.578.9000 

Date: October 3, 2023 

     Legal Description of a 

1.081 Acre Right-of-Way 

To Be Annexed into the Town of Apex 

Jenks Road & Wimberly Road 

Subject area being located in Wake County, North Carolina: 

BEGINNING at an iron pipe found, said iron pipe being along the northerly right-of-way of Jenks Road, 

thence through the right-of-way of Jenks Road, S 14° 19’ 08” E 63.31’ to a computed point, said 

computed point being along the southerly right-of-way of Jenks Road; 

Thence with the southerly right-of-way of Jenks Road S 75° 23’ 49” W 231.09’ to an iron pipe found; 

Thence through the intersection of Jenks Road and Wimberly Road, S 75° 23’ 49” W 115.22’ to a 

computed point, said computed point being with the intersection of Jenks Road and Wimberly Road; 

Thence N 00° 09’ 11” W 65.10’ to a computed point; 

Thence continuing within the right-of-way of Wimberly road and with the westerly line described in 

Deed Book 19165, Page 2160 the following courses and distances: 

N 31° 59’ 37” W 51.05’ to a computed point; 

N 31° 59’ 37” W 179.43’ to a computed point; 

N 22° 04’ 06” W 425.44’ to a computed point; 

N 88° 00’ 39” E 35.55’ to an iron pipe set, said iron pipe being along the easterly right-of-way of 

Wimberly Road; 

Thence with the easterly right-of-way of Wimberly Road the following courses and distances: 

S 24° 33’ 56” E 83.70’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 23° 34’ 47” E 71.73’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 22° 46’ 50” E 22.70’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 23° 48’ 42” E 58.44’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 23° 59’ 14” E 87.67’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 23° 50’ 28” E 74.50’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 24° 20’ 12” E 78.57’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 25° 39’ 20” E 57.64’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 34° 18’ 40” E 48.45’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 34° 18’ 40” E 40.74’ to an iron pipe set; 

S 39° 21’ 54” E 21.52’ to an iron pipe found, said iron pipe being along the northeastern intersection of 

Wimberly Road and Jenks Road; N 75° 56’ 34” E 291.94’ to an iron pipe found, said iron pipe also 

being THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING and containing 47,095 square feet or 1.081 acres, 

more or less. 

The property described hereon is subject to all easements, rights-of-way and restrictions of record. 

www.BohlerEngineering.com 
- Page 45 -



- Page 46 -



- Page 47 -



- Page 48 -



- Page 49 -



- Page 50 -



- Page 51 -



- Page 52 -



- Page 53 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office 

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt a Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition Received, to accept the 

Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, and to adopt a Resolution Setting the Date of a Public Hearing 

for November 28, 2023, on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town Council’s intent to annex 111.02 acres, 

located at Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six), Annexation No. 766 into the Town Corporate Limits. 

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Town Clerk certifies to investigation of said annexation. Adoption of the Resolution authorizes the 

Town Clerk to advertise said public hearing by electronic means and on the Town of Apex’s website.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN5-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition 
 Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk 
 Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing  

 CN5-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 
acres 

 CN5-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 acres 
 CN5-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 acres 

 CN5-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 
acres 

 

- Page 54 -



    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE TOWN CLERK 

TO INVESTIGATE PETITION RECEIVED UNDER G.S.§ 160A-31 

 

Annexation Petition No. 766 

Veridea No. 1 (Tract One Through Six) – 111.02 acres 

 

   WHEREAS, G.S. §160A- 31 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall 

be investigated by the Town Clerk before further annexation proceedings may 

take place; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex deems it advisable to 

proceed in response to this request for annexation; 

 

   NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of 

Apex, that the Town Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the 

above-described petition and to certify to the Town Council the result of his 

investigation. 

 

This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Jacques K. Gilbert 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

 

  

- Page 55 -



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SUFFICIENCY BY THE TOWN CLERK 

 

Annexation Petition No. 766 

Veridea No. 1 (Tract One Through Six) – 111.02 acres 

 

 

 

 

To:     The Town Council of the Town of Apex, North Carolina 

 

    I, Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk, do hereby certify that I have investigated the 

annexation petition attached hereto, and have found, as a fact, that said petition 

is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in 

accordance with G.S.§ 160A-31, as amended. 

 

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 

Town of Apex, North Carolina this 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                      

________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

    

 

 

 
         (Seal) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 56 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S.§ 160A-31 AS AMENDED 

 

Annexation Petition No. 766 

Veridea No. 1 (Tract One Through Six) – 111.02 acres 

 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has 

been received; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Apex, North Carolina has by Resolution 

directed the Town Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and 

 

         WHEREAS, Certification by the Town Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition 

has been made; 

 

      NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex, 

North Carolina that: 

 

     Section 1.   A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area 

described herein will be held at the Apex Town Hall at 6 o’clock p.m. on the 28th day 

of November, 2023. 

 

      Section 2.   The area proposed for annexation is described as attached. 

 

      Section 3.   Notice of said public hearing shall be published on the Town of 

Apex Website, www.apexnc.org, Public Notice, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 

of said public hearing. 

 

     This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

                ________________________________________ 

              Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor  

 

ATTEST:                        

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk 

 

 

Attachment: Legal Description 

- Page 57 -

http://www.apexnc.org/


 
TRACT 1 – PIN#:0740052449 

• BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE COMMON CORNER OF HH TRINITY 
APEX INVESTMENTS LLC PIN#:0740052449 AND PIN#:0730971141 AND THE 
SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF N.C. HIGHWAY 540 A VARIABLE WIDTH 
PUBLIC R/W, HAVING NC NAD83(2011) GRID COORDINATES OF N705894.67, 
E2040300.31; 

• THENCE WITH A CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 
456.34', WITH A RADIUS OF 4375.00', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 
65°10'37" E, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 456.13' TO A POINT; 

• THENCE S 49°00'55" E A DISTANCE OF 133.17'TO A POINT; 
• THENCE WITH A CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 

355.38', WITH A RADIUS OF 1680.00', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 
05°50'57" W, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 354.72' TO A POINT; 

• THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT WITH AN ARC LENGTH 
OF 205.93', WITH A RADIUS OF 1680.00', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 
03°43'21" E, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 205.80' TO A POINT; 

• THENCE N 71°59'15" W A DISTANCE OF 337.68' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 86°29'50" W A DISTANCE OF 829.07' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 00°41'54" E A DISTANCE OF 661.29' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 89°13'28" E A DISTANCE OF 647.67' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 02°26'42" E A DISTANCE OF 29.55' TO A POINT; 
• WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING,HAVING AN AREA OF 757143 SQUARE 

FEET, 17.38 ACRES 

- Page 58 -



TRACT 2 - PIN#:0740240814 
 

 BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE COMMON CORNER OF HH TRINITY 
APEX INVESTMENTS LLC PIN#:0740240814 WITH THE SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF N.C. HIGHWAY 540 RAMP A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC R/W 
AND VERIDEA PARKWAY A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC R/W, HAVING NC 
NAD83(2011) GRID COORDINATES OF N704952.25, E2041123.19; 

 THENCE S 76°02'09" E A DISTANCE OF 316.69' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE S 77°42'22" E A DISTANCE OF 224.13' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 74°21'52" E A DISTANCE OF 186.60' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 46°45'41" E A DISTANCE OF 297.04' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 47°49'13" E A DISTANCE OF 182.30' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 64°40'03" E A DISTANCE OF 179.28' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE S 06°34'16" E A DISTANCE OF 760.63' TO AN EIP; 
 THENCE N 78°40'10" W A DISTANCE OF 164.41' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 77°01'58" W A DISTANCE OF 181.30' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 65°53'37" W A DISTANCE OF 301.08' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 71°44'05" W A DISTANCE OF 452.53' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 71°58'44" W A DISTANCE OF 280.51' TO A POINT; 
 THENCE N 48°17'55" E A DISTANCE OF 3.48'TO A POINTCAL PT; WHICH 

IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING, HAVING AN AREA OF 316750 SQUARE FEET, 
7.27 ACRES 

- Page 59 -



TRACT 3 - PIN#:0740570836 
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT BEING THE COMMON CORNER OF HH TRINITY APEX INVESTMENTS LLC 
PIN:0740360895, HH TRINITY APEX INVESTMENTS LLC 
PIN:0740570836 AND EMC CORPORATION PIN:0740572015 HAVING NC NAD83(2011) GRID 
COORDINATES OF N706939.13, E2044174.09; 

• THENCE N 50°47'04" W A DISTANCE OF 65.68' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 17°55'59" W A DISTANCE OF 57.53' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 01°46'11" E A DISTANCE OF 62.37' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 28°05'50" E A DISTANCE OF 49.79' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 43°31'32" W A DISTANCE OF 19.68' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 24°25'51" W A DISTANCE OF 50.19' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 21°09'42" E A DISTANCE OF 57.71' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 02°21'25" W A DISTANCE OF 94.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 59°45'58" W A DISTANCE OF 49.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 09°27'47" W A DISTANCE OF 43.45' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 14°12'54" E A DISTANCE OF 80.77' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 51°05'47" E A DISTANCE OF 56.70' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 87°15'20" E A DISTANCE OF 55.42' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 56°06'28" E A DISTANCE OF 86.68' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 30°45'52" E A DISTANCE OF 110.38' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 70°07'32" E A DISTANCE OF 26.68' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 11°19'19" E A DISTANCE OF 66.61' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 47°38'46" W A DISTANCE OF 65.27' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 22°13'07" E A DISTANCE OF 73.76' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 14°13'34" W A DISTANCE OF 126.09' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 03°39'03" E A DISTANCE OF 71.88' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 39°34'36" E A DISTANCE OF 67.10' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 62°37'55" E A DISTANCE OF 25.32' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 00°55'30" E A DISTANCE OF 73.95' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 22°30'19" E A DISTANCE OF 109.43' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 20°41'03" E A DISTANCE OF 54.54' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 44°47'48" E A DISTANCE OF 120.11' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 50°05'53" E A DISTANCE OF 58.84' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 73°47'56" E A DISTANCE OF 28.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 34°25'06" E A DISTANCE OF 68.19' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 61°13'05" E A DISTANCE OF 56.54' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 59°12'45" E A DISTANCE OF 129.71' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 37°57'17" E A DISTANCE OF 50.86' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 14°15'21" E A DISTANCE OF 52.34' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 43°29'38" E A DISTANCE OF 28.80' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 38°48'28" E A DISTANCE OF 24.98' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 88°57'01" W A DISTANCE OF 30.36' TO AN EIP; 
• THENCE N 42°37'27" E A DISTANCE OF 84.50' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 87°51'02" E A DISTANCE OF 208.48' TO AN EIP; 
• THENCE S 02°08'54" W A DISTANCE OF 544.41' TO A POINT; 

- Page 60 -



• THENCE N 89°31'36" E A DISTANCE OF 1910.59' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 02°11'42" W A DISTANCE OF 150.06' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 82°46'29" W A DISTANCE OF 59.32' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 38°01'48" W A DISTANCE OF 154.60' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 84°02'09" W A DISTANCE OF 86.70' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 20°44'56" W A DISTANCE OF 18.43' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 79°18'34" W A DISTANCE OF 39.77' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 13°19'46" E A DISTANCE OF 38.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 76°35'49" W A DISTANCE OF 53.23' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 26°54'51" W A DISTANCE OF 42.90' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 33°19'02" E A DISTANCE OF 29.87' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 51°46'22" W A DISTANCE OF 61.75' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 64°34'50" W A DISTANCE OF 58.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 29°34'47" W A DISTANCE OF 47.94' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 71°40'28" W A DISTANCE OF 23.79' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 39°32'53" W A DISTANCE OF 102.73' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 69°26'41" W A DISTANCE OF 124.25' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 57°24'05" W A DISTANCE OF 82.87' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 07°43'11" W A DISTANCE OF 131.15' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 83°27'25" W A DISTANCE OF 147.78' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 00°36'20" E A DISTANCE OF 95.70' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 80°37'14" W A DISTANCE OF 210.03' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 21°46'20" W A DISTANCE OF 49.36' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 88°52'20" W A DISTANCE OF 362.60' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 00°08'59" E A DISTANCE OF 315.01' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 41°39'40" W A DISTANCE OF 59.46' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 44°48'01" E A DISTANCE OF 60.58' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 20°16'03" W A DISTANCE OF 35.02' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 76°32'52" W A DISTANCE OF 126.07' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 34°49'57" W A DISTANCE OF 90.84' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 41°34'57" W A DISTANCE OF 26.79' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 44°48'57" W A DISTANCE OF 69.31' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 28°17'36" E A DISTANCE OF 74.29' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 47°29'27" W A DISTANCE OF 92.11' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 49°33'56" W A DISTANCE OF 78.37' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 87°17'25" W A DISTANCE OF 290.72' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 11°44'33" W A DISTANCE OF 20.66' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 64°16'17" W A DISTANCE OF 220.45' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 82°21'19" W A DISTANCE OF 72.19' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 36°16'44" W A DISTANCE OF 42.40' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 69°36'51" W A DISTANCE OF 126.77' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 62°06'56" W A DISTANCE OF 316.17' TO A POINT WHICH IS THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING,HAVING AN AREA OF 1996590 SQUARE FEET, 45.84 ACRES 

- Page 61 -



TRACT 4 – SHEETS 8 & 9 - PIN#’S: 
0740992169,0740992069,0740992024,0740991702,0740991337,
0740991237,0740990140,0740982964,0740982929,0740982769,
0740982866,0740982630,0740982534,0740982309,0740886966,
0740982764,0740982659,0740982635,0740980647 

    
• BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE COMMON CORNER OF RXR LEN 

APEX OWNER LLC PIN#:0740980647 AND NC DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION PIN#:0740981395 , HAVING NC NAD83(2011) GRID 
COORDINATES OF N708324.91, E2049188.37; 

• THENCE N 87°21'16" W A DISTANCE OF 259.05' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°23'44" W A DISTANCE OF 347.79' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 86°56'48" W A DISTANCE OF 446.16' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 00°46'32" W A DISTANCE OF 2399.73' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 89°55'44" E A DISTANCE OF 403.93' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 04°23'01" E A DISTANCE OF 445.52' TO A POINTAX; 
• THENCE S 05°37'02" E A DISTANCE OF 199.93' TO A POINTEIP; 
• THENCE N 89°21'15" E A DISTANCE OF 417.22' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE WITH A CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 

101.71', WITH A RADIUS OF 5633.75', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 
04°07'50" E, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 101.71' TO A POINT 

• THENCE S 89°36'58" W A DISTANCE OF 414.74' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 05°37'02" E A DISTANCE OF 100.00' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 17°12'56" E A DISTANCE OF 140.08' TO A POINTAX; 
• THENCE S 87°06'10" E A DISTANCE OF 374.27' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE WITH A CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 

100.26', WITH A RADIUS OF 5633.75', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 
00°30'27" E, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 100.26' TO A POINT 

• THENCE S 01°41'54" E A DISTANCE OF 100.29' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°45'44" W A DISTANCE OF 49.94' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 87°04'26" W A DISTANCE OF 127.90' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°28'23" W A DISTANCE OF 50.04' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 87°06'47" E A DISTANCE OF 127.65' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°45'44" W A DISTANCE OF 449.50' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 12°49'18" W A DISTANCE OF 50.78' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 14°56'39" W A DISTANCE OF 51.10' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 17°33'36" W A DISTANCE OF 51.76' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 86°43'05" W A DISTANCE OF 89.07' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°28'00" W A DISTANCE OF 100.88' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 87°17'00" E A DISTANCE OF 51.62' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 22°15'24" W A DISTANCE OF 53.04'  
• THENCE N 87°17'00" W A DISTANCE OF 32.79' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 01°28'00" W A DISTANCE OF 48.52' TO A POINT; 
• TO A POINT WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING,HAVING AN AREA OF 

1,541,315 SQUARE FEET, 35.38 ACRES 

- Page 62 -



TRACT 5 - PIN#:0740992565 
 

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF HH TRINITY APEX INVESTMENTS LLC 
PIN#:0740992565 AT THE WESTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF N.C. HIGHWAY 55/ EAST 
WILLIAMS STREET A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC R/W, HAVING NC NAD83(2011) GRID 
COORDINATES OF N709521.96, E2049332.76; 
• THENCE S 89°40'44" W A DISTANCE OF 123.48' TO AN EIP; 
• THENCE N 02°18'46" W A DISTANCE OF 50.01' TO AN EIP; 
• THENCE N 89°43'19" E A DISTANCE OF 123.46' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE WITH A CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 49.92', WITH A 

RADIUS OF 5633.75', WITH A CHORD BEARING OF S 02°20'20" E, WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
49.92' TO A POINT WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING, HAVING AN AREA OF 6,168 SQUARE 
FEET, 0.14 ACRES. 

- Page 63 -



TRACT 6 - PIN#’S :0741537125 & 0741523802 
 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE COMMON PROPERTY LINE CORNER OF RXR LEN 
APEX OWNERR LLC PIN#:0741537125 AND THE TOWN OF APEX PIN#: 0741316489 WITH 
THE SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY 1 A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC 
R/W, HAVING NC NAD83(2011) GRID COORDINATES OF N712829.97, E2045151.28; 
• THENCE N 58°51'35" E A DISTANCE OF 406.60' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 58°00'23" E A DISTANCE OF 430.45' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 00°41'59" W A DISTANCE OF 45.71' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 58°41'25" E A DISTANCE OF 1013.53' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 31°28'08" E A DISTANCE OF 99.98' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 58°37'43" W A DISTANCE OF 311.61' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE S 58°41'14" W A DISTANCE OF 1602.11' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 01°28'31" E A DISTANCE OF 119.73' TO A POINT; 
• THENCE N 01°30'44" E A DISTANCE OF 41.12' TO A POINT WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING 

HAVING AN AREA OF 218,137 SQUARE FEET, 5.01 ACRES. 

- Page 64 -



- Page 65 -



- Page 66 -



- Page 67 -



- Page 68 -



- Page 69 -



- Page 70 -



- Page 71 -



- Page 72 -



- Page 73 -



- Page 74 -



- Page 75 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto. 

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

■

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740570836

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740992169

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740992069

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor (McAdams)

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 76 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740992024

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740991702

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex Owner LLC 0740991337

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 77 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740991237

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740990140

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982964

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016

200.00

8-1-2023

CC

- Page 78 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982929

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982769

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982866

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 79 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982630

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982309

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982534

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 80 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740886966

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982764

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982659

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 81 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740982635

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740980647

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.comv

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740992565

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 82 -



PETITION FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Application #: Submittal Date: 

Fee Paid $ Check # 

Page 2 of 5 Petition for Voluntary Annexation Last Updated: June 8, 2022 

TO THE TOWN COUNCIL APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

1. We, the undersigned owners of real property, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 below be annexed
to the Town of Apex,  Wake County,  Chatham County, North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed is  contiguous,  non-contiguous (satellite) to the Town of Apex, North Carolina and the
boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

3. If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets, railroads, and other areas as stated in
G.S. 160A-31(f), unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

OWNER INFORMATION 

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone  E-mail Address
  

Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  

Phone E-mail Address
  
Owner Name (Please Print) Property PIN or Deed Book & Page # 
  
Phone E-mail Address

SURVEYOR INFORMATION 
Surveyor:  
Phone:  Fax: 

E-mail Address:  

ANNEXATION SUMMARY CHART 
Property Information Reason(s) for annexation (select all that apply) 

Total Acreage to be annexed:  Need water service due to well failure  

Population of acreage to be annexed:  Need sewer service due to septic system failure  

Existing # of housing units:  Water service (new construction)     

Proposed # of housing units: Sewer service (new construction)  

Zoning District*:  Receive Town Services   

*If the property to be annexed is not within the Town of Apex’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, the applicant must also submit
a rezoning application with the petition for voluntary annexation to establish an Apex zoning designation. Please contact
the Department of Planning and Community Development with questions.

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0741523802

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0741537125

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.com

RXR LEN Apex OWNER LLC 0740240814, 740052449

212-390-9642 jberrios@rxr.comv

Jay Taylor

919-287-0825

jtaylor@mcadamsco.com

111.02

0

0

SD ✔

✔

2023-016 8-1-2023

200.00 CC

- Page 83 -



2023-016 8-1-2023

- Page 84 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office 

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt a Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition Received, to accept the 

Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, and to adopt a Resolution Setting the Date of a Public Hearing 

for November 28, 2023, on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town Council’s intent to annex 17.41 acres, 

located at 9613 Horton Road, Annexation No. 768 into the Town Corporate Limits. 

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Town Clerk certifies to investigation of said annexation. Adoption of the Resolution authorizes the 

Town Clerk to advertise said public hearing by electronic means and on the Town of Apex’s website.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN6-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition 
 Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk 
 Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing  

 CN6-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres 
 CN6-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres 

 CN6-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres 
 CN6-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres 

 

- Page 85 -



    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE TOWN CLERK 

TO INVESTIGATE PETITION RECEIVED UNDER G.S.§ 160A-31 

 

Annexation Petition No. 768 

9613 Horton Road – 17.41 acres 

 

   WHEREAS, G.S. §160A- 31 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall 

be investigated by the Town Clerk before further annexation proceedings may 

take place; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex deems it advisable to 

proceed in response to this request for annexation; 

 

   NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of 

Apex, that the Town Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the 

above-described petition and to certify to the Town Council the result of his 

investigation. 

 

This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Jacques K. Gilbert 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

 

  

- Page 86 -



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SUFFICIENCY BY THE TOWN CLERK 

 

Annexation Petition No. 768 

9613 Horton Road – 17.41 acres 

 

 

 

 

To:     The Town Council of the Town of Apex, North Carolina 

 

    I, Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk, do hereby certify that I have investigated the 

annexation petition attached hereto, and have found, as a fact, that said petition 

is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in 

accordance with G.S.§ 160A-31, as amended. 

 

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 

Town of Apex, North Carolina this 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                      

________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

    

 

 

 
         (Seal) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 87 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S.§ 160A-31 AS AMENDED 

 

Annexation Petition No. 768 

9613 Horton Road – 17.41 acres 

 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has 

been received; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Apex, North Carolina has by Resolution 

directed the Town Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and 

 

         WHEREAS, Certification by the Town Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition 

has been made; 

 

      NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex, 

North Carolina that: 

 

     Section 1.   A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area 

described herein will be held at the Apex Town Hall at 6 o’clock p.m. on the 28th day 

of November, 2023. 

 

      Section 2.   The area proposed for annexation is described as attached. 

 

      Section 3.   Notice of said public hearing shall be published on the Town of 

Apex Website, www.apexnc.org, Public Notice, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 

of said public hearing. 

 

     This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

 

                ________________________________________ 

              Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor  

 

ATTEST:                        

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk 

 

 

Attachment: Legal Description 

- Page 88 -

http://www.apexnc.org/


- Page 89 -



- Page 90 -



- Page 91 -



- Page 92 -



- Page 93 -



- Page 94 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Adam Stephenson, Transportation Engineering Manager 

Department(s): Transportation & Infrastructure Development 

Requested Motion 

Motion to award a construction contract with Browe Construction Company and the Town of Apex, for the  

construction of a sidewalk on the east side of Laura Duncan Road (from Pinewood Dr to Knollwood Dr), and 

to authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute on behalf of the Town.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The project will construct sidewalk on the east side of Laura Duncan Road from Pinewood Drive to 

Knollwood Drive which includes curb and gutter, storm drainage, and widening to provide half of ultimate 

road cross section. Sealed bids for construction and furnishing of all materials were received and opened 

on Thursday, November 2, 2023. Funding for the project is provided by the Street Improvements Project 

Fund, Safe Routes to School account. It is the recommendation of staff that the contract be awarded to Browe 

Construction Company as the lowest responsive bidder.  

Bid Summary: 

 Browe Construction Co.   $ 893,186.50   

 Hollins Contracting Services  $ 962,992.00   

 Engineer's Estimate  $ 1,140,099.31   

 Cardinal Civil Contracting  $ 1,198,335.00   

 Fred Smith Co.  $ 1,347,724.00   

 Lanier Construction Co.  $ 1,502,372.00   
  

Attachments 

 CN7-A1: Bid Tabulation - Construction Contract Award - Laura Duncan Sidewalk Project 
 CN7-A2: Standard Construction Agreement - Construction Contract Award - Laura Duncan 

Sidewalk Project 

 

- Page 95 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

Engineer's Estimate
ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               $54,292.31  $      54,292.31 
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               $15,000.00  $      15,000.00 
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           $50.00  $        5,000.00 
4 226 GRADING LS 1               $250,000.00  $    250,000.00 
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        $100.00  $    112,700.00 
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             $110.00  $        5,060.00 
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               $2,500.00  $        7,500.00 
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           $25.00  $      20,225.00 
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             $50.00  $        1,750.00 

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        $16.00  $      22,720.00 
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           $250.00  $      55,000.00 
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           $200.00  $      28,000.00 
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           $200.00  $      70,000.00 
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               $16,000.00  $      16,000.00 
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             $1,100.00  $      11,000.00 
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               $1,100.00  $        2,200.00 
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               $4,000.00  $      12,000.00 
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               $1,100.00  $        4,400.00 
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             $3,500.00  $      45,500.00 
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               $500.00  $        1,000.00 
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        $30.00  $      53,070.00 
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               $2,500.00  $      12,500.00 
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               $750.00  $           750.00 
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        $85.00  $      88,145.00 
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           $65.00  $      61,945.00 
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               $800.00  $        4,000.00 
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               $100.00  $           700.00 
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               $350.00  $        2,450.00 
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               $80,000.00  $      80,000.00 
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             $50.00  $        1,500.00 
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           $30.00  $        7,680.00 
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               $2,000.00  $        4,000.00 
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             $1,600.00  $      19,200.00 
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               $1,200.00  $        6,000.00 
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           $5.00  $        4,775.00 
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           $20.00  $        6,140.00 
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             $35.00  $        2,975.00 
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        $6.00  $      11,112.00 
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        $5.00  $      15,810.00 
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               $10,000.00  $      10,000.00 
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               $8,000.00  $        8,000.00 

TOTAL: 1,140,099.31$  

1 of 7
- Page 96 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Browe Construction Co. 
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

$40,000.00  $      40,000.00 
$20,000.00  $      20,000.00 

$80.00  $        8,000.00 
$120,000.00  $    120,000.00 

$42.00  $      47,334.00 
$52.00  $        2,392.00 

$650.00  $        1,950.00 
$20.00  $      16,180.00 

$100.00  $        3,500.00 
$9.00  $      12,780.00 

$200.00  $      44,000.00 
$200.00  $      28,000.00 
$200.00  $      70,000.00 

$20,000.00  $      20,000.00 
$750.00  $        7,500.00 
$750.00  $        1,500.00 

$2,500.00  $        7,500.00 
$950.00  $        3,800.00 

$3,200.00  $      41,600.00 
$450.00  $           900.00 

$42.00  $      74,298.00 
$2,200.00  $      11,000.00 
$2,500.00  $        2,500.00 

$90.00  $      93,330.00 
$60.00  $      57,180.00 

$950.00  $        4,750.00 
$300.00  $        2,100.00 
$450.00  $        3,150.00 

$40,000.00  $      40,000.00 
$110.00  $        3,300.00 

$25.00  $        6,400.00 
$1,600.00  $        3,200.00 

$900.00  $      10,800.00 
$900.00  $        4,500.00 

$3.50  $        3,342.50 
$6.50  $        1,995.50 

$22.50  $        1,912.50 
$10.00  $      18,520.00 

$6.00  $      18,972.00 
$10,000.00  $      10,000.00 
$25,000.00  $      25,000.00 

TOTAL: 893,186.50$     

2 of 7
- Page 97 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Hollins Contracting Services
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

$45,000.00  $      45,000.00 
$15,000.00  $      15,000.00 

$70.00  $        7,000.00 
$198,000.00  $    198,000.00 

$74.00  $      83,398.00 
$80.00  $        3,680.00 

$1,900.00  $        5,700.00 
$25.00  $      20,225.00 
$60.00  $        2,100.00 

$8.00  $      11,360.00 
$248.00  $      54,560.00 
$180.00  $      25,200.00 
$141.00  $      49,350.00 

$20,000.00  $      20,000.00 
$1,000.00  $      10,000.00 
$1,000.00  $        2,000.00 
$3,500.00  $      10,500.00 
$1,000.00  $        4,000.00 
$3,500.00  $      45,500.00 

$600.00  $        1,200.00 
$30.00  $      53,070.00 

$2,500.00  $      12,500.00 
$800.00  $           800.00 

$75.00  $      77,775.00 
$58.00  $      55,274.00 

$900.00  $        4,500.00 
$150.00  $        1,050.00 
$300.00  $        2,100.00 

$70,000.00  $      70,000.00 
$200.00  $        6,000.00 

$8.00  $        2,048.00 
$1,400.00  $        2,800.00 

$700.00  $        8,400.00 
$500.00  $        2,500.00 

$3.00  $        2,865.00 
$6.00  $        1,842.00 

$18.00  $        1,530.00 
$5.00  $        9,260.00 
$2.50  $        7,905.00 

$6,000.00  $        6,000.00 
$21,000.00  $      21,000.00 

TOTAL: 962,992.00$     

3 of 7
- Page 98 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Cardinal Civil Contracting
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

50,000.00$     $      50,000.00 
17,000.00$     $      17,000.00 

67.00$            $        6,700.00 
342,000.00$   $    342,000.00 

70.00$            $      78,890.00 
158.00$          $        7,268.00 

2,070.00$       $        6,210.00 
45.00$            $      36,405.00 

131.00$          $        4,585.00 
12.00$            $      17,040.00 

162.00$          $      35,640.00 
158.00$          $      22,120.00 
158.00$          $      55,300.00 

29,600.00$     $      29,600.00 
1,208.00$       $      12,080.00 
1,080.00$       $        2,160.00 
1,975.00$       $        5,925.00 

830.00$          $        3,320.00 
2,700.00$       $      35,100.00 

710.00$          $        1,420.00 
28.25$            $      49,974.25 

2,625.00$       $      13,125.00 
895.00$          $           895.00 

83.00$            $      86,071.00 
59.25$            $      56,465.25 

600.00$          $        3,000.00 
10.00$            $             70.00 

365.00$          $        2,555.00 
139,000.00$   $    139,000.00 

150.00$          $        4,500.00 
50.00$            $      12,800.00 

2,150.00$       $        4,300.00 
1,315.00$       $      15,780.00 
1,550.00$       $        7,750.00 

2.65$              $        2,530.75 
5.25$              $        1,611.75 

18.00$            $        1,530.00 
4.25$              $        7,871.00 
1.50$              $        4,743.00 

8,000.00$       $        8,000.00 
7,000.00$       $        7,000.00 
TOTAL: 1,198,335.00$  

4 of 7
- Page 99 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Fred Smith Co.
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

$67,100.00  $      67,100.00 
$69,000.00  $      69,000.00 

$80.00  $        8,000.00 
$260,000.00  $    260,000.00 

$110.00  $    123,970.00 
$115.00  $        5,290.00 

$1,700.00  $        5,100.00 
$35.00  $      28,315.00 
$80.00  $        2,800.00 

$6.50  $        9,230.00 
$195.00  $      42,900.00 
$175.00  $      24,500.00 
$160.00  $      56,000.00 

$14,000.00  $      14,000.00 
$1,150.00  $      11,500.00 
$1,100.00  $        2,200.00 
$4,500.00  $      13,500.00 
$1,100.00  $        4,400.00 
$4,500.00  $      58,500.00 

$275.00  $           550.00 
$35.00  $      61,915.00 

$2,400.00  $      12,000.00 
$1,850.00  $        1,850.00 

$80.00  $      82,960.00 
$55.00  $      52,415.00 

$1,300.00  $        6,500.00 
$6.00  $             42.00 

$345.00  $        2,415.00 
$220,000.00  $    220,000.00 

$800.00  $      24,000.00 
$40.00  $      10,240.00 

$2,600.00  $        5,200.00 
$815.00  $        9,780.00 
$815.00  $        4,075.00 

$3.00  $        2,865.00 
$6.00  $        1,842.00 

$13.00  $        1,105.00 
$5.00  $        9,260.00 
$2.50  $        7,905.00 

$7,000.00  $        7,000.00 
$17,500.00  $      17,500.00 

TOTAL: 1,347,724.00$  

5 of 7
- Page 100 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Lanier Construction Co.
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

$72,000.00  $      72,000.00 
$25,000.00  $      25,000.00 

$50.00  $        5,000.00 
$325,000.00  $    325,000.00 

$105.00  $    118,335.00 
$130.00  $        5,980.00 

$2,500.00  $        7,500.00 
$18.00  $      14,562.00 
$60.00  $        2,100.00 
$20.00  $      28,400.00 

$285.00  $      62,700.00 
$240.00  $      33,600.00 
$240.00  $      84,000.00 

$35,000.00  $      35,000.00 
$1,300.00  $      13,000.00 
$1,250.00  $        2,500.00 
$2,500.00  $        7,500.00 
$1,050.00  $        4,200.00 
$4,800.00  $      62,400.00 

$325.00  $           650.00 
$34.00  $      60,146.00 

$4,000.00  $      20,000.00 
$1,050.00  $        1,050.00 

$95.00  $      98,515.00 
$75.00  $      71,475.00 

$1,500.00  $        7,500.00 
$175.00  $        1,225.00 
$150.00  $        1,050.00 

$250,000.00  $    250,000.00 
$225.00  $        6,750.00 

$31.50  $        8,064.00 
$1,050.00  $        2,100.00 
$1,200.00  $      14,400.00 

$750.00  $        3,750.00 
$2.50  $        2,387.50 
$5.50  $        1,688.50 

$20.00  $        1,700.00 
$4.50  $        8,334.00 
$5.00  $      15,810.00 

$6,500.00  $        6,500.00 
$10,500.00  $      10,500.00 

TOTAL: 1,502,372.00$  

6 of 7
- Page 101 -



TID-23-04 Bid Tabulation
November 2, 2023

ITEM # SECTION DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 800 MOBILIZATION LS 1               
2 200 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1               
3 226 UNDERCUT EXCAVATION CY 100           
4 226 GRADING LS 1               
5 310 15" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 1,127        
6 310 18" POLYPROPYLENE PIPE CULVERT LF 46             
7 310 15" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE END SECTION EA 3               
8 340 PIPE REMOVAL LF 809           
9 545 INCIDENTAL STONE BASE TN 35             

10 607 MILLING ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0-1.5" SY 1,420        
11 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, TYPE S 9.5B TN 220           
12 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE I 19.0C TN 140           
13 610 ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 25.0C TN 350           
14 801 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1               
15 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.03 EA 10             
16 840 FRAME W/ GRATE, STANDARD 840.16 EA 2               
17 840 CONVERT DROP INLET TO JUNCTION BOX EA 3               
18 840 JUNCTION BOX FRAME & COVER 840.54 EA 4               
19 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES EA 13             
20 840 MASONRY DRAINAGE STRUCTURES LF 2               
21 846 2'-6" CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 1,769        
22 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP EA 5               
23 848 CONCRETE CURB RAMP RETROFIT DOMES EA 1               
24 848 6" CONCRETE DRIVEWAY SY 1,037        
25 848 4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 953           
26 858 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLES EA 5               
27 903 SUPPORTS, U-CHANNEL EA 7               
28 904 SIGN ERECTION, TYPE E EA 7               
29 1105 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1               
30 1510 6" DUCTILE IRON WATER LINE LF 30             
31 1510 DUCTILE IRON WATER PIPE FITTINGS LB 256           
32 1515 RELOCATE WATER METER EA 2               
33 SP ADJUST WATER METERS EA 12             
34 SP ADJUST SEWER CLEANOUTS EA 5               
35 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (4", 90 MILS) LF 955           
36 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (8", 120 MILS) LF 307           
37 1205 THERMO PAVEMENT MARKING LINES (24", 120 MILS) LF 85             
38 1605 TEMPORARY SILT & TREE PROTECTION COMBO FENCE LF 1,852        
39 1631 MATTING FOR EROSION CONTROL SY 3,162        
40 1660 SEEDING LS 1               
41 SP RELOCATE SCHOOL BEACON LS 1               

Pacos Construction Co.
UNIT PRICE EXTENDED

$51,000.00  $      51,000.00 
$22,000.00  $      22,000.00 

$50.00  $        5,000.00 
$295,000.00  $    295,000.00 

$68.00  $      76,636.00 
$90.00  $        4,140.00 

$1,700.00  $        5,100.00 
$25.00  $      20,225.00 

 $                   -   
$18.00  $      25,560.00 

$180.00  $      39,600.00 
$180.00  $      25,200.00 
$180.00  $      63,000.00 

$22,000.00  $      22,000.00 
$1,050.00  $      10,500.00 
$1,050.00  $        2,100.00 
$2,300.00  $        6,900.00 

$750.00  $        3,000.00 
$4,200.00  $      54,600.00 

$750.00  $        1,500.00 
$32.00  $      56,608.00 

$3,200.00  $      16,000.00 
$1,700.00  $        1,700.00 

$85.00  $      88,145.00 
$58.00  $      55,274.00 

$1,600.00  $        8,000.00 
$150.00  $        1,050.00 
$250.00  $        1,750.00 

$60,000.00  $      60,000.00 
$120.00  $        3,600.00 

$60.00  $      15,360.00 
$3,500.00  $        7,000.00 

$750.00  $        9,000.00 
$250.00  $        1,250.00 

$3.00  $        2,865.00 
$5.50  $        1,688.50 

$20.00  $        1,700.00 
$5.00  $        9,260.00 
$4.00  $      12,648.00 

$6,000.00  $        6,000.00 
$7,000.00  $        7,000.00 

TOTAL: 1,098,959.50$  

non-responsive

7 of 7
- Page 102 -



Page 1 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA PURCHASE ORDER #  
COUNTY OF WAKE STANDARD CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this ____ day of ______________, 2023 by and between, Browe 
Construction Company, a North Carolina Company with its principal business offices located at 451 Oak 
Tree Drive, Selma, NC 27576 (the “Contractor”), and the Town of Apex, a municipal corporation of the 
State of North Carolina, (the “Town”). Town and Contractor may collectively be referred to as “Parties” 
hereinafter. 

WITNESSETH: 
 

The Town and the Contractor, for the consideration stated herein, agree as follows: 
 
1. SCOPE OF SERVICES. 
The Contractor shall furnish all labor, material, and equipment necessary to perform and complete the work 
as identified in the attached “TID-23-04 Laura Duncan Sidewalk” at the locations and to the specifications 
outlined in the “Contract Documents.” The Contract Documents include this Agreement and those 
documents identified in Sections 2 and 32 of this Agreement.   In the event of a conflict between any of the 
Contract Documents and this Agreement, this Agreement shall control. 
 
2. SPECIFICATIONS. 
Contractor shall perform the services in accordance with the Contract Documents specified below which 
are hereby incorporated into this Agreement: 

1. Plan sheets 
2. Town of Apex Standard Specifications and Standard Details  
3. NCDOT 2018 Standard Specifications for Roads and Structures 
4. NCDOT 2018 Roadway Standard Drawings 
5. US DOT Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, including any NC Supplement 

 
3. TIME OF COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION. 
Contractor shall commence the work required in this Agreement no later than 30 days after the date of 
execution of this Agreement and complete the work within 240 calendar days after the date of 
commencement.  If Contractor has not satisfactorily performed the work within the times specified, the 
Town may declare such delay a material breach of contract and may pursue all available legal and equitable 
remedies.  In the alternate, the Town in its sole discretion may for each calendar day past this contract time 
receive $700 per day as liquidated damages.  Any changes to the schedule(s) provided in this Agreement 
or the Specifications must be agreed to in writing by the Town and the Contractor.  
 
4. CONSIDERATION AND PAYMENT OF SERVICES. 
In consideration of the above services, the Town will pay the Contractor based on the price and quantities 
reflected on the “TID-23-04 Laura Duncan Sidewalk Bid Tabulation” as those numbers pertain to the Browe 
Construction Company bid. The total bid, which is not to be exceeded, is in the amount of $893,186.50.  
Contractor shall submit a monthly invoice for partial payments based on the components that have been 
completed. 

- Page 103 -



Page 2 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

Town has the right to require the Contractor to produce for inspection all of Contractor’s records and 
charges to verify the accuracy of all invoices. Town shall pay Contractor’s invoices within thirty (30) days 
of invoice unless a bona fide dispute exists between Town and Contractor concerning the accuracy of said 
invoice or the services covered thereby. 
 
5. CHANGE ORDERS. 
No changes in work may proceed unless a Change Order is approved by the Town.  In the event a change 
in work is requested, Contractor shall provide a complete breakdown of all labor and material costs with 
the Change Order request.  The breakdown shall include the Contractor’s allowance for overhead and profit 
not to exceed 10% of the net cost of the change with work provided directly by the Contractor.  All Change 
Order approvals shall be in writing. 
 
6. INDEMNIFICATION. 
To the extent permitted by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold-
harmless the Town of Apex, its elected and appointed officials, employees, agents, and volunteers against 
any and all claims, demands, suits or losses, including all costs connected therewith, for any damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the Town of Apex, its elected or appointed officials, 
employees, agents, and volunteers by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death and/or 
property damage, including loss of use thereof resulting from the negligence of the Contractor. 
 
7. APPLICABILITY OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS. 
The Contractor shall adhere to all laws, ordinances, and regulations of the United States, the State of North 
Carolina, the County of Wake, and the Town of Apex in the performance of the services outlined in this 
Agreement and the Contract Documents.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
North Carolina. 
 
8. E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE. 
The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of Article 2 of Chapter 64 of the North Carolina General 
Statutes (E-Verify). Contractor shall require all of the Contractor’s subcontractors to comply with the 
requirements of Article 2 of Chapter 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes (E-Verify).  
 
9. ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING. 
The Contractor warrants and agrees that no labor supplied by the Contractor or the Contractor’s 
subcontractors in the performance of this Agreement shall be obtained by means of deception, coercion, 
intimidation or force, or otherwise in violation of North Carolina law, specifically Article 10A, Subchapter 
3 of Chapter 14 of the North Carolina General Statutes, Human Trafficking. 
 
10. QUALITY AND WORKMANSHIP. 
All work shall be performed to the satisfaction of the Town. The work shall not be considered complete nor 
applicable payments rendered until the Town is satisfied with the services provided. 
 
11. INSURANCE. 
The Contractor shall maintain valid general liability insurance in the minimum amount of $1,000,000, 
commercial automobile liability insurance in the minimum amount of $2,000,000, and provide certificates 

- Page 104 -



Page 3 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

of such insurance naming the Town of Apex as an additional insured by endorsement to the policies. If the 
policy has a blanket additional insured provision, the Contractor’s insurance shall be primary and non-
contributory to other insurance. Additionally, the Contractor shall maintain and show proof of workers’ 
compensation and employer’s liability insurance in the minimum amount of $1,000,000. The Contractor 
shall provide notice of cancellation, non-renewal or material change in coverage to the Town of Apex within 
10 days of their receipt of notice from the insurance company. All required certificates of insurance, 
endorsements, and blanket additional insured policy provisions shall be provided to the Town prior to the 
start of the work contemplated by this Agreement and are considered part of this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the requirement of Contractor to have sufficient insurance nor the 
requirement that Town is named as an additional insured, shall constitute waiver of the Town’s 
governmental immunity in any respect, under North Carolina law. 
 
12. PRE-PROJECT SAFETY REVIEW MEETING. 
When specified by the Safety and Risk Manager, the Contractor shall attend a pre-project safety review 
meeting with the contacting Department Head and Supervisors and Safety and Risk Manager prior to the 
start of work. 
 
13. DEFAULT. 
In the event of substantial failure by Contractor to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, 
Town shall have the right to terminate Contractor upon seven (7) days written notice in which event 
Contractor shall have neither the obligation nor the right to perform further services under this Agreement. 
 
14. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE. 
Town shall have the right to terminate this Agreement for the Town’s convenience upon thirty (30) days 
written notice to Contractor. Contractor shall terminate performance of services on a schedule acceptable 
to the Town. In the event of termination for convenience, the Town shall pay Contractor for all services 
satisfactorily performed. 
 
15. NOTICE. 
Any formal notice, demand, or request required by or made in connection with this Agreement shall be 
deemed properly made if delivered in writing or deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, to the 
address specified below. 
TO CONTRACTOR: 
Browe Construction Company 
Attn: Tim Quinn 
451 Oak Tree Drive 
Selma, NC 27576  
tim.quinn@browecon.com 

TO TOWN:   
Town of Apex 
Attn: Adam Stephenson 
PO Box 250 
Apex, NC 27502 
adam.stephenson@apexnc.org 

 
16. DELAY BEYOND THE CONTROL OF THE PARTIES. 
Neither Contractor nor Town, having taken commercially reasonable precautions, shall be in default of the 
provisions of this Agreement for delays in performance due to forces beyond the control of the parties. 
“Forces beyond the control of the parties” shall mean, but is not limited to, delay caused by natural disaster, 

- Page 105 -



Page 4 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

fire, flood, earthquakes, storms, lightning, epidemic, pandemic, war, riot, civil disobedience, or other event 
reasonably outside of the parties’ control. 
 
17. NONWAIVER FOR BREACH. 
No breach or non-performance of any term of this Agreement shall be deemed to be waived by either party 
unless said breach or non-performance is waived in writing and signed by the parties. No waiver of any 
breach or non-performance under this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent 
breach or non-performance and for any such breach or non-performance each party shall be relegated to 
such remedies as provided by law.  
 
18. CONSTRUCTION.  
Should any portion of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed that the Court or Tribunal 
construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the terms hereof shall be more strictly construed 
against any one party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be more strictly construed 
against the party who prepared the documents. 
 
19. NO REPRESENTATIONS.  
The parties hereby warrant that no representations about the nature or extent of any claims, demands, 
damages, or rights that they have, or may have, against one another have been made to them, or to anyone 
acting on their behalf, to induce them to execute this Agreement, and they rely on no such representations; 
that they have fully read and understood this Agreement before signing their names; and that they act 
voluntarily and with full advice of counsel.  
 
20. SEVERABILITY.  
In the event for any reason that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be found to be void or 
invalid, then such provision or portion shall be deemed to be severable from the remaining provisions or 
portions of this Agreement, and it shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions, which portions 
shall be given full effect as if the void or invalid provision or portion had not been included herein. 
 
21. COUNTERPARTS.  
This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, 
and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 
 
22. MODIFICATION. 
This Agreement contains the full understanding of the parties. Any modifications or addendums to this 
Agreement must be in writing and executed with the same formality as this Agreement.  
 
23. BINDING EFFECT.  
The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties' heirs, successors, and assigns. 
 
24. ASSIGNMENT. 
Contractor shall not assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under or interest in (including, but without 
limitation, monies that may become due or monies that are due) this Agreement without the written consent 
of the Town. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall prevent Contractor from employing such 

- Page 106 -



Page 5 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

independent consultants, associates, and sub-contractors as it may deem appropriate to assist Contractor in 
the performance of services rendered. 
 
25. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  
Contractor is an independent contractor and shall undertake performance of the services pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement as an independent contractor. Contractor shall be wholly responsible for the 
methods, means and techniques of performance.  
 
26. NON-APPROPRIATION. 
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the parties agree that payments due hereunder 
from the Town are from appropriations and monies from the Town Council and any other governmental 
entities. In the event sufficient appropriations or monies are not made available to the Town to pay the terms 
of this Agreement for any fiscal year, this Agreement shall terminate immediately without further obligation 
of the Town.  
 
27. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY N.C.G.S. 147-86.60  
N.C.G.S. 147-86.60 prohibits the State of North Carolina, a North Carolina local government, or any other 
political subdivision of the State of North Carolina from contracting with any entity that is listed on the 
Final Divestment List created by the North Carolina State Treasurer pursuant to N.C.G.S. 147-86.58. 
N.C.G.S. 147-86.59 further requires that contractors with the State, a North Carolina local government, or 
any other political subdivision of the State of North Carolina must not utilize any subcontractor found on 
the State Treasurer’s Final Divestment List. As of the date of execution of this Agreement the Contractor 
hereby certifies that the Contractor is not listed on the Final Divestment List created by the North Carolina 
State Treasurer and that the Contractor will not utilize any subcontractors found on the Final Divestment 
List. 
 
28. NONDISCRIMINATION.   
Pursuant to Section 3-2 of the Town of Apex Code of Ordinances, Contractor hereby warrants and agrees 
that Contractor will not discriminate against a protected class in employment, subcontracting practices, or 
the solicitation or hiring of vendors, suppliers, or commercial customers in connection with this Agreement.  
For the purposes of this Agreement “protected class” includes age, race, religious belief or non-belief, 
ethnicity, color, national origin, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital status, natural hair 
style, genetic information, pregnancy, familial status, disability, veteran or military status, or disabled 
veteran status. 
 
29. ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE. 
Pursuant to Article 40 of Chapter 66 of the North Carolina General Statutes (the Uniform Electronic 
Transactions Act) this Agreement and all documents related hereto containing an electronic or digitized 
signature are legally binding in the same manner as are hard copy documents executed by hand signature.  
The Parties hereby consent to use electronic or digitized signatures in accordance with the Town’s 
Electronic Signature Policy and intend to be bound by the Agreement and any related documents. If 
electronic signatures are used the Agreement shall be delivered in an electronic record capable of retention 
by the recipient at the time of receipt. 
 

- Page 107 -



Page 6 of 6     Revision date 8‐28‐2023 

 

30. CONTRACTOR’S WARRANTIES 
The Contractor hereby warrants and represents that it will be responsible for the maintenance and correction 
of any work completed pursuant to this Agreement that is defective at construction or may become defective 
due to negligence or faulty workmanship or materials for a period of one (1) year after final acceptance by 
the Town of the work performed. 
 
31. BOND REQUIREMENTS 
Contractor agrees to provide the Town of Apex with a contract payment bond and a contract performance 
bond each in an amount equal to 100 percent of the amount of the Agreement.  All bonds shall be in 
accordance with N.C.G.S. 44A-33.  The corporate surety furnishing the bonds shall be authorized to do 
business in the State of North Carolina.  Failure to provide acceptable bonds shall be just cause for 
rescinding the award of the Agreement and forfeiture of the bid bond or bid deposit. 
 
32. INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS 
The following are included in the Contract Documents and are hereby incorporated by reference into this 
Agreement as if fully set forth herein: 

A. Bid Advertisement 
B. Bid Form 
C. Bid Form Submission 
D. Notice of Award 
E. Notice to Proceed 
F. Special Provisions/Specifications 
G. Plan Sheets/Maps 
H. Addenda 
I. Certificate of Insurance 

 
In witness thereof, the contracting parties, by their authorized agents, affix their signatures and seals 

this ____ day of ______________, 2023.  
        
Contractor 
 
Name: Browe Construction Company  

Name of Contractor (type or print)  
 
By:__________________________________ 

(Signature)  
 

Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 

(Secretary, if a corporation)   

Town of Apex 
 
_________________________________________ 
Shawn Purvis, Interim Town Manager 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________________________ 
Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk 

 
This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required 
by the Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 
 

_________________________________________ 
Antwan Morrison, Finance Director 

 
- Page 108 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk  

Department(s): Town Clerks Office 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve, as submitted or amended, Meeting Minutes from the following meeting:  

 October 19, 2023 – Town Council Work Session Meeting Minutes  

 October 24, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes  

 October 27, 2023 – Town Council Strategic Planning Work Session Meeting Minutes  

 

Approval Recommended? 

The Town Clerk recommends the Town Council approve the meeting minutes as presented or amended.  

Item Details 

In accordance with 160A-72 of North Carolina General Statues (NCGS), the Governing Board has the legal 

duty to approve all minutes that are entered into the official journal of the Board’s proceedings.  

 

Attachments 

 CN8-A1: DRAFT Minutes – October 19, 2023 – Town Council Work Session Meeting Minutes 
 CN8-A2: DRAFT Minutes – October 24, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes  

 CN8-A3: DRAFT Minutes – October 27, 2023 – Town Council Strategic Planning Work Session 
Meeting Minutes 

 

- Page 109 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 1 of 16 

 

TOWN OF APEX 1 
TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION   2 
THURSDAY, OCTOBER 19, 2023 3 

3:30 P.M.  4 

The Apex Town Council met for a work session on Thursday, October 19, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. at 5 
the Apex Town Hall located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex North Carolina. 6 

This meeting was open to the public.  Members of the public were able to attend this 7 
meeting in-person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel:  8 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p7i5mnQVpsA 9 

 10 

 [ATTENDANCE] 11 

 12 
Elected Body  13 
Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert (presiding)  14 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Audra Killingsworth  15 
Councilmember Brett Gantt  16 
Councilmember Ed Gray  17 
Councilmember Terry Mahaffey 18 
Councilmember Arno Zegerman  19 
Absent: None 20 

 21 
Town Staff  22 
Interim Town Manager Shawn Purvis  23 
Assistant Town Manager Demetria John  24 
Assistant Town Manager Marty Stone 25 
Deputy Town Attorney Brian Meyer 26 
Town Clerk Allen Coleman  27 
Deputy Town Clerk Ashley Gentry  28 
Budget and Performance Director Amanda Grogan  29 
Finance Director Antwan Morrison 30 
Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources Director Craig Seltzer 31 
Water Resources Director Mike Deaton 32 
All other staff members will be identified appropriately below.  33 

 34 

[COMMENCEMENT] 35 

 Mayor Gilbert called the meeting to order at 3:32 p.m. and led the Pledge of 36 
Allegiance. He then said Councilmember Gray will arrive around 4 p.m.  37 

- Page 110 -

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p7i5mnQVpsA


DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 2 of 16 

 

[ITEM NO. 1 – FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL UPDATE] 1 

 Antwan Morrison, Finance Director, gave a Financial update for Fiscal Year 2023.   2 

[SLIDE-1] 3 

  4 

[SLIDE-2] 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

- Page 111 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 3 of 16 

 

[SLIDE-3] 1 

 2 

Councilmember Mahaffey said his impression of the Town’s investments was that 3 
they were in secure investments. 4 

Director Morrison said he meant diverse as in not in a single bank. 5 

Councilmember Zegerman asked what is the actual fund balance. 6 

Director Morrison said he can get that information to him.  7 

[SLIDE-4] 8 

 9 

Councilmember Zegerman referenced future projects and said one of those may be 10 
the Western Wake Reclamation Facility a few years from now.   11 

Director Morrison said it’s up to the pleasure of the Council. He said they have funds 12 
available, and they can direct them wherever Council wants to prioritize. 13 

 14 

- Page 112 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 4 of 16 

 

 1 

[SLIDE-5] 2 

 3 

Councilmember Gantt asked if 14 million reflects the town’s growth and debt that’s 4 
been retired.  5 

Director Morrison said that’s correct. 6 

Councilmember Mahaffey said it’s not a tremendous amount of money for a bond.  7 

Councilmember Gantt they have done a bond every four years in part to increase 8 
capacity, but they typically wouldn’t do it every year. 9 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said it depends on what it’s worth because there are 10 
costs associated with it as well.  11 

Councilmember Zegerman said the town just issued a partial bond and said this 12 
could help offset a future bond sale or cover inflation. 13 

Director Morrison said the issuance was already authorized and this bond would 14 
have no effect.  15 

Councilman Zegerman asked if the 40 million will help offset the costs if it comes in 16 
at 50 million or more, or if the cost is the estimated 40, they had reserved they could tap into. 17 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said that is correct. He said the 14 million is debt 18 
capacity, and not necessarily a bond. He said the town will be going through reevaluation in 19 
the next year, which may have an impact on these numbers.  20 

Councilmember Gantt asked if the town did a revenue neutral rate next year would 21 
the debt capacity go up if housing prices went up. 22 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said it depends on some factors like bond ratings as 23 
well as the town’s operating capacity to handle debt services.  24 

- Page 113 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 5 of 16 

 

Councilmember Zegerman asked is the town capped by the internal policy of not 1 
having debt service more than 12 percent.  2 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said that is correct. He said that also speaks to the 3 
operational side and they also play off each other with checks and balances. He said the 4 
bond rating agency looks at many things and the town tries to stay within their boundaries. 5 

Councilmember Mahaffey said his understanding was that 14.5 million was not 6 
authorized to take on as debt and asked are there other debt mechanisms that are out there.  7 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said there are other debt mechanisms and the town is 8 
going to provide some education on that as well.  9 

Councilmember Mahaffey asked if the sales tax distribution is fixed. 10 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said they will know in November.  11 

 Councilmember Zegerman said they couldn’t go all the way to 14.5 million because 12 
of their internal 12 percent cap. 13 

  14 

[ITEM NO. 2 – FINANCIAL POLICY/TARGETS FRAMWORK] 15 

[SLIDE-6] 16 

 17 

Councilmember Gray arrived at 3:51pm.  18 

Councilmember Gantt asked why 90 days. 19 

Director Morrison said it will help the town get the best rating. 20 

Councilmember Gantt asked if there was a reason why the number of days of water 21 
and sewer was higher than electric.  22 

Director Morrison said he did not know the exact reason, but it’s been his experience 23 
that at least 120 days but no more than 150 to 200 days.   24 

- Page 114 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 6 of 16 

 

Interim Town Manager Purvis said it’s also what is seen in the industry, but this is 1 
best practice by what other municipalities and agencies are doing and how they are 2 
operating. He said he also doesn’t exactly know why electric and water and sewer are 3 
different,  4 

Councilmember Gantt asked if there was a physical reason, such as if a hurricane 5 
would affect water and sewer more than electric. He asked if something like that may be the 6 
reason.  7 

Director Morrison said he will get more information on this.  8 

Mayor Pro-Tempore Killingsworth asked if any cash on hand that goes above the 9 
200-day target would be moved to the Capital Reserve Fund. 10 

Director Morrison said they would want to put any of the dollars above that threshold 11 
to work. 12 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said some of the projects they are wanting to do 13 
down the road they could not immediately get in process. 14 

 Director Morrison said that was correct. 15 

Councilmember Zegerman asked regarding the larger projects do we prefer the 16 
debt services over a savings route. 17 

 Director Morrison said the reason you would issue debt services is for a larger 18 
project and limit the amount of debt to issue to offset. He said that’s where the other funds 19 
will come into play. 20 

 Councilmember Zegerman said we can go spend the money now on capital projects 21 
and use debt issuance for the Western Wake Reclamation project in the future or keep some 22 
cash on hand and let it grow and issue less debt. 23 

 Director Morrison said that’s the direction he needs from Council regarding what are 24 
the project priorities and staff will go back and internally figure out what is the best rate 25 
option for issuing debt.   26 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the 150% seems like it would cut our debt capacity.  27 

 Director Morrison said typically the town would not feed into that because the town 28 
has the availability to have $1.50 for every dollar and said that’s not where we are at this 29 
moment. He said right now they have more than that. He said the floor of 150% is to meet the 30 
guidelines. 31 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if this is only for revenue bonds. 32 

 Director Morrison said yes that’s correct, these would only affect revenue bonds. 33 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if unplanned events happen would it hurt our 34 
capacity if you set a floor amount and then cannot go below that set amount. 35 

- Page 115 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 7 of 16 

 

 Director Morrison said it wouldn’t hurt our capacity, it would limit the opportunity to 1 
have available cash below that limit.  2 

 Councilmember Gray asked why there hasn’t been a floor on the two-line items in the 3 
past. 4 

 Director Morrison said he is not sure on the history, and staff is also not 5 
recommending that they have one. He said he wants to look at all alternatives and put the 6 
town in the best position possible.  7 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said in both of these cases they are restricted in how 8 
the revenue is generated and in the use of the funds. He said this is different from operating 9 
funds, where there are requirements from the state. He said it would be a policy decision if 10 
they want to always have something there. He said they could set this floor, but still be able to 11 
go below the floor if it was necessary. He said that was okay for rating agencies as well, as 12 
long as their was a plan for getting back above the floor. 13 

 Director Morrison said the bond agencies understood their decision to use the 4 14 
million in the communal fund, as they felt it was an appropriate use and the town had a solid 15 
plan for building it back up. He said they reaffirmed the town’s AAA status. 16 

 Councilmember Gray said he appreciates giving this explanation because if the town 17 
creates a rule then it’s the town’s responsibility to follow up to exclude any problems.  18 

 Councilmember Gantt asked during the finance committee were there discussion 19 
about Council or future Councils being able to spend money faster versus not which the 20 
alternative would be residents wouldn’t get things that they want as fast.  21 

 Councilmember Gray said he wanted to make it clear that the Finance Committee is 22 
not establishing a policy, he said to farad out the issues and present it back to the 23 
department, then bring it back to Council for another conversation.  24 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the town have an obligation to spend taxpayer’s 25 
money or give it back in some form. He said that is why having a policy that is too high is bad. 26 

 Councilmember Zegerman said if the town is sitting on cash they are not spending 27 
then they were not servicing the community right. 28 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the projects are only getting more expensive. He said 29 
projects will cost more in the future, along with the accrual of sitting money. 30 

 Councilmember Gantt said the choice was made by previous Councils to largely 31 
build up reserve and not do the projects.  32 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said that was unfortunate, as projects would have been 33 
much cheaper then. He said he thinks some of the values were reverse engineered from out 34 
AAA bond rating. He said our debt capacity and our financial position is an asset we have that 35 
the town should put to work for our citizens.    36 

- Page 116 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 8 of 16 

 

 Councilmember Zegerman said a better way would be to spend some of the excess 1 
money and reduce some of the backlog projects. He said it would make more sense to sit on 2 
a higher rate of reserves if their backlog wasn’t so big.  3 

 Councilmember Gray said staff does an amazing job at finding the most cost-4 
effective way of dealing with the cost of things so we budget for the worst and then create a 5 
surplus.  6 

 Councilmember Zegerman said sitting on this capital is bad but we have to put it to 7 
use, he said people would feel they are being overtaxed if the rates go up and ends up only 8 
supporting reserves.  9 

 Mayor Pro-Tempore Killingsworth said we are giving back.  10 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said we do give them back sidewalks, which is a public 11 
good and not necessarily cash back in hand. 12 

 Mayor Pro-Tempore Killingsworth said the floors are linked to our development 13 
and the thought on creating a floor is not a good idea, and said would like to hear more of 14 
Pros and Cons of this. 15 

 Director Morrison said this was a very good discussion and will help give him 16 
guidance on planning.  17 

 Amanda Grogan, Budget and Performance Director, gave an update on the 5-Year 18 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  19 

 [SLIDE-7] 20 

 21 

 Councilmember Gantt asked when applying for grants do some companies build 22 
roads and parks as a package to get bids. 23 

 Director Grogan said there will typically have a contractor and a subcontractor.  She 24 
said they package some things with roadways together, but not to that level. 25 

- Page 117 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 9 of 16 

 

 Councilmember Gantt said he figures some companies won’t bid if it’s below a 1 
certain level.  2 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said there are General Civil Engineers out there and 3 
they get the larger projects and they will sub everything else out. 4 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if there certain efficiencies of scale that the town is 5 
missing out on. 6 

 Director Grogan said the town does do that now but also depends on the packaging.  7 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said you’re likely to get more bidders based on the 8 
size project, and they do take that into consideration. 9 

 Assistant Town Manager Stone said some of the contactors are maxed out and they 10 
can’t take on more projects because of bonding rates on contracts.  11 

 Director Grogan said we do package a lot of those and staff will combine and roll it 12 
out in one contract.  13 

 14 

[ITEM NO. 3 – TYPES OF FINANCING (EDUCATION)] 15 

[SLIDE-8] 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

- Page 118 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 10 of 16 

 

[SLIDE-9] 1 

 2 

 Mayor Gilbert asked if this applies to public-private partnerships, and if there are 3 
challenges and opportunities with those. 4 

 Director Morrison said it depends on the project. He said those types of partnerships 5 
do not fall into these types of funds and said that’s something worth exploring.  6 

 Mayor Gilbert said that’s a possibility to explore. He said they’re opportunity as a 7 
community to get good use out of it or perhaps an organization that would like to partner 8 
and make it worth that way.  9 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked how much Holly Springs makes per year for the 10 
naming rights for Ting Park. 11 

 Director Morrison said 200,000 dollars per year. 12 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if a concession stand would work, such as a private 13 
entity building a concession stand at a park and operating it. 14 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said if the town pursues public-private partnership 15 
there are multiple ways the agreement can state what to do and what not to do. He said 16 
financing would be contribution from both sides depending on the size of the project. He 17 
added there could be tension on the goals of the public party and of the private party. He 18 
said as a board they can discuss and figure out what’s best for the community.  He said this 19 
would be discussed a little later in the meeting. 20 

 21 

[ITEM NO. 4 – FINANCING RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUND IMPACTS FOR UPCOMING 22 
PROJECTS – GENERAL FUND (PLEASANT PARK, TOWN HALL) AND WATER/SEWER (BIG 23 
BRAND)] 24 

 25 

- Page 119 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 11 of 16 

 

[SLIDE-10] 1 

 2 

[SLIDE-11] 3 

 4 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if the town hasn’t tried yet or didn’t get awarded 5 
grants.  6 

 Councilmember Gantt said it was earmarked so there were no grants. 7 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if the town can hire a lobbyist tomorrow.  8 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the money is handled annually and we never 9 
know what the amount is available on the grant. He said it’s a process within the general 10 
assembly then it comes to the town around January or February and staff will look at what 11 
projects are available. He said next week council will have an opportunity to talk about 12 
projects and what the next steps look like.  13 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the town needs someone in the General Assembly. 14 
He said Apex is large enough to have someone advocate directly for the town. He said he 15 

- Page 120 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 12 of 16 

 

thinks it is necessary and they need to do it going forward. He said it was a shame that the 1 
town did not get anything for grants last year when surrounding municipalities did and the 2 
projects Apex has planned are fully in line with the state’s goals. He said he thinks retaining a 3 
lobbyist will pay for itself, and they can revisit if it does not. 4 

 Councilmember Gray said we have got to do a better job about explaining our line 5 
items at the General Assembly. He said they could explain the return on investment better. 6 
He added it’s bad we didn’t get that money and the town should have received it.  7 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said there are things the town can look into and firms 8 
who can handle this as well.  9 

 Director Morrison asked if Council is okay with staff proceeding with planning for a 10 
revenue bond for the Big Branch 2 project with using some of the reserves for the project 11 
while also exploring other options. He said he would like to start with the two options of 12 
revenue bonds and the use of fund balance fund equity. 13 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked when would we issue the bond. 14 

 Director Morrison said depends on project timing. He said he will discuss making 15 
sure the timing is right. 16 

 Councilmember Gray asked what is the working timeline to decide.  17 

 Director Morrison said with Council giving direction we have to have a feasibility 18 
study done which could take five to seven months. The amount of water and sewer projects 19 
that are going, he can only imagine those companies are slammed and wants to get our 20 
name in the our there now. He said it takes a lot of time approximately eight months for a 21 
feasibility and four to six months working throughout the process and meet with the LGC and 22 
approval. He said it will take at least twelve to eighteen months minimum for the whole 23 
process.  24 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it has nothing to do with the technical aspects of 25 
the project. He said if the project moves forward it’s a combination of cash and debt. He said 26 
this is strictly the financing of this project to show Council what it would look like.  27 

 Councilmember Gray said that is what he was looking for. He said as a Council 28 
there’s concern in making sure were using tax payers’ dollars the right way. He said they are 29 
still early on in the planning stage for BB2. 30 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said it looks like the town has more capacity to fund BB2 31 
from water and sewer equity versus revenue. He asked why the recommendation is only 4 32 
million and not higher.  33 

 Director Morrison said because of other projects, such as the Western Wake Water 34 
Reclamation project. He said were planning for not only this project but other projects to 35 
decide where the funds will go.  36 

- Page 121 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 13 of 16 

 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the 40 million is the projected total and said this 1 
is an additional 4 million. He said this a bit fluid, as they could potentially access funds from 2 
the state. 3 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked what the impact will be for paying back the 4 
revenue bonds. 5 

 Director Morrison said that’s why they are discussing this to see what direction to go. 6 
He said this is the first step and to complete the rate study and do a rate and debt model. He 7 
said staff need Council’s approval to move forward with financing options.  8 

 Director Grogan said if it’s something that Council does not want to do then that’s 9 
when staff would take it off the table and present Council with more options.  10 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said revenue bond makes sense but would like to see the 11 
number from a rate study. He said they would not want to have to raise rates too high. 12 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the town fully expects some funds will help cover 13 
a portion of the cost. 14 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if the town can create a water district and assess to 15 
them only if it benefits a certain part of the town.  16 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said special assessment is complicated and the public 17 
usually ends up paying, even if it is for the private side. He said it needs to be very worth it to 18 
go that route. 19 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if challenges are the management. He asked could 20 
the town do a special district for a utility rate.  21 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it would be an additional bill/payment.  22 

 Councilmember Zegerman said the rate model will tell us that.  23 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said if it’s a significant price increase they would have to 24 
look at other revenue sources.  25 

 Director Grogan said she could look into it but there would have to be an 26 
assessment. She said the assessment follows the property not the applicant. 27 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said if the rate study comes back and we should be able 28 
to line up we need to do for the rates over time.  29 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said there is a tolerance level on the impact of fees. 30 
He said staff will evaluate what is that percentage and bring back to Council for potential 31 
options.  32 

 Mayor Gilbert said he would like a vote to make it official.  33 

 34 

 35 

- Page 122 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 14 of 16 

 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth, seconded by 1 
Councilmember Zegerman, to approve the staff recommendation. 2 

 3 

VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0)  4 

 5 

 Director Morrison moved on with Pleasant Park and Town Hall renovations and 6 
stated this is a package recommendation.  7 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked what is the 3 million for renovations.  8 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said this is part of the space needs plan and our 9 
expansion for the Mason Street Building. He said they were trying to improve customer 10 
experience for those departments, and give Community Development and Neighborhood 11 
Connections a place to go. He said the 3 million is an estimate and this project would happen 12 
over the course of two years.  13 

 Councilmember Zegerman said there are a number of departments moving out and 14 
asked would it create space for community outreach to go.  15 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it’s not structured for that department to go right 16 
now, as it was built for planning, inspections, and finance. He said the number of offices 17 
needs to be looked at and maximize our space at Town Hall.  18 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said if Council wants to move forward with Pleasant 19 
Park it will likely take financing and cash to move forward and gave them the option to wait. 20 
He said staff sees this as the best alternative to complete it now. 21 

 Councilmember Gantt asked has anyone thought about something else for Pleasant 22 
Park and not do it in this form.  23 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said this is based off the intent and design in 2017. He 24 
said looking at the numbers there is still a wait list for the towns Youth Baseball programs 25 
because the town does not have field capacity and you have to have a certain number of 26 
fields to run the games. He said there is a growing wait list even with expanded 27 
programming. 28 

 Director Setzer said there is infrastructure now for baseball and if the scope was 29 
changed it would change the infrastructure that’s already there from a drainage perspective.  30 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the footprint and infrastructure is there.  31 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said if the plan changed then the town owes it to the 32 
citizens to go back to them to ask to remaster the plan.  33 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it doesn’t necessarily change the costs either. 34 

- Page 123 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 15 of 16 

 

 Mayor Gilbert asked what are the projections for economic development side for full 1 
buildout and what type of revenue would it bring to the town.  2 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said we try to find a balance for public enjoyment. He 3 
said we try to balance our fields and amenities are open for the public and when they are 4 
taken up by town or rental programs. He said with economic development piece there are 5 
potentially tournaments coming and the town has gotten calls already. He said he has 6 
received interest from our fellow local governments both at the county and municipalities of 7 
wanting to do regional tournaments which will bring people to Apex to eat at our restaurants 8 
and shop at our shopping centers.  9 

 10 

A motion was made by Councilmember Ed Gray, seconded by Mayor Pro Tempore 11 
Audra Killingsworth, to approve the staff recommendation for Pleasant Park and Town Hall 12 
Renovations. 13 

 14 

VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 15 

 16 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said staff will move forward with getting things in 17 
place and come back to you. He said this does not preclude from staff looking from 18 
additional revenue sources to be clear.  19 

 Councilmember Gray asked why staff hasn’t looked into SCIF funds without asking 20 
Council.  21 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said staff tries to identify any grants that apply and 22 
some we haven’t had the capacity to explore yet. He said this is more informational for 23 
Council. 24 

 Councilmember Gray said it would help if the Town had a lobbyist.  25 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it could help at the state level, and it would 26 
depend what the connections are.  27 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if the SCIFs are earmarked, such as the ones that paid 28 
for firetrucks recently. 29 

 Councilmember Gray said yes. 30 

 31 

 32 

 33 

 34 

 35 

- Page 124 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 16 of 16 

 

[SLIDE-12] 1 

 2 
 3 
[ADJOURNEMENT] 4 
  5 

Mayor Gilbert adjourned the meeting at 4:58p.m.  6 
 7 
 8 
 9 
 10 

Jacques K. Gilbert 11 
Apex, Mayor  12 

 13 
 14 
Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 15 
Apex, Town Clerk  16 
 17 
Submitted for approval by Apex Town Clerk Allen Coleman.  18 
 19 
Minutes approved on _______ of ___________, 2023. 20 

- Page 125 -



Page 1 of 30 
 

TOWN OF APEX 1 

REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 2 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 24, 2023 3 

6:00 PM 4 

 5 
The Apex Town Council met for a Regular Town Council Meeting on Tuesday, October 24, 2023 at 6 

6:00 PM in the Council Chambers at Apex Town Hall, located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex, North 7 

Carolina. 8 

 9 

This meeting was open to the public.  Members of the public were able to attend this meeting in-10 

person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel. The recording of this 11 

meeting can be viewed here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kwkgoJQ2rqE 12 

 13 
[ATTENDANCE] 14 

 15 

Elected Body 16 

Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert (presiding)  17 

Mayor Pro Tempore Audra Killingsworth 18 

Councilmember Brett Gantt  19 

Councilmember Ed Gray  20 

Councilmember Arno Zegerman  21 

Councilmember Terry Mahaffey 22 

Absent: None 23 

 24 

Town Staff 25 

Interim Town Manager Shawn Purvis 26 

Assistant Town Manager Demetria John  27 

Assistant Town Manager Marty Stone 28 

Deputy Town Attorney Brian Meyer 29 

Town Clerk Allen Coleman  30 

Deputy Town Clerk Ashley Gentry 31 

Planning Director Dianne Khin 32 

Fire Chief Tim Herman  33 

Deputy Fire Chief David Dillon 34 

All other staff members will be identified appropriately below 35 

 36 

[COMMENCEMENT] 37 

 38 

 Mayor Gilbert called the meeting to order, and thanked everyone for watching and 39 

attending. He then invited everyone to join in a moment of silence. 40 

 Mayor Gilbert led in the recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance. 41 

 42 

 43 

- Page 126 -

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kwkgoJQ2rqE


Page 2 of 30 
 

[SLIDE 1] 1 

 2 

[CONSENT AGENDA] 3 

 4 

 A motion was made by Councilmember Zegerman, seconded by Councilmember Gantt, 5 

to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 6 

 7 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 8 

 9 

CN1 Annexation No. 770 – Legacy Station – 26.63 acres (REF: RES-2023-064, RES-2023-065, 10 

and OTHER-2023-107) 11 

Council votes to adopt a Resolution Directing the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition Received, to 12 

accept the Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, and to adopt a Resolution setting the Date of 13 

a Public Hearing for November 14, 2023, on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town Council’s 14 

intent to annex 26.63 acres, Legacy Station, Satellite Annexation No. 770 into the Town Corporate 15 

Limits. 16 

CN2 Council Meeting Minutes – October 10, 2023 17 

Council voted to approve, as submitted or amended, Meeting Minutes from the following meeting: 18 

October 10, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes 19 

CN3 Fee Schedule Amendments – Fiscal Year 2023-2024 20 

Council voted to approve amended Fee Schedule for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 to include addition of 21 

mattress and box spring disposal fee and increase to wholesale water rates and columbarium rates. 22 

CN4 Ordinance Amendment – Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 – Pleasant Park 23 

Hours of Operation (REF: ORD-2023-107) 24 

Council voted to approve an Ordinance Amendment amending Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, 25 

Section 15-6 of the Town Code to include Pleasant Park opening and closing times. 26 

  27 

[PRESENTATIONS] 28 

 29 

PR1 Proclamation – American Indian Heritage Month – November 2023 (REF: PRO-2023-30 

035) 31 

- Page 127 -



Page 3 of 30 
 

 Mayor Gilbert and the rest of Council read the American Indian Heritage Month 2023 1 

Proclamation in unity. 2 

 Representatives of the Triangle Native American Society accepted the Proclamation and took 3 

a picture with the Mayor and Council. 4 

 Mr. Wynn thanked the Mayor and Council for their support, and said Celeste Sherer and Lisa 5 

Raschke have been great to work with. He said the Triangle Native American Society looks forward 6 

to working with the town in the future.  7 

 8 

PR2 Proclamation – Italian American Heritage Month – October 2023 (REF: PRO-2023-036) 9 

 Mayor Gilbert and the rest of Council read the Italian American Heritage Month 2023 10 

Proclamation in unity. 11 

 Michael D’Amore accepted the Proclamation, and took a picture with the Mayor and 12 

Council. 13 

 Mr. D’Amore thanked the Mayor, Council, and the residents of Apex. He said it has been a 14 

very welcoming community. He said Apex is one of the most welcoming communities, and he is 15 

excited to work with the community to continue making it welcoming to the Italian American 16 

community. 17 

 18 

[REGULAR MEETING AGENDA] 19 

 20 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth, seconded by Councilmember 21 

Gray, to approved the Regular Meeting Agenda as presented. 22 

 23 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 24 

 25 

[PUBLIC FORUM] 26 

 27 

[SLIDE 2] 28 

 29 
 30 

 31 

 32 

- Page 128 -



Page 4 of 30 
 

 First to speak was Beth Bland of 3724 Friendship Road: 1 

 2 

“There are two items that I want to talk about this evening. The first item concerns your October 19 3 

Work Session. The Big Branch Force Main was on the agenda, concerning funding for the project. 4 

There was no notification to any property owners affected by this project, and I would like to say 5 

anything to do with the Big Branch Force Main is of interest to both my husband, myself, and I’m sure 6 

many of the other property owners. And that included the funding. Councilman Gray, I did watch it 7 

on YouTube, you were absolutely correct with your comment that we definitely would question the 8 

Council as to why our properties have been subject to all the inspections of our properties, and the 9 

threat of eminent domain, when this project is not even fully funded yet. So, I just wanted to bring 10 

that up. The second item concerns the Friendship Road. The one-mile section from US 1 to Old US 1, 11 

or the Apex part of Friendship Road. It’s only about a mile. There is a zoning request in front of the 12 

Holly Springs Council for the Friendship Innovation Park, the developers are asking to add 13 

residential areas, including two seven-story apartment buildings with 600 units in each building. 14 

There are also numerous projects that will be completed by Apex on Old US 1, that will probably 15 

happen in the next year or two. Including the Park, Depot 499, I think Holland Road has a project on 16 

it. And all this will continue to increase the traffic on Friendship Road, which is already a problem to 17 

get off of the road onto US 1. I believe there may be an effort going on for Apex, Holly Springs, and 18 

DOT to address this. I don’t know if that’s for sure, but I think, or I’d like to hope that that’s being 19 

considered. I would like to encourage you to make it a priority. The infrastructure is not in place to 20 

handle all the growth that is occurring right now. So, I would just appreciate it if you would work with 21 

Holly Springs and NCDOT and figure this out. Because the US 1 corridor, you know it’s so noisy, and 22 

you can’t even get on Old US 1 at certain times of day. So, thank you for listening, I appreciate it.” 23 

 24 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Bland for her comments.  25 

 26 

 Next to speak was Dawn Cozzalino of 3632 Bosco Road: 27 

 28 

“I laid out two cones here, one is C and one is E, and these reflect the space of roughly 30 feet. I’d 29 

like you to think about this space, and why it’s significant. If you think a moment, when there was a 30 

time when there was a severe storm or even a tornado came through the Apex area. Numerous 31 

times, it was fine. But there was that one storm, that just, was so unfortunate and just devastates and 32 

breaks everything in its path. Including part of your cherished home. The Western Big Branch and 33 

Force Main is that terrible severe storm. Cones, 30 feet. That easement is 18 acres of tree canopy this 34 

way. It’s basically a default, most utility easement are this width. That’s man-made destruction. And 35 

the replacement wouldn’t be any nice repairs on your house or roof, it would actually be these really 36 

unattractive arch structures and smelly ventilation pipes. It could be avoided with our Town Council 37 

here tonight. With doing due diligence. And what I mean by that is having those difficult 38 

conversations with the Town of Holly, with the DOT, with Utility companies. That the people of Apex 39 

have elected you with confidence to have. It’s your duty to consider all other alternatives for the 40 

town, and these alternatives that least impact peoples property or the environment, the tree canopy, 41 

for one. The design solution for the Western Big Branch and Force Main that causes actually the least 42 

amount of impact is one that hasn’t been discussed fully. And that’s the south side of US 1. This 43 

solution impressively causes the least impact by not decreasing property values, not adding traffic 44 

- Page 129 -



Page 5 of 30 
 

pollution and traffic noise, which Beth mentioned. Or losing these 18 acres of tree canopy within 1 

these two cones. Most importantly, it would not gut 30 feet of somebody’s cherished property and 2 

land. We’re talking about the New Hill and Friendship farms. Thank you very much.” 3 

 4 

 Next to speak was James Jesserer of 1366 Elk River Drive: 5 

 6 

“In a Closed Session, Town Council declined our request to appeal 1305 Holt Road Variance, which 7 

is 23VAR01. Regardless, we are here tonight to present compelling new information, questions, and 8 

concerns. On the BOA process itself, and we will use our experience at the BOA and the BOA 9 

minutes to illustrate these concerns. My remarks will exclusively focus on process. For steadfast and 10 

evenhanded adherence to process are the keys to good governance. Process must be easy to 11 

understand, accessible, and evenly applied to all parties. Let’s start with the BOA minutes. Our 12 

colleague Don Braden requested and received from June Cowles BOA minutes that were marked as 13 

revised and final. These minutes were 38 pages. And I’ve given copies of everything. 38 pages. Of 14 

heavily edited minutes. We knew they were edited due to the redlined added sections. We don’t 15 

know who, or why they were redlined. While reviewing the minutes, we received yet another official 16 

and now signed minutes of the BOA, which were only 17 pages long. It would take a forensic 17 

investigation to determine what was added, and then what was deleted to get to 17 pages. We offer 18 

these two documents as evidence of our concern. These two different sets of minutes are a reflection 19 

of the chaos of that July BOA meeting. How would any of you react to receiving two such 20 

documents? What would your level of confidence be regarding the BOA meeting, and would you 21 

not wonder if the meeting notes were possibly altered to justify the decision? Was this ineptitude, or 22 

simply something else? And is it illustrative of good process? Continuing on process, process needs 23 

a legal expert to make sure a BOA meeting strictly adheres to guidelines. My colleague, Chuck 24 

Mettina wrote a letter to Mayor Gilbert, Chairman Carmac, and Town Attorney Hohe, with concerns 25 

that Ms. Hohe and Chair Carmac had engaged in ex-parte communications about the BOA, 26 

communication strictly forbidden by BOA process. In her response, which I have also made a copy of 27 

for the Town Council, Ms. Hohe made it clear that the BOA was Hohe’s client. Ms. Hohe stated, by 28 

including our attorney Mr. Kuhn on the email with Mr. Carmac, that communication is not considered 29 

ex-parte. Ms. Hohe further added her communication with Mr. Carmac, could be, and this is a quote, 30 

be in private to preserve the attorney-client privilege, and that such communication between an 31 

attorney and her client is not ex-parte communication. Honestly, we were satisfied with her first 32 

statement. But the second statement remains problematic for transparency and accountability. So 33 

who stands for process at the BOA? Certainly not Attorneys Hohe and Welsh, they are there to serve 34 

their client, the BOA, and it would be a gross error to conflate serving process and serving the BOA, 35 

for they are separate and distinct parties. Who is the arbitrator of process? I will use the July BOA to 36 

outline the critical role of process adherence and how lack of process can and did lead to a flawed 37 

decision. Jason Barron used two witnesses as rebuttal witnesses. Now, bear with me, a rebuttal 38 

witness is someone who is called to testify in order to contradict or disapprove the testimony of a 39 

witness called by the opposition. Their testimony must be confined solely to the subject matter of 40 

the evidence rebutted. New evidence on other subjects may not be brought into the rebuttal. Ok, 41 

Mr. Barron called Mr. Roach in rebuttal to Don Braden, and Roach talked at great length about 42 

nothing that Braden spoke about. Instead, Mr. roach made the applicant’s case, none of which 43 

should have been allowed. Where was the advocate for process? Mr. Barron then called Mr. Adams 44 

- Page 130 -



Page 6 of 30 
 

as a rebuttal witness to the testimony of Chuck Mettina, and Adams proceeded to testify on a wide 1 

array of topics, again intended to make the applicant’s case, but for the most part, totally unrelated 2 

to the testimony of Mr. Mettina. Both Roach and Adams were called as rebuttal witnesses, and both 3 

were allowed to violate process. We have fundamental issues with their testimony, but we are here 4 

to focus on process. Again, where was the advocate for process? Mr. Barron objected at least 13 5 

times in the 17-page version of the minutes, including an objection advance, whatever that means. 6 

We, however, ask if these objections, real or imaginary, can have an impact on the BOA, and the 7 

answer is yes, of course. That’s why attorneys routinely use objections. Who is ruling on those 8 

objections? The answer, according to the minutes, is no one. Hohe and Welsh serve the BOA, by 9 

objecting, Barron served the applicant. And due process was an orphan, and without due process, 10 

justice was unborn. This leads me to the issue of hearsay testimony being allowed at the July BOA, a 11 

flagrant violation of BOA guidelines. Review the minutes, any mention of DOT opinion without 12 

documentation is hearsay. There was no representative of the DOT present at the BOA, yet Mr. 13 

Roach, Mr. Dalton, and in particular, Mr. Adams were allowed to testify or comment to the dictates of 14 

the NCDOT, and it was Mr. Adams, who in a response to a question from Vice-Chair Johnson, who 15 

asked the following question, do we know beyond a shadow of doubt that NCDOT would not permit 16 

a curb cut on Holt Road, and Mr. Adams said correct, the Town asked, and we have asked, and 17 

NCDOT has said in no uncertain terms that there’s no driveway access from Holt would be allowed. 18 

That is all hearsay, and should have been disallowed. But there was no advocate for process at the 19 

BOA. And in addition to hearsay at the BOA. In addition to hearsay, Mr. Adams statement might 20 

even have been more damning. I offer the only written statement by the NCDOT from a Mr. Jacob 21 

Nicholson, Assistant District Engineer of the NCDOT, which calls into question the veracity of the 22 

statement of Mr. Adams. Here I’ll read it, and you have copies of this. If the existing parcel is not 23 

subdivided, and only one single home occupies the parcel, the existing driveway may be used as 24 

long as it does not cause a safety hazard or drainage issue. The department would not require a 25 

driveway permit. If their lot is subdivided, and/or has multiple houses on it, they would likely be 26 

required to access through Elk River Drive, pending approval from the Town of Apex. So we’ll share 27 

everything. The word “likely” is not the phrase Mr. Adams used, which is beyond the possibility. It 28 

certainly wasn’t within a shadow of a doubt which is what they said, and likely is not close to 29 

uncertain terms. Unfortunately, process was not upheld, and the damage was done. Vice Chair 30 

Johnson used Adams testimony of Page 14 of the minutes, stating independent of that, there was 31 

testimony from a witness that they did speak to the NCDOT. Vice Chair Johnson has swallowed the 32 

hook of a clever attorney, and has paid witness of, all of which was hearsay, all because there was no 33 

advocate for process at the meeting. The real victim of this lack of process now is Don Braden and 34 

his wife Cheryl, who suffers from Alzheimers. We can’t fault Jason Barron for being an advocate for 35 

his client any more than you could fault a guard dog for biting someone. You can’t fault Ms. Hohe, 36 

who serves the BOA. You can’t fault a group of decent volunteer citizens for not knowing process. 37 

You can’t even fault Vice Chair Johnson who said, and I quote, it was the opposing parties’ 38 

responsibility to bring in the evidence contrary to the testimony. Johnson is flat out wrong. A process 39 

advocate would have disallowed that testimony, and justice should never be hostage to having paid 40 

representation. I could get arrested for robbery in Apex, and get free legal counsel. Are you telling 41 

me that voters, taxpaying citizens can’t expect the same opportunity at the BOA?” 42 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Mr. Jesserer, and said they would definitely be in touch. 43 

 44 

- Page 131 -



Page 7 of 30 
 

Next to speak was Dean Krupa of 2001 Simca Court: 1 

 2 

“Before I get started with what I wanted to talk about, I just wanted to give a little background about 3 

who I am and where I came from. I moved here about a year ago from Arizona. I lived there for about 4 

28 years, I tried to escape most of those years, it’s a hard place to live. But I moved here now and this 5 

is my home. I love it here, I love the trees, I love the nature, I love the rural character, the farms, I love 6 

taking my dogs for a walk and meeting neighbors, I have a neighbor back there, I like to see my 7 

daughter play outside. But as I grow older, and not just here but in Arizona, I’m really concerned 8 

we’re losing our wild habitats, trees are getting cut down, we’re losing clean air, clean water. I got 9 

involved with environmental groups back in Arizona, I hope to do so here. But I also learned that I 10 

need to get involved in this form. I started a conversation online on NextDoor, and a lot of people 11 

feel the same way that I do, and you guys talked about the issues. But I posted three different 12 

messages over about a month and a half, and Councilman Mahaffey was part of those messages, it 13 

generated about 529 comments, so there’s a lot of people feeling concerned. But we have to get 14 

that conversation offline and in front of people. We have to work together. So, my goal is to get 15 

more involved. I tried to get others to be here, and fill these seats, I think it’s important for all of us to 16 

learn. I’ve been watching the replays of the Town Council meetings online, it’s fascinating, you guys 17 

have great questions, great conversations, I love the back and forth. There’s a lot of terminology I 18 

don’t understand, so I want to just dive in and learn, and went to a meet and greet with 19 

Councilmember Zegerman and Councilmember Mahaffey last night, and learned their platforms and 20 

what they stand for. That’s why I’m here, I want to recruit others, there’s a lot of great ideas, I met with 21 

this group, there’s a lot of great ideas so I’m just trying to bring more people and get more voices 22 

heard. So, thank you.” 23 

 24 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Mr. Krupa for his comments. He then instructed Town Clerk Coleman 25 

to reach back out to the speakers tonight to connect and help address their concerns. Mayor Gilbert 26 

closed Public Forum and moved the meeting to Public Hearings.  27 

 28 

 Mayor Gilbert noticed someone additional who wished to speak during Public Forum, and 29 

re-opened it. 30 

 31 

 Stuart Wagner of 302 Country Valley Court: 32 

 33 

“Good evening Mayor Gilbert, members of the Town Council. Thank you for giving me some tonight 34 

to be able to speak to the Town Council about GoApex Route 1, and our Public Transport bus. My 35 

name is Stuart Wagner, I’ve lived in Apex since 2001, I’m a citizen volunteering as chairman of the 36 

Apex Transit Advisory Committee. My connection to transit specifically started with my connection to 37 

the local Cary bus service in 2006, with regular ridership on the GoCary system from Apex to my 38 

workplace in Cary. Since then, public transportation use has become such that I have chosen my 39 

various doctors, physicians, dentist, etc. because they are located on various Apex and Cary bus 40 

routes. When I was offered a chance to a part of Apex’s journey into public transportation by former 41 

Mayor Olive, I leapt at it. And it is with great pride that I am able to stand here today and say that 42 

more than a full year Apex has been on the transit map. Our committee worked long and hard to 43 

bring GoApex Route 1 into existence, and we’re very encouraged by the response and ridership of 44 

- Page 132 -



Page 8 of 30 
 

our citizens, our young families, teens, and adults, both able-bodied and less-bodied of Apex. And 1 

of course, by our town leaders. Now that we have passed our first anniversary of our inaugural ride, 2 

I’d like to share some facts about GoApex Route 1. The GoApex Route 1’s circulator runs fare-free, 3 

Monday through Saturday, from 6 AM to 10 PM, except for major holidays, returning to Town Hall at 4 

the top of each hour. Along with the regular bus service, there’s also the door-to-door service 5 

offering as well. The hourly loop has 45 stops and serves our community as far south as the Wal-Mart 6 

shopping center in the Cambridge Village Retirement Center, North and West to the Publix 7 

Shopping Center, with stops through Beaver Creek and Downtown. There are also stops at the 8 

growing Apex WakeMed complex, and the Apex Senior Center. Over the course of the last 15 9 

months, we have seen ridership maintain a steady state with an average of 1,100 boardings per 10 

month. To be clear, that is 40 people per day, over a 27-day average month. Our latest data point 11 

was August of this year, when we logged 1,535 boardings over 27 days of operation, this is almost a 12 

20% increase from the same month a year previous. Our professionally-licensed CDL drivers 13 

regularly hit an on-time of 90% or better, and by industry standards, this is in the exceptional range. 14 

Our committee realizes Apex and surrounding areas are booming in growth, and with a more 15 

cosmopolitan population to boot. Hence, we are working on several enhancement items including a 16 

bus stop improvement program, a bus stop art project, a stop-change feature to better serve those 17 

using the Senior Center, and last and certainly not least, how we scale the system to keep up with 18 

Apex’s growth. Whether this is more frequency, adding Sunday route service, or even a second 19 

route, we are ready for the challenge as we move into 2024. The Transit Advisory Committee has 20 

appreciated the support of the Council, and our growing ridership. We’re looking forward to that 21 

same spirit of guidance, cooperation, public support, and vision that we’ve had since we formed the 22 

committee. The Transit Advisory Committee has solicited input from our citizens about a variety of 23 

opportunities, such as PeakFest, pop-up events around town, online questionnaires, and we will 24 

continue to do so. We listen to resident’s suggestions, their bus riding stories, and their hopes for 25 

future transit in Apex. Many of us have watched Apex grow by leaps and bounds over the past 2 26 

decades, we are energized by this growth. 20 years ago, the days of 5-8 empty, boarded up 27 

buildings on Salem Street, no internet availability downtown, gravel roads within the town limits, and 28 

intersections without governing traffic safety lights. Those days are gone, look at Apex now. It is a 29 

thriving, multicultural community. In addition to PeakFest, Fourth of July, and Christmas Parades, we 30 

now celebrate Hispanic Culture, Juneteenth, Pride Month, Native American Heritage Month, Italian 31 

American Heritage Month, and more. Apex has become a place for everyone. A viable public transit 32 

system is one of those valuable entities every growing community needs. Our transit system has 33 

proved valuable and needed with documented, proven success. When the bus service first started, a 34 

dear friend of mine wrote me expressing her gratitude for the town’s effort on GoApex Route 1. She 35 

told me her adult daughter, who was auditorily and visually impaired, had been riding GoApex 36 

Route 1 to and from her work and apartment. The bus was one of the things that allowed her to start 37 

living an independent life. It was a game-changer for her existence. Allowing her to become an 38 

active, independent, and contributing member of the Apex community. Now, not every story has to 39 

be life-changing. Maybe the lead story is how our teenagers get around town without having to 40 

borrow the family car. Maybe it’s how our seniors get to the grocery store, physicians appointments, 41 

or a social outing more independently and more often. Maybe it’s how a family goes downtown for a 42 

meal, or to shop without burning extra fuel or hunting for a coveted parking space. The possibilities 43 

are endless, so let’s keep Apex vibrant community it is growing to be, and keep looking for those 44 

- Page 133 -



Page 9 of 30 
 

possibilities as we continue to support and grow our public transit in Apex. Thank you very much for 1 

this time.” 2 

 3 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Mr. Wagner for his comments, and for all the work he is doing in 4 

transit for the community.    5 

 6 

[PUBLIC HEARING] 7 

 8 

PH1 Transit Plan Map Amendment – Future GoApex Route 1 9 

 Katie Schwing, Senior Planner for Long Range Transit, gave the following information 10 

regarding the Transit Plan Map Amendment – GoApex Route 1. 11 

[SLIDE 3] 12 

 13 
[SLIDE 4] 14 

 15 
 16 

 17 

 18 

[SLIDE 5] 19 

- Page 134 -



Page 10 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 6] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 7] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

 8 

- Page 135 -



Page 11 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he didn’t have a question, he just wanted to thank Ms. 1 

Schwing.  2 

 3 

 Mayor Gilbert opened the Public Hearing for this item. With no one signed up, he closed 4 

Public Hearing and moved discussion back to Council.  5 

 6 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth, seconded by Councilmember 7 

Gray, to approve the Transit Plan Map Amendment – Future GoApex Route 1. 8 

 9 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 10 

  11 

PH2 Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments – October 2023 (REF: ORD-2023-12 

108) 13 

 Amanda Bunce, Current Planning Manager, gave the following presentation regarding the 14 

Unified Development Ordinance Amendments of October 2023. 15 

[SLIDE 8] 16 

 17 
[SLIDE 9] 18 

 19 
[SLIDE 10] 20 

- Page 136 -



Page 12 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 11] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 12] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 13] 8 

- Page 137 -



Page 13 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 14] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 15] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 16] 8 

- Page 138 -



Page 14 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 17] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 18] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 19] 8 

- Page 139 -



Page 15 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 20] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 21] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 22] 8 

- Page 140 -



Page 16 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 23] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 24] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 25] 8 

- Page 141 -



Page 17 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 26] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 27] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 28] 8 

- Page 142 -



Page 18 of 30 
 

 1 
[SLIDE 29] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 30] 4 

 5 
 6 

 7 

[SLIDE 31] 8 

- Page 143 -



Page 19 of 30 
 

 1 
 2 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked where the rating system came from, and said there was a 3 

reference to an IES standard. 4 

 Ms. Bunce said yes, that is the Illuminating Engineering Society. 5 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if Ms. Bunce was aware of the motivation to lower the 6 

lighting requirement for bicycle parking.  7 

 Ms. Bunce said the desire was the lower the level of everything, and that the new bicycle 8 

parking lighting standards would be in between vital location standards and those of things like 9 

parking lots.  10 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth asked if there were any concerns from public safety 11 

regarding lowering lighting. 12 

 Ms. Bunce said they did not work with public safety for these amendments, it was the EAB, 13 

planning, and electric departments.  14 

 Councilmember Gray asked if this was not changing the level of brightness, more so just the 15 

definition of brightness.  16 

 Ms. Bunce said yes, the effect of the light on the ground will not change, but the intensity of 17 

the light in a particular fixture has been set.  18 

 Councilmember Gantt said there an example of a picture where there is someone robbing a 19 

property, but they couldn’t really be seen because of poorly covered lights. He said this should help 20 

see more in certain areas when things aren’t shining directly into people’s eyes. He said there may 21 

be lower light in some places, but it should overall be better because it is better directed. He added 22 

that the uplight was totally wasted, and that component was more important for the night sky.  23 

 Councilmember Gray thanked Ms. Bunce for letting them geek out on this. 24 

 25 

 Mayor Gilbert opened up Public Hearing for this item. With no one signed up, he closed 26 

public hearing and moved discussion back to Council. 27 

 28 

 A motion was made by Councilmember Gray, seconded by Councilmember Zegerman, to 29 

approve the Unified Development Ordinance Amendments of October 2023. 30 

 31 

- Page 144 -



Page 20 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Gantt said he had been wanting to do this since he got elected, and he said 1 

at the first EAB meeting before Covid, he told them that the biggest impact they could have would 2 

be things that could be put into the UDO. He said some of the folks on the board were lighting 3 

experts, and this was a very thoughtful product from multiple components. He thanked Ms. Bunce, 4 

other town staff, and the EAB members who have helped bring this project together. He said he 5 

thinks this will have long-lasting positive impacts on the town. 6 

 7 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 8 

 9 

 10 

[NEW BUSINESS] 11 

 12 

NB1 GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy (REF: PLCY-2023-013) 13 

Katie Schwing, Senior Planner for Long Range Transit, gave the following information 14 

regarding the GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy. 15 

[SLIDE 32] 16 

 17 
[SLIDE 33] 18 

 19 
 20 

- Page 145 -



Page 21 of 30 
 

[SLIDE 34] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 35] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 36] 5 

 6 
 7 

 8 

- Page 146 -



Page 22 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he would like to see trash receptacles put in at places 1 

where shelters are installed. He said he doesn’t think it should be left to a case-by-case basis. 2 

 Councilmember Gantt said there is a lot of discussion about trash on the transit committee. 3 

He said there was concern, but also a realization from staff that there may be overflowing trash cans. 4 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he understood, but he thinks if there is enough ridership to 5 

warrant a shelter, there is enough to warrant a trash receptacle.  6 

 Councilmember Gantt said transit would be killed if there was an overflowing trash can at a 7 

shelter.  8 

 Councilmember Zegerman said they are building a policy around one department maybe 9 

not having enough staff to pick up trash, and that would be another problem to solve. He said for 10 

this policy, ridership that warrants a shelter at a stop should also have trash receptacles. He said they 11 

should talk about how to assist public works with dealing with this, but that shouldn’t prevent this 12 

from going in the policy.  13 

 Councilmember Gray said he was excited they were getting this policy. He said in 14 

Wilmington, he saw bus stops that weren’t even with sidewalks, let alone including shelters. He said 15 

this a policy that would assist the town in many ways, through ridership, total use, or making it look 16 

more appealing. He said it’s not perfect, but it does move things in the right direction, and he 17 

appreciates the work staff is putting in on this, as these policies will be longer-term payouts that will 18 

help keep GoApex moving in the right direction.  19 

 Councilmember Gantt said he wanted to close the loop on the trash discussion. He asked 20 

Ms. Schwing why that ended up in Other rather than Enhanced.  21 

 Ms. Schwing said staff discussed it with public works, and Director Mullis indicated at the 22 

time that they could take on an additional 6 trash cans with the person currently assigned to it. She 23 

said there may be more than 6 enhanced bus stops, so that wouldn’t work with their current 24 

capacity. She said it would be up to Council to change that if needed, but that was her discussion 25 

with staff.  26 

 Councilmember Gray said he doesn’t think trash is a showstopper, because the town is 27 

good at ensuring trash doesn’t sit. He said public works wouldn’t let them down on this. 28 

 Ms. Schwing said that Public Works was very supportive of this, they just wanted to ensure 29 

they were able to maintain a high standard.  30 

 Mayor Gilbert asked if Council was in favor of Councilmember Zegerman’s proposed 31 

changed. 32 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said she would like to see it under enhanced.  33 

 Councilmember Zegerman said they can look at other scenarios where trash receptacles 34 

would be necessary, but it should at least be a part of the enhanced category.  35 

 36 

 A motion was made by Councilmember Zegerman, seconded by Mayor Pro Tempore 37 

Killingsworth, to approve the GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy, with the change of including 38 

trash receptacles in the standards for Enhanced Bus Shelters. 39 

 40 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 41 

 42 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Schwing and Councilmember Gantt for their work on this. 43 

- Page 147 -



Page 23 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Gantt said he predicted they would go with staff’s recommendation on this 1 

topic, and he was wrong about that.  2 

 3 

NB2 Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler 4 

System Requirements 5 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said this was a potential ordinance proposal which would require 6 

fire sprinkler systems in all residential properties in Apex. He said they are not currently required in 7 

state law to be installed in townhomes or single-family homes. He said the NC General Statute has a 8 

provision allowing Municipalities to pass ordinances for stricter fire safety code. He said it would 9 

then go to the Building Code Council, and become Apex law if they approved it. He said he has 10 

invited Fire Chief Herman and Deputy Fire Marshal Dillon to the meeting tonight to help answer 11 

questions. He noted that there will be questions and discussion about costs and impacts to 12 

development, and he would welcome that. He said he wanted to be clear that the reason he is 13 

proposing this is for the preservation of life. He said sprinkler systems reduce fatalities by about 80%. 14 

He added that it decreases property damage by around 70%. He said without sprinkler or 15 

suppression systems, homes can become engulfed in flames quickly. He said there are also cost 16 

savings in terms of the decrease of insurance rates. He said his father and grandfather were both fire 17 

chiefs. He said the Town Council has the opportunity to do something tonight that has the ability to 18 

preemptively preserve life. He said they are sitting here before a tragedy may occur, and not after, 19 

talking about they can make Apex safer. He invited Chief Herman up to speak on the topic to 20 

Council and answer questions. 21 

 Councilmember Gantt asked why there isn’t a report they can look at with this information 22 

rather than somebody talking tonight. 23 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said there is plenty of data about this topic with the Municipal 24 

government and development communities. He said he brought some fact sheets, but it may mean 25 

more to hear from an expert rather than reading from something printed off the internet. He said 26 

one of the problems in this is that the cost estimates largely depend on who is asked.  27 

 Councilmember Gantt said he was mostly wanting to know data from a non-biased source, 28 

not from developers or trade organizations.  29 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said he could give him an answer from the data he found, but it 30 

may be better to hear it from the town’s fire staff.  31 

 Chief Herman said as the fire chief, he supports anything that would enhance life and 32 

property safety. He said Mr. Dillon would be the true subject matter expert, as he is part of the risk 33 

reduction division. Chief Herman said before they ask him questions, he is going to ask them a few. 34 

His first question was, “what is the best way to put out a fire?” 35 

 Councilmember Zegerman said to not start one. 36 

 Chief Herman said that was correct, to prevent it. He said that is one of the main focuses of 37 

the fire department. He said if a fire cannot be prevented, the best way to put it out is quick 38 

suppression. He said the things that worries him the most about fire risk is dense, clustered 39 

residential homes. He said it is a matter of when not if there would be multiple homes burning 40 

simultaneously. He said fires in today’s construction double in size every 30 seconds. He said fires 41 

reach from the ceiling to the floor in 4-5 minutes. He said the response time goal from the time 911 42 

is called to when the fire department arrives on scene to respond is 8 minutes 90% of the time. He 43 

said the fire service fully supports this, but he said he understands this is a sticky political topic in 44 

- Page 148 -



Page 24 of 30 
 

some ways. He said he and Mr. Dillon were happy to answer any questions they had, or research and 1 

bring back answers. 2 

 Mr. Dillon said he has been excited about this all day. He said doing this would be a legacy 3 

item for everyone at the table. He said behind every badge there is a heart that cares about people, 4 

and this would be a way to preserve life in Apex.  5 

 Councilmember Gray thanked Mr. Dillon and the fire department for all that they do. He said 6 

he is no expert on sprinkler systems, and asked if Mr. Dillon could explain the logistics of sprinkler 7 

systems in homes some. 8 

 Mr. Dillon said some sprinkler heads are concealed behind a plate, which will extend and 9 

activate if the plate gets to 155 degrees Fahrenheit. He said there would be less sprinkler heads in a 10 

single-family home than in a commercial building, and they would use sprinklers with the NFPA D 11 

standard. He said they could be run through a home’s regular cold-water loop plumbing system. He 12 

said sprinklers only go in rooms where people would typically be in homes, not unused basements 13 

or attics. He said these would flow about 13 gallons a minute, so they would not flood a home 14 

before firefighters could respond.  15 

 Councilmember Gray asked if there would be concerns about sprinkler heads going off 16 

from something like smoke from cooking, like smoke detectors.  17 

 Mr. Dillon said sprinklers only activate based on direct heat on each individual sprinkler 18 

head. They do not go off simultaneously. He said nobody in North Carolina has ever died in a home 19 

with sprinklers.  20 

 Councilmember Gray asked if there were residences here in Apex with these internal 21 

sprinkler systems already installed.  22 

 Mr. Dillon said a majority of the early sections of Bella Casa have them, as well as many in 23 

Colvin Park. He said many homes in Apex have them, and many in the past 20 years have installed 24 

them as a way to save money on insurance.  25 

 Councilmember Gantt asked about the difference in risk reduction for newer homes which 26 

have wired smoke detectors with battery backup.  27 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the fact sheet he was referring to from the National Home 28 

Sprinkler Coalition used homes with smoke detectors as the baseline for comparison.  29 

 Councilmember Gantt asked about the risk reduction of smoke detectors versus not having 30 

them. 31 

 Mr. Dillon said a working smoke detector doubles the chances of surviving a fire.  32 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if fire risk in newer buildings was higher or lower than in older 33 

buildings, and asked if there was data he could speak to for Apex.  34 

 Mr. Dillon said fires happen at all kinds of buildings, old or new. He said they could happen 35 

at Reunion Park and be suppressed by the sprinklers, or happen in a home from a cooking fire.  36 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the modern layout of houses contributes to the rate of fire 37 

spread, through things like open concepts.  38 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if the building materials were better for fire risk now. 39 

 Mr. Dillon said modern construction has increased flammability.  40 

 Councilmember Gantt said he would think wiring would be better at least. 41 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said potentially, but if there were a wiring fire it could hit a candle 42 

close by and spread throughout the open floors. He said he thinks it is worse now than it has ever 43 

been.  44 

- Page 149 -



Page 25 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Zegerman said with increased density, there is also the risk of spreading 1 

the fire to other buildings and units more quickly. 2 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said this is where the argument that homeowners are 3 

responsible for themselves and those living with them becomes a problem. There are other 4 

apartments or units that could be affected by a fire in a apartment or townhome environment. He 5 

said they are currently required in apartments, but there was a proposal to remove even that 6 

component. He said that is why it’s important for them to create their own regulations. He said 7 

townhomes are not subject to that regulation, but the same problem could occur. He said with 8 

trends in developments, single-family homes are looking a lot like townhomes in how close they are 9 

to each other. He said that is another reason this issue needs to be looked at now. 10 

 Mayor Gilbert asked if Mr. Dillon could describe how fire rated walls work. 11 

 Mr. Dillon said those fire rated walls separate townhomes that are considered different 12 

dwellings, and different areas of commercials buildings. He said these would not be found in single-13 

family homes.  14 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if there would be reductions in other needs of fire response, 15 

such as hydrant spacing, if this was approved for new constructions.  16 

 Mr. Dillon said yes, there could be a relaxing in some other mitigating factors since 17 

sprinklers would be so beneficial in decreasing spread. 18 

 Chief Herman said there would be other areas that don’t have sprinklers since it wouldn’t be 19 

a complete retrofit. He said it is important to maintain the 5-minute travel time response for those 20 

areas with sprinklers as well, as they respond to other types of hazards.  21 

 Mr. Dillon said the travel time also keeps their ISO Class 1 rating, which helps lower 22 

insurance rates for everyone in the town.  23 

 Councilmember Gray asked how the spacing of hydrants would change in areas this policy 24 

may be implemented.  25 

 Mr. Dillon said there wouldn’t be a need for firefighters to fill up as often when responding, 26 

because the sprinklers has already gotten the job started. He said it would be a break for developers 27 

in terms of building their infrastructure. 28 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the number of homes before an egress was a big factor for 29 

availability too.  30 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth thanked the fire department for all they do. She asked if 31 

there was an estimate on how much a sprinkler system would cost to implement it in a single-family 32 

home.  33 

 Mr. Dillon said the national average, from the NFPA study, is $1.61 per square foot. He said 34 

that is for a multipurpose system tied to the existing cold-water loop. He said the department tells 35 

people that it is roughly the cost of granite countertops in their home. 36 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth asked if there was an estimate of potential insurance 37 

cost savings with sprinkler systems. 38 

 Mr. Dillon said he has seen rate cuts of up to 35%, but you have to shop around and let them 39 

know you have the sprinklers installed.  40 

 Councilmember Mahaffey added that Habitat for Humanity has chosen to put sprinklers into 41 

their new homes.  42 

 Councilmember Gantt asked for the cost estimate of that. 43 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said he did not have it. 44 

- Page 150 -



Page 26 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if they know the costs of the ones that have been installed in 1 

homes in Apex. 2 

 Mr. Dillon said those have been the standalone systems, so likely in the 3-5 dollar per square 3 

foot range, but he does not know the total cost. 4 

 Councilmember Gray asked if putting these systems in new developments on the periphery 5 

of Apex’s boundaries would help alleviate difficulties caused by travel time and not having fire 6 

stations as close to those areas.  7 

 Mr. Dillon said public and private partnerships would be key on this. He said there was 8 

discussion about Veridea providing fire response infrastructure, but that never happened. He said 9 

those relationships would be key to making this work.  10 

 Chief Herman said one of the key things is figuring out the travel times to areas and 11 

identifying the biggest gaps, but also the risk and how much resources have to put into responses. 12 

He said a residential structure fire requires an Effective Response Force (ERF) of 17 firefighters and 4 13 

engines, as well as 2 battalion chiefs. He said these positions are accounted for through critical 14 

tasking. He said they are looking at these questions with Fire Station 7. He said for a building with 15 

sprinklers, he is open to sending less ERF, because the facts show that the response will be much 16 

less because the fire was contained by the sprinkler system.  17 

 Councilmember Gray said that information helps out a lot. He said this gives a better idea of 18 

the resource to investment ratio for the personnel hours needed to respond and effectively maintain 19 

emergency coverage in all areas. He asked if there would need to be backflow inspections on these 20 

systems, and if so, who would be paying for it.  21 

 Rudy Baker, Inspections and Permits Director, said they would not require backflow 22 

inspection, because they would already be tied into the plumbing system.  23 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if these systems required maintenance.  24 

 Director Baker said he did not think they did for commercial buildings, but he would get 25 

back to them.  26 

 Councilmember Gantt asked Town Attorney Hohe if counties would be able to do this. 27 

 Town Attorney Hohe said they would be subject to the same process that the town is in 28 

passing this and having it be reviewed. She said her assumption would be the applicability would be 29 

to the County jurisdiction, and not municipal jurisdictions. She said she would need to research it to 30 

confirm. 31 

 Councilmember Gantt said he suspects that the cost of these systems would be lower if 32 

there was more than just Apex putting these in, because it would drive more of a business.  33 

 Councilmember Zegerman said the installation of it is simple since it goes in with the 34 

existing water system.  35 

 Councilmember Gantt said he understands the principle, but these things often end up 36 

more complicated and expensive in reality.  37 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the expense only goes up over time, and the best time to do 38 

it is when the home is being constructed. 39 

 Councilmember Gantt said that part makes sense.  40 

 Mayor Gilbert said a county wide approach would have a bigger impact for Apex, since fire 41 

covers homes outside of the corporate limits.  42 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked how many developments don’t annex into Apex before 43 

construction anyway. 44 

- Page 151 -



Page 27 of 30 
 

 Mayor Gilbert said there were still quite a few.  1 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he can he a county policy being supplemental to theirs, but 2 

doing it within the town would be the most beneficial.  3 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said it would be best to start this at the county or state level, but 4 

they have to start somewhere. 5 

 Councilmember Gantt said that the higher the level it was required at, the cheaper it would 6 

become.  7 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said there would also be a delay in this getting implemented, as 8 

there is a delay after it became fully approved to give developers time to prepare.  9 

 Councilmember Gantt asked about the insurance reductions with sprinkler systems. 10 

 Mr. Dillon said they have seen as much as a 35% reduction in Apex.  11 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Chief Herman and Mr. Dillon for answering their questions and 12 

informing them on this topic.  13 

 Mr. Dillon reminded everyone to change the batteries in their smoke detectors when they 14 

set their clocks back.  15 

 Mayor Gilbert began the discussion for the item. He said he fully supports the intent of the 16 

topic. He said he wants to ensure the process is done properly. He said he wants to hear from the 17 

developers and other players that would be interested in the development of this. 18 

 Councilmember Gray said it is hard to argue against measures to increase public safety. He 19 

said this is not quite as simple of a discussion as a cost/benefit ration as well. He said this would be a 20 

major policy shift, which may impact other jurisdictions as they see how Apex approaches this. He 21 

said he would like to get a staff report, and some more specifics from that would help inform their 22 

decisions. He said he would like to see some more information on how this would benefit or impact 23 

dwellings with various spacing, and how this may impact the UDO. He said he also does not know 24 

the legal implications, and if the town has the full authority to do this to the extent he wants to. He 25 

agreed with Mayor Gilbert that input from the development community would be beneficial. He said 26 

he was thinking about earthquake-proofing houses. It may be useful if an earthquake happened, as 27 

it has before and could again, but was it as necessary as doing that in California? He said that was 28 

part of the equation here. He said there are lots of pieces of information he needs to consider before 29 

making this decision. He said the Council prides themselves on making decisions based on data, but 30 

they don’t have the data fully on this. 31 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said it isn’t unclear at all when builders stand on this issue. He 32 

said that has been shows in states and municipalities nationwide. He said they are against this. He 33 

said this debate has been going on for decades in places around the country. He said the fact is they 34 

save lives, and this is one of the only things in the building code they have any say in. He said, to him, 35 

the protection of life is worth it. He said growing up his dad was a fire chief, and on the mantle at 36 

home his dad had a firefighter of the year award. He said his mother told him that his father won the 37 

award for running into a burning building, fully engulfed, because he heard there was a kid in there. 38 

As it turned out, there was not a kid in there, but he had gone anyway. He said that is the dedication 39 

that all of our first responders have to this issue, and sprinklers would eliminate that need of them to 40 

have to take that kind of risk. He said it’s a good thing as it decreases insurance costs, increases 41 

survival chances, and improves level of service from fire departments. He said they can get any data 42 

they want, and he isn’t against that, but the data won’t change. He said there is an upfront cost that 43 

- Page 152 -



Page 28 of 30 
 

would be recouped on insurance costs, and homes with sprinklers would be less likely to burn down, 1 

and their occupants less likely to die.  2 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he doesn’t think that the data is going to change any 3 

outcome. He said fundamentally the point is the safety and risk mitigation these systems provide, at 4 

what is ultimately a nominal cost for all of the benefits that come out of this. He said in response to 5 

Councilmember Gray’s comments, this is not a cost/benefit analysis. He said they are having the 6 

wrong conversation if they are tripping on the dollars.  7 

 Councilmember Mahaffey said the point about UDO amendments changing was a good 8 

one. He said he wanted to push back a bit on those needing to be ready before they pass this, 9 

because there is a long process to this becoming law. He said he wouldn’t want to staff to put a lot of 10 

time into looking at those potential changes just for it not to get through the Building Code Council 11 

(BCC). He said they could look at changes in anticipation during the 6-month waiting period if this 12 

did get through the BCC after they passed it.  13 

 Councilmember Gray said he agrees that they don’t need to completely build those UDO 14 

changes now, but he would like to know what the unintended consequences would be from this 15 

change. He said they should be looking at figuring out the “unknown unknowns”, and use the 16 

process to make sure things don’t go down the wrong pathway. He said the builders may say it is too 17 

expensive, but he would love to know the costs to analyze things. He said, with all due respect, that it 18 

is dangerous for Council to forget that there are processes in place to allow them to take a step 19 

back, pause, and think about what they haven’t thought about. He said he is in support of the 20 

amendment, and thinks it would save lives of people inside and outside of Apex, but he wants to 21 

wants to be able to say that he has looked at the numbers and made decisions based on those. He 22 

said he does not want to delay decisions, but they need to make those decisions based on the right 23 

advice. 24 

 Mayor Gilbert asked if anybody was opposed to a public hearing for this item. 25 

 Councilmember Mahaffey indicated that he was, and said he was ready to pass it now. 26 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he doesn’t think it is needed. 27 

 Mayor Gilbert said they owe it to their constituents to get all of the information, and he still 28 

many questions. He asked Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth her thoughts. 29 

 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said she was wondering what would make her say no to 30 

this. She said she couldn’t think of anything that would. She said if there was a vote tonight, she 31 

would say yes to this. She understands that there are questions, and more information they could 32 

gather from staff. She said she is asking herself what would change her view if they delayed this.  33 

 Mayor Gilbert asked what the process would be if this was passed tonight. 34 

 Town Attorney Hohe said it would go before the state BCC, and if they approved it, it would 35 

come back to the town, and would go into effect 6 months after that point.  36 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if carve outs for municipalities in the state building code was a 37 

common thing. 38 

 Town Attorney Hohe said she does not know, but implementing a more stringent fire code 39 

is something outlined in general statutes, with the approval of the state BCC. 40 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if any municipalities have done this.  41 

 Town Attorney Hohe said she did not know.  42 

- Page 153 -



Page 29 of 30 
 

 Councilmember Gantt said as a statistician, he wants data as well. He said there could be 1 

tens or hundreds of millions of dollars in cost based on this decision, just with current projects and 2 

developments.  3 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if it would change his mind about this if the number was 4 

100 million. 5 

 Councilmember Gantt asked if anyone has ever died in a fire in Apex. 6 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if they wanted to wait until it did happen. He said getting 7 

into the numbers like this makes it the wrong conversation.  8 

 Mayor Gilbert said to him it was about the process and being consistent with how they make 9 

decisions.  10 

 Councilmember Gantt said in his day job, he works on particulate matter pollution. He said 11 

there is no safe level of particulate matter pollution in the atmosphere, but rules for them are still set 12 

with the notion that pollution is still going to happen. He said 100 million dollars to not save any lives 13 

is a bad idea.  14 

 Councilmember Zegerman said the aggregate cost could be very high, but it would be 15 

distributed across many cases. He said he would be open to a public hearing for this item, but his 16 

vote on it would not change. 17 

 Mayor Gilbert said then why would there be a reason not to allow the public to weigh in. 18 

 Councilmember Gantt said the Clean Air Act is the most cost/benefit positive law in the 19 

United States. He said the papers he has read on this topic indicate that the cost/benefit for a policy 20 

like this is a negative. However, he said it is a positive for multi-family developments.  21 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if they were wanting to quantify the cost of a human life 22 

now. He said he would the defer to Councilmember Mahaffey on having a Public Hearing. 23 

 24 

 A motion was made by Councilmember Mahaffey, seconded by Mayor Pro Tempore 25 

Killingsworth, to approve the Automatic Fire Sprinkler System Requirements Ordinance 26 

Amendment as presented. 27 

 28 

 VOTE: 3-2, Councilmember Gantt and Councilmember Gray dissenting 29 

 30 

 Clerk’s Note: This ordinance passed by a simple majority (3-2). For the Town to pass an 31 

ordinance on the date of introduction (first vote by council), the ordinance must receive an affirmative 32 

vote by 2/3s of its members. For Apex, this “supermajority” vote requires an affirmative vote of 4 33 

members. Because the ordinance passed by a simple majority, it will be presented again on 34 

November 14, 2023 for a second vote. If the ordinance receives an affirmative vote by a simple 35 

majority on the 2nd reading (second vote by council) it will pass. 36 

 37 

 38 

[UPDATES BY INTERIM TOWN MANAGER] 39 

 40 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said early voting starts this weekend, runs from October 28-41 

November 4, at the John Brown Community Center. He said there was a strategic planning session 42 

coming up for Council this Friday, and they had a Joint Meeting with Wake County on October 30th. 43 

He said staff is out at Pleasant Park now and testing everything, and they are on track for the 44 

- Page 154 -



Page 30 of 30 
 

November 4th grand opening. He said they closed on the 3.4 million-dollar bonds for the Mason 1 

Street Municipal Building, and tomorrow they will close on the 17 million-dollar bonds for the 2 

Peakway Project. 3 

 4 

[CLOSED SESSION] 5 

 6 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth, seconded by Councilmember 7 

Zegerman, to enter into Closed Session pursuant to NCGS §143-318.11(a)(5). 8 

 9 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 10 

 11 

Council entered into Closed Session at 8:14p.m.   12 

 13 

CS1 Demetria John, Assistant Town Manager, and  14 

 Steve Adams Utilities Acquisition Specialist  15 

NCGS §143-318.11(a)(5): 16 
“To establish, or to instruct the public body's staff or negotiating agents concerning the position to be 17 

taken by or on behalf of the public body in negotiating (i) the price and other material terms of a 18 
contract or proposed contract for the acquisition of real property by purchase, option, exchange, or 19 

lease; or (ii) the amount of compensation and other material terms of an employment contract or 20 
proposed employment contract.” 21 

 22 
Council returned to open session at 9:12 p.m.  23 
 24 
[ADJOURNEMENT] 25 
 26 
 Mayor Gilbert adjourned the meeting at 9:12 p.m.  27 

 28 

Jacques K. Gilbert 29 

Mayor 30 

 31 

Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 32 

Town Clerk to the Apex Town Council  33 

 34 

Submitted for approval by Town Clerk Allen Coleman and approved on ________________________.  35 

 36 

 37 

- Page 155 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 1 of 13 

 

TOWN OF APEX 1 
TOWN COUNCIL STRATEGIC PLAN WORK SESSION   2 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 27, 2023 3 
2:00 P.M.  4 

The Apex Town Council met for a work session on Thursday, October 27, 2023 at 2:00 p.m. at 5 
the Apex Town Hall located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex North Carolina. 6 

This meeting was open to the public.  Members of the public were able to attend this 7 
meeting in-person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel:  8 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-c4iTR9yMc0 9 

 10 

 [ATTENDANCE] 11 

 12 
Elected Body  13 
Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert (presiding)  14 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Audra Killingsworth  15 
Councilmember Brett Gantt  16 
Councilmember Terry Mahaffey 17 
Councilmember Arno Zegerman  18 
Absent: Councilmember Ed Gray  19 

 20 
Town Staff  21 
Interim Town Manager Shawn Purvis  22 
Assistant Town Manager Demetria John  23 
Assistant Town Manager Marty Stone 24 
Town Clerk Allen Coleman  25 
Town Attorney Laurie Hohe 26 
All Department Directors and/or a Departmental Designee was Present.  27 

 28 

[COMMENCEMENT] 29 

 30 

 Mayor Gilbert called the meeting to order at 2:00pm and Mayor Pro Tempore 31 
announced it was Councilmembers Zegerman 50th Birthday and all staff sang Happy Birthday.  32 

  33 

 [ITEM NO. 1 – YEAR IN REVIEW] 34 

- Page 156 -

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-c4iTR9yMc0


DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 2 of 13 

 

Shawn Purvis, Interim Town Manager, gave an overview of what will be discussed for 1 
the department strategic plan and how it fits into Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget. He said this 2 
session will help give staff direction on how to proceed moving into the next fiscal year. 3 

[SLIDE-1] 4 

 5 
 6 
 Mayor Gilbert asked if Council should hold their questions at the end of the 7 
presentation.  8 

Director Grogan said it’s fine if Council askes questions as she presents.  9 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said staff is here from each department to answer any 10 
questions Council may have.  11 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth asked presenters if a question is asked and it’s 12 
going to be coming up later in the presentation then to state that rather than answer the 13 
question at that time.  14 
 Councilmember Gantt asked if this Work Session replaces the one in March or will 15 
Council have another Work Session.  16 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the goal is for this Work Session to be the primary 17 
one to have this discussion in place ahead of time so staff can adapt and make any changes 18 
at Council’s request.  19 
 20 
[SLIDE-2] 21 

 22 

- Page 157 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 3 of 13 

 

 Mayor Pro-Tempore Killingsworth said to staff that they have done an amazing job 1 
and thanked them for their work. 2 
 Interim Town Manage Purvis said staff appreciates that, and the extended 3 
leadership year in review was a very good time to see what the town has done and how 4 
everything is aligning with the strategic goals. 5 
  6 

[ITEM NO. 2 – STRATEGIC PLAN] 7 

 8 

 Amanda Grogan, Budget and Performance Management Director, gave an overview 9 
of the framework of departmental strategic goals and how they align with Apex’s game plan.  10 
[SLIDE-3] 11 

 12 
 13 
[SLIDE-4] 14 

 15 
 16 
 17 

- Page 158 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 4 of 13 

 

[SLIDE-5] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE-6] 3 

 4 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked how the town can get better feedback on KPI’s that 5 
the town is establishing. He said Council does this every year and doesn’t hear any feedback 6 
until the next year and would like to know what’s going on between that timeframe.  7 
 Director Grogan said it depends on what the performance metrics look like and said 8 
it’s not about how much the town did but what can the town do better.  9 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked if KPI information can be included into the 10 
Department Work Sessions as a part of the agenda. 11 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the goal is to have any data that’s automatic will 12 
update and there’ll be a monthly update on one of the dashboards that anyone can look at as 13 
the departmental strategic plan is continued to be built out.   14 
 15 
 16 
 17 
 18 

- Page 159 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 5 of 13 

 

[SLIDE-7] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE-8] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE-9] 5 

 6 

- Page 160 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 6 of 13 

 

 Director Grogan said she would like for Council to write new initiatives or pull ones 1 
from the Departmental initiatives list and prioritize what Council wants to do first and then 2 
come to a vote on the projects that would take priority.  3 
 Councilmember Gantt asked if CIP projects could be included.  4 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said he should include all projects on the priority list 5 
including CIP projects.  He said this is for initiative programs or action items but said if there is 6 
CIP projects Council wants to include as a priority item then it would needed to be added to 7 
the priority list.    8 
 Councilmember Gantt asked projects that are in process should not be added.  9 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said that is correct that those projects are already on 10 
the list so no need to add projects that are in currently in process.  11 
 Director Grogan said she will give Council time to write down their priority projects 12 
on a sticky note and they are to put their choice on the board under which project they 13 
thought was a priority.  14 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said he will give everyone ten minutes to finish and 15 
they will go over the exercise.  16 
 17 

Council had discussion amongst themselves and with staff during this exercise. 18 
  19 

Councilmembers came up to the board and voted on their project of choice by 20 
sticking a dot on which project they thought was priority.    21 

 22 
 Councilmember Gantt said he thought Apex Cares included energy efficiency 23 
upgrades as part of it.  24 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said part of the housing rehabilitation program does 25 
the energy upgrades and it necessarily doesn’t target just the efficiency. He said if Council 26 
wanted to focus on just efficiency that it would be a separate piece.  27 
 Director Grogan went through the list on the board of what was priority and what was 28 
not. She said she will get it summarized and will request feedback for Councilmember Gray 29 
and incorporate that.   30 
 31 
[SLIDE-10] 32 

 33 

- Page 161 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 7 of 13 

 

[SLIDE-11] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE-12] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE-13] 5 

 6 
 7 
 8 
 9 

- Page 162 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 8 of 13 

 

[SLIDE-14] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE-15] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE-16] 5 

 6 

- Page 163 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 9 of 13 

 

 Councilmember Zegerman said there needs to be a conversation with new metrics. 1 
He said some of the workload data as a proxy for how fast the town is growing. He said it will 2 
make it a lot easier with the data to see what is still relevant. He said going back to previous 3 
conversation that we measure things to assess what we can do better but also to celebrate 4 
success. He said staff does a lot of work and he would like to be able to show residents what 5 
the town has accomplished.  6 
 Councilmember Gantt said he agreed thought what Councilmember Zegerman said 7 
was nice. He asked how much do the managers and department heads use this data 8 
themselves. 9 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said staff is here to respond to any questions and 10 
went to say that it depends on the department and what they’ve been capturing. He said 11 
some use it more than others and depends on the technical aspects as well.  12 
 Councilmember Gantt said the data that the public may appreciate and all of Council 13 
and staff could all be the same.  14 
 Director Grogan said she would like for there to be some overlap.  15 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said some numbers people just like to see. He said 16 
some of them can affect trends, but they are part of a deeper evaluation. He said they will 17 
receive feedback on this as they put it in place in order to make sure it is telling Council the 18 
information they want to see. 19 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said he has been using the monthly reports more. He said 20 
he’s using the actual dashboard less and less over time. 21 
 22 
[SLIDE-17] 23 

 24 
 25 

[ITEM NO. 3 – FEDERAL & STATE FUNDING DISCUSSIONS] 26 

 27 
 28 
 29 

- Page 164 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 10 of 13 

 

[SLIDE-18] 1 
 2 

 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if there are any high priority projects that could be 3 
dropped because the cost is so high. 4 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said staff is evaluating that right now. 5 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said her biggest concern is if the town stopped 6 
doing the data and then later on needing the missing data, it may be very hard to gather all 7 
that information back up and compile it.  8 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said that was a good point to evaluate. He said some 9 
of the data is automatically collected regardless to figure out efficiency and input and output.  10 
 Mayor Gilbert asked how is staff impacted as far as projects advancing and workload 11 
increasing for staff. 12 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said management is aware of that and the executive 13 
team has discussions about that. He said some departments have workload measures that 14 
they report out.  15 
 Councilmember Gantt said the federal and state funding priorities were really 16 
different in terms of total cost. He asked instead of doing one big list could it be ranked in 17 
categories like small water projects and large water project, etc.  18 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it could be done to break it out like that. He said 19 
it could also be done in combining big and small projects. 20 
 Councilmember Gantt asked when being asked by a representative, do they ask for a 21 
specific project that’s below a certain amount or ask for the full list.  22 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the town is in regular contact with them, and they 23 
look at what projects they are looking for and the ones that have been approved.   24 
 Councilmember Gantt said he suspects that we will have a different representative 25 
next year and likely a mix of parties, he asked has anyone thought what to suggest to the new 26 
representative based on their party.  27 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said no.  28 
 Mayor Gilbert said a lobbyist would be able to help them out with that. 29 

- Page 165 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 11 of 13 

 

 Councilmember Zegerman said he would like to incorporate a lobbyist to help 1 
beyond just Apex but with decisions from our neighboring communities that effect economic 2 
development.  3 
 Councilmember Gantt asked for an example.  4 
 Councilmember Zegerman said the water force main will affect the economic 5 
development with housing and will serve several areas including Apex.  6 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said this was a list of 11 projects for them to work with. 7 
He said they could be categorized by different goals.  8 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked about having a categorization for each of the state 9 
and federal projects.  10 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said the idea of this is to help identify the elements 11 
that go into these projects so Council can determine the different types of benefits with 12 
various projects.  13 
 Councilmember Gantt said some projects may be “flashier”, and a new 14 
representative may want to focus on projects they can take pictures with at the 15 
groundbreaking. 16 
 Mayor Gilbert said a lobbyist has the background and information that would guide 17 
us in the right direction.  18 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if the list was put together for a lack of funding for 19 
projects or available for other types of funding.  20 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said this the list is what’s on our CIP and said some 21 
projects could be available for other types of funding. He said they can analyze these projects 22 
and add or subtract as they see fit. 23 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if there were any projects on the list that are not CIP 24 
projects.  25 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said there were components of projects that would 26 
not been applicable to this list, but they can add any projects to this list that Council wants to. 27 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said the first three could be bundled together as 28 
water projects. She added that said safe routes to schools should always be on the list until 29 
that is fully completed.  30 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if there were any projects that are more Economic 31 
Development focused beyond water and sewer opening up. He was wondering for If 32 
economic development projects were the types of projects receiving this funding. 33 
 Director Helms said Jessie Drive Extension would be an Economic Development 34 
project. 35 
 Councilmember Gantt said he doesn’t think parks get funded like this often. 36 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it could be split up, and this was a start. 37 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked was the license plate readers funded.  38 
 Director Grogan said yes, that project cost $36,000  39 
 Mayor Gilbert said public safety was on the list, in the form for Elementary School 40 
SRO’s, and that municipalities are getting a lot of traction on that for schools.  41 
 Councilmember Gantt asked is SRO capital or personnel.  42 

- Page 166 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 12 of 13 

 

 Interim Town Manager Purvis said it would typically be Capital, because they are 1 
one-time.  2 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said he feels like there should be a Public Safety category 3 
to put those projects together.  4 
 Councilmember Gantt asked if the design on fire trucks funded or does it need to be 5 
construction related.  6 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said both can be funded. He said he would 7 
recommend that. 8 
 Councilmember Gantt asked what are the thoughts on bundling Vision Zero and safe 9 
routes to schools. He said it may cost more money, but may raise its profile. 10 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said they could do something like that. 11 
 Councilmember Gantt said his favorite project is the Salem Street project because it 12 
is Economic Development and a water project.  13 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said all categories are all equally important. 14 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said he thinks putting the projects in different categories 15 
is the right thing to do and then they should take the time to track it.  16 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said this might be something to have these 17 
conversations with a Lobbyist before anything is submitted.  18 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said he can categorize the list and put together some 19 
background information on the projects and recommendations.  20 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said that may be something they could give to 21 
the lobbyist. 22 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said they could split this list up by state funding and 23 
federal funding. 24 
 Mayor Gilbert asked for an update on getting a lobbyist.  25 
 Town Clerk Coleman said right now the town trying to get the Government Affairs 26 
Manager position hired. He said this position will help create a legislative agenda to help 27 
guide the lobbyist. 28 
 Councilmember Gantt said nothing is going to happen at the state or federal level 29 
until the spring time anyway, and said the town should go ahead a develop the lobbyist 30 
position so when the spring comes we will be ready.  31 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis asked if they wanted downtown to be a category of its 32 
own or be put into another categore. 33 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked will there be a category for historical preservation.  34 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said potentially but will it start with “other”.  35 
 Councilmember Gantt asked if downtown projects were number one for anyone else 36 
except him.  37 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said the number one project he wants to get done might 38 
not be the best project to get funding for. He said if a project costs a few million dollars then 39 
that should not be on the list and its something that the town should fund and get done.  40 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said he would compile the information from the 41 
discussion. 42 

- Page 167 -



DRAFT MINUTES  

Page 13 of 13 

 

 1 
[SLIDE-19] 2 

 3 
 4 
[ADJOURNEMENT] 5 
  6 

Mayor Gilbert adjourned the meeting at 3:57p.m.  7 
 8 

Jacques K. Gilbert 9 
Apex, Mayor  10 

 11 
 12 
Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 13 
Apex, Town Clerk  14 
 15 
Submitted for approval by Apex Town Clerk Allen Coleman.  16 
 17 
Minutes approved on _______ of ___________, 2023. 18 

- Page 168 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Chris Johnson, P.E., MPA, Director   

Department(s): Transportation & Infrastructure Development  

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve an encroachment agreement between the Town of Apex and property owner Guoqiang 

Zhang and spouse Jin Gan, to install a fence that will encroach 116 linear feet (LF) onto the Sanitary Sewer 

Easement and authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute on behalf of the Town.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The proposed Encroachment Agreement is between the Town of Apex and property owner Guoqiang 

Zhang and spouse Jin Gan, (Grantee) for the property described as a residential lot known as Wake County 

PIN #0720-29-8336, Book of Maps 2022, Page 00639, lot is also known as 2915 Alderson Court, Apex, NC 

27502.  Grantee wishes to install certain improvements, more particularly described as a fence that will 

encroach 116 linear feet (LF) onto the Sanitary Sewer Easement.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN9-A1: Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258 
 CN9-A2: Exhibit A - Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258 

 

- Page 169 -



- Page 170 -



- Page 171 -



- Page 172 -



- Page 173 -



- Page 174 -



- Page 175 -



- Page 176 -

Plato Zhang

Plato Zhang

nmaynard
Typewritten Text
                                 EXHIBIT A

nmaynard
Typewritten Text

nmaynard
Text Box
THIS MAY NOT BE A CERTIFIED SURVEY AND HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED BY LOCAL GOVERNMENT AGENCY FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ANY APPICABLE LAND DEVELOPMENT
REGULATIONS AND HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH RECORDING REQUIREMENTS FOR PLATS

nmaynard
PolyLine

nmaynard
Ellipse

nmaynard
Ellipse

nmaynard
Callout
Manhole

nmaynard
Callout
Manhole

nmaynard
Callout
Sewer Line 

nmaynard
Callout
Fence will encroach 116 linear feet (LF) onto the TOA Variable Width Sanitary Sewer Easement (10' into easement)

jweatherman
Length Measurement
10 ft



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Craig Setzer, Director  

Department(s): Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources  

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt an ordinance amending Chapter 13, Article III, Subsection 54 of the Town of Apex Code of 

Ordinances to provide a permit exemption to persons contracted with the Town to provide concession 

services on Town property and who would otherwise meet the definition of park concessioner under this 

article.   

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

On Saturday, November 4, 2023, Pleasant Park opened to the public.  Pleasant Park is the largest park 

facility in the Town’s 150-year history.  During the design and construction of the park, a building for 

concession stand sales was included.  Pursuant to the Code of Ordinances for the Town of Apex, a park 

concessioner is required to first obtain a permit issued by the Apex Police Department (APD) prior to 

engaging in such activity.  The requested ordinance amendment would provide a permit exemption to 

persons contracted with the Town to provide concession services on Town property. 

 

The Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources Department has secured Barham Enterprises to provide 

concession services at Pleasant Park.  Pursuant to this agreement, Barham Enterprises promises and agrees 

to pay the Town on a monthly basis 20% of gross sales for the use of the facility for the duration of the 

agreement.   

 

While no routine schedule is included in the terms of the agreement, the terms state: “The Contractor shall 

devote as much time to concession operations as deemed necessary to provide first class service to 

Pleasant Park patrons.  The Town and the Contractor will agree on operating hours of concessions, based 

on scheduled events and tournaments, as well as daily park users.  The Town will provide the Contractor a 

schedule of all large events and tournaments at least 30 days in advance.   

- Page 177 -



 

Attachments 

 CN10-A1: Ordinance Amendment Chapter 13, Occupational Licenses, Taxes and Regulations, 
Article III, Peddlers, Solicitors and Park Concessioners, Subsection 54, Exceptions to Provisions  

 CN10-A2: CONT-2023-314 – Service Agreement between Town of Apex Parks, Recreation, and 
Cultural Resources and Barham Enterprises (Concessionaire)  

 

 

- Page 178 -



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-1114-__ 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 13-54  

OF APEX TOWN CODE  
  

 THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

APEX AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1.  Section 13-54 of the Town of Apex Code of Ordinances is hereby amended to 

read as follows with additions shown as bold underlined text and deletions shown as 

strikethrough text: 

Sec. 13-54. - Exceptions to provisions. 

A solicitor, peddler or park concessioner permit is not required for the following: 

(1) The sale or solicitation of farm or dairy products by the producer. 

(2) Organizations or representatives of organizations organized and operated exclusively 

for educational, benevolent, religious, fraternal, charitable or civic purposes which 

have been granted 501(c)(3) tax exemption by the Internal Revenue Service and not 

operating for profit, and where such solicitation or sales are made without 

compensation of any kind to the solicitor, and such sale or offering by children under 

the age of 18 years who are students in a public or private school for school activities. 

(3) Actions undertaken at the prior request or invitation of the resident or occupant of the 

premises visited. 

(4) The delivery of goods or services which have been ordered before delivery. 

(5) The circulation of petitions for signature or lawful distribution of advertising 

materials, flyers, or materials expressing views on political, social, or religious 

matters, or expressing other personal views or opinions. However, persons who are 

hired or compensated for such circulation or distribution are specifically not exempt 

from the permitting requirements of this article. 

(6) The lawful promotion or expression of views concerning political, social, religious 

and other like matters, or expression of other personal views or opinions. However, 

persons who are hired or compensated for such promotion are specifically not exempt 

from the permitting requirements of this article. 

(7) The sale or delivery of goods to business establishments. 

(8) Applicants who have applied for and been issued a temporary use permit by the town 

to perform the peddling, soliciting or concessioner operations addressed by this article 

and who would otherwise meet the definition of peddler, solicitor, or park 

concessioner under this article. 

(9) Persons who have contracted with the town to provide concession services on 

town property and who would otherwise meet the definition of park 

concessioner under this article. 

- Page 179 -



 

Section 2.  It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances and the 

sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 Section 3.  Severability, Conflict of Laws.  If this ordinance or application thereof to 

any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 

applications of the ordinance which can be given separate effect and to the end the provisions of 

this ordinance are declared to be severable.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective upon adoption. 

  

 

Introduced by Council Member: _____________________________________ 

 Seconded by Council Member:   _____________________________________ 

 This the 14th day of November, 2023. 

 

        ____________________________ 

        Jacques K. Gilbert 

        Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

  

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

____________________________ 

Laurie L. Hohe 

Town Attorney 

- Page 180 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

6th

November 

- Page 181 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 182 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 183 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 184 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 185 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

owner

Tim Barham

6th November 

- Page 186 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 187 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 188 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 189 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 190 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 191 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 192 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 193 -



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3EAC9AD7-0A09-4A1D-BF04-7576515C62F2

- Page 194 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve the Wake County Tax Administration Tax Report for the Town of Apex dated October 10, 

2023. 

 

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Wake County Board of Commissioners, in regular session on November 6, 2023, approved and 

accepted the enclosed tax report for the Town of Apex, dated October 10, 2023 for the period of 

September 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN11-A1: Tax Report for September 2023 

 

- Page 195 -



- Page 196 -



- Page 197 -



- Page 198 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): John Mullis, Director  

Department(s): Public Works  

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve a Vehicle Lease between the Town of Holly Springs and the Town of Apex, for a 2014 

Freightliner M2 106 Vacuum Leaf Truck, effective until February 28, 2024, and to authorize the Interim Town 

Manager, or their designee, to execute on behalf of the Town.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Town of Holly Springs and the Town of Apex operate separate public utilities/public work departments 

that, among other things, collect residential leaves by the use of one or more vacuum trucks. Currently, the 

Town of Apex has one vacuum leaf truck in surplus for a period of time until February 2024, and the Town 

of Holly Springs has a need for an additional Truck.  

 

From the Execution Date until February 28, 2024, or until terminated by the mutual consent parties, for the 

Town of Apex to lease the vacuum truck to Holly Springs for $1 for the entire Term of the Lease.  

 2014 Freightliner M2 106 Leaf Truck (VIN 1FVACYCY0EHFW2024)  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN12-A1: Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck 
 CN12-A2: CONT-2023-316 – Temporary Leaf Truck Lease - Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf 

Truck 

 

- Page 199 -



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA   ) 
WAKE COUNTY    )  VEHICLE LEASE 
 
 This Lease of a vehicle (hereinafter “Lease’ or “Agreement”), described below, is made and 
entered into by the Town of Holly Springs (“Holly Springs” or “Lessee”) and the Town of Apex (“Apex” 
or “Lessor”), (collectively the “Parties”) has an effective date of the later of the date of signature, and is 
made under the following terms and conditions: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties are each North Carolina Municipalities in close proximity and desire to 
assist each other in the provision of public service when necessary and convenient for each party; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, each Party operates separate public utilities departments that, among other things, 
collect residential leaves by the use of one or more vacuum trucks, and currently Apex has one that is 
currently surplus to the needs of Apex for a period of time until February 2024, and Holly Springs has a 
need for an additional truck; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, no joint agency or partnership shall be established through this Agreement or Lease. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in accordance with N.C.G.S. §160A-274, for the good and valuable 
consideration necessary to effectuate this Lease, the recitation of which the Parties agree is not 
necessary, and in consideration of the foregoing precatory language, the Parties do hereby additionally 
agree as follows: 
 

1. From the Execution Date until at least February 28,2024 (“Term”), or until terminated by the 
mutual consent of the Parties, Apex shall Lease the following vacuum truck to Holly Springs 
for $1 for the entire Term of the lease: 
 

a. A 2014 Freightliner M2 106 Leaf Truck (VIN 1FVACYCY0EHFW2024), (the “Truck”). 
 

2. The Town of Holly Springs shall be responsible for the daily maintenance of the Truck, as 
well as any damage (reasonable wear and tear excepted) and shall add it to Holly Springs’ 
insurance list for the fair market value so determined by the North Carolina League of 
Municipalities. In the event of any catastrophic damage or mechanical failure due to misuse 
not covered by insurance during the Term and during use by Holly Springs, Holly Springs 
shall work cooperatively with Apex to ensure that Apex receives fair market value of the 
Truck and/or a replacement truck of equal or greater value.   
 

3. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by written agreement of both Parties.  
Either Party may terminate this Agreement because of substantial breach of this Agreement 
by the other Party, provided that the terminating Party has given thirty (30) days’ written 
notice to the breaching Party and the breaching Party has not cured the breach during that 
period.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement without cause provided that the 
terminating Party has given ninety (90) days’ written notice to the other Party.  This section 
does not limit the Parties’ rights to enforce this Agreement through any other action or 

- Page 200 -



remedy.  Upon termination, it is agreed that all obligations that are still executory on both 
sides are discharged but any right based on prior breach or performance survives. 

 
4. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided, all notices provided for herein shall be in writing and 

shall be sent properly addressed by first class mail and electronic mail to the parties at the 
addresses shown below: 

 
Town of Apex  
PO Box 250 
Apex, North Carolina 27502-250 
Attention: Town Manager  
 
With copies to the Public Works & Transportation Director 
 
Town of Holly Springs 
P.O. Box 8 
Holly Springs, NC 27540 
Attention: Town Manager 
 
With copies to the Solid Waste Manager 
 
All notices shall be effective three (3) days after having been deposited, properly addressed and 
postage prepaid, in the US Postal Service. Any party hereto may change the person to whom or 
the address to which notices should be provided by giving written notice to the other parties of 
the change. 

 
5. Entire Agreement/Amendments.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties with respect to its general subject matter.  This Agreement may not be 
changed except in writing signed by all the parties. 

 
6. Representations and Warranties.  The Parties each represent, covenant and warrant for the 

other’s benefit as follows: 
 

(a) Each Party has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry 
out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and this Agreement has been authorized 
by each Party’s governing body.  This Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of each Party. 

 
(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of or compliance 
with its terms and conditions, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement, results in a breach of the terms, conditions and provisions of any agreement or 
instrument to which either Party is now a party or by which either is bound, or constitutes a 
default under any of the foregoing. 

 

- Page 201 -



(c) To the knowledge of each Party, there is no litigation or other court, or administrative 
proceeding pending or threatened against such Party (or against any other person) affecting 
such Party’s rights to execute or deliver this Agreement or to comply with its obligations under 
this Agreement.  Neither such Party’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor its 
compliance with its obligations under this Agreement, requires the approval of any regulatory 
body or any other entity the approval of which has not been obtained.   
 
(d) The Truck and its components are in proper mechanical condition and may be placed in 
service for the purpose it is intended. 

  
7. Dispute Resolution.  In the event of conflict or default that might arise for matters 

associated with this Agreement, the Parties agree to informally communicate to resolve the 
conflict. If any such dispute cannot be informally resolved, then such dispute, or any other 
matter arising under this Agreement, shall be subject to resolution in a court of competent 
jurisdiction. Such disputes, or any other claims, disputes or other controversies arising out 
of, and between the Parties shall be subject to and decided exclusively by the appropriate 
general court of justice of Wake County, North Carolina. 

 
8. No Waiver of Non-Compliance with Agreement.  No provision of this Agreement shall be 

deemed to have been waived by any party hereto unless such waiver shall be in writing and 
executed by the same formality as this Agreement. The failure of any party hereto at any 
time to require strict performance by the other of any provision hereof shall in no way affect 
the right of the other party to thereafter enforce the same. In addition, no waiver or 
acquiescence by a party hereto of any breach of any provision hereof by another party shall 
be taken to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of such provision or as a waiver of the 
provision itself. 

 
9. Governing Law.  The parties intend that this Agreement be governed by the law of the State 

of North Carolina.  Proper venue for any action shall solely be Wake County. 
 
10. Assignment.  Neither Party may sell or assign any interest in or obligation under this 

Agreement without the prior express written consent of the other Party. 
 
11. Liability of Officers and Agents.  No officer, agent or employee of any party will be subject 

to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution of this Agreement or 
any other documents related to the transactions contemplated hereby.  Such officers, agents 
or employees will be deemed to execute such documents in their official capacities only, and 
not in their individual capacities.  This section will not relieve any such officer, agent or 
employee from the performance of any official duty provided by law. 

 
12. Execution in Counterparts/Electronic Version of Agreement.  This Agreement may be 

executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Either Party may convert a signed original 
of the Agreement to an electronic record pursuant to a North Carolina Department of 

- Page 202 -



Natural and Cultural Resources approved procedure and process for converting paper 
records to electronic records for record retention purposes.  Such electronic record of the 
Agreement shall be deemed for all purposes to be an original signed Agreement. 

 
13. Verification of Work Authorization.  The Parties, and all subcontractors, shall comply with 

Article 2, Chapter 64, of the North Carolina General Statutes.   
 

14. No third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no third-party beneficiaries to this Agreement. 
 
15. Termination of Prior Leases.   The parties hereby agree that execution of this Lease 

effectively terminates and replaces any and all previous leases, agreements, or 
arrangements between the parties for the use of the vacuum truck identified in Section 1 of 
this Lease. 

 
 

 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the Town of Apex and the Town of Holly Springs, both pursuant to 

authorizations of their respective governing boards spread upon their minutes, have caused this 
Agreement to be executed and attested by their duly authorized officers and their official seals affixed, 
the day and year first written above. 
 
 

- Page 203 -



[SEAL]    TOWN OF HOLLY SPRINGS, NORTH 
CAROLINA

 
 
 
 
 

By:    
Randy J. Harrington, Town Manager 

 

Date: _____________________________________ 
 

 
Attest: 

 
 
 
 
Linda C. McKinney, Town Clerk 

 
 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the 
manner required by the Local Government 
Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 
 
 
 

             Tina Stroupe, Finance Director 

Town of Holly Springs 
 
 
 
 

- Page 204 -



[SEAL]      TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By:  
 Shawn Purvis, Interim Town Manager 

Date: _______________________________ 

Attest: 

 

           Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner 
required by the Local Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 

By:________________________________    
Antwan Morrison, Finance Director 
Town of Apex 

 
                                              

 

- Page 205 -



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 25E332F180A441C9A13683A916FE35ED Status: Completed

Subject: Complete with DocuSign: Leaf Truck Lease-Temporary Agreement between Apex and Holly Springs

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 6 Signatures: 6 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 6 Initials: 0 Lindsay Goldstein

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)

PO Box 8

Holly Springs, NC  27540

Lindsay.Goldstein@hollyspringsnc.gov

IP Address: 204.84.166.2   

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             11/6/2023 9:10:08 AM

Holder: Lindsay Goldstein

             Lindsay.Goldstein@hollyspringsnc.gov

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Randy Harrington

randy.harrington@hollyspringsnc.gov

Town Manager

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None) Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 204.84.166.2

Sent: 11/6/2023 9:29:52 AM

Viewed: 11/6/2023 1:37:07 PM 

Signed: 11/6/2023 1:38:21 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 11/6/2023 1:37:07 PM
      ID: 96e74aee-0f71-493e-9a58-134df537b798
      Company Name: Town of Holly Springs

Linda McKinney

linda.mckinney@hollyspringsnc.gov

Town Clerk

Carahsoft OBO Town of Holly Springs

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 64.98.122.61

Sent: 11/6/2023 1:38:22 PM

Viewed: 11/6/2023 2:44:07 PM 

Signed: 11/6/2023 2:44:13 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Tina Stroupe

tina.stroupe@hollyspringsnc.gov

Finance Director

Town of Holly Springs

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 204.84.166.2

Sent: 11/6/2023 2:44:15 PM

Viewed: 11/6/2023 2:58:13 PM 

Signed: 11/6/2023 2:58:23 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Shawn Purvis

shawn.purvis@apexnc.org

Interim Town Manager

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None) Signature Adoption: Uploaded Signature Image

Using IP Address: 96.10.1.162

Sent: 11/6/2023 2:58:25 PM

Viewed: 11/6/2023 3:19:57 PM 

Signed: 11/6/2023 3:20:11 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 11/6/2023 3:19:57 PM
      ID: da0c4946-26e3-48b9-82b0-0f9da86c530f
      Company Name: Town of Holly Springs

- Page 206 -



Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Allen Coleman

allen.coleman@apexnc.org

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 96.10.1.162

Sent: 11/6/2023 3:20:12 PM

Viewed: 11/6/2023 4:09:42 PM 

Signed: 11/6/2023 4:20:53 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 11/6/2023 4:09:42 PM
      ID: e879acc4-3d3d-41ce-a031-4015244179c7
      Company Name: Town of Holly Springs

Antwan Morrison

antwan.morrison@apexnc.org

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Drawn on Device

Using IP Address: 96.10.1.162

Sent: 11/6/2023 4:20:55 PM

Viewed: 11/7/2023 11:43:50 AM 

Signed: 11/7/2023 11:43:54 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 11/7/2023 11:43:50 AM
      ID: c2501bf4-aa16-464b-9963-62c570999d5b
      Company Name: Town of Holly Springs

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp
John Schifano

john.schifano@hollyspringsnc.gov

Town Attorney

Town of Holly Springs

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 11/7/2023 11:43:56 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Freddie Rodriguez

Freddie.rodriguez@hollyspringsnc.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 11/7/2023 11:43:56 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 3/27/2023 1:34:45 PM
      ID: 8df4e0b9-4ba4-41dc-b0bb-5ff12dcf49b2
      Company Name: Town of Holly Springs

Paige Scott

paige.scott@hollyspringsnc.gov

Public Works Director

Public Works Director, Town of Holly Springs

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 11/7/2023 11:43:57 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

- Page 207 -



Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 11/6/2023 9:29:52 AM

Certified Delivered Security Checked 11/7/2023 11:43:50 AM

Signing Complete Security Checked 11/7/2023 11:43:54 AM

Completed Security Checked 11/7/2023 11:43:57 AM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure

- Page 208 -



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE  

From time to time, Town of Holly Springs (we, us or Company) may be required by law to 

provide to you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the terms and 

conditions for providing to you such notices and disclosures electronically through the DocuSign 

system. Please read the information below carefully and thoroughly, and if you can access this 

information electronically to your satisfaction and agree to this Electronic Record and Signature 

Disclosure (ERSD), please confirm your agreement by selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to 

use electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign 

system. 

 

Getting paper copies  

At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available 

electronically to you by us. You will have the ability to download and print documents we send 

to you through the DocuSign system during and immediately after the signing session and, if you 

elect to create a DocuSign account, you may access the documents for a limited period of time 

(usually 30 days) after such documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to 

send you paper copies of any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a 

$0.00 per-page fee. You may request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the 

procedure described below. 

 

Withdrawing your consent  

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time 

change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures 

only in paper format. How you must inform us of your decision to receive future notices and 

disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and disclosures 

electronically is described below. 

 

Consequences of changing your mind  

If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the 

speed at which we can complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to 

you because we will need first to send the required notices or disclosures to you in paper format, 

and then wait until we receive back from you your acknowledgment of your receipt of such 

paper notices or disclosures. Further, you will no longer be able to use the DocuSign system to 

receive required notices and consents electronically from us or to sign electronically documents 

from us. 

 

All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically  

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 11/12/2020 9:42:57 PM
Parties agreed to: Randy Harrington, Shawn Purvis, Allen Coleman, Antwan Morrison, Freddie Rodriguez

- Page 209 -



Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide 

electronically to you through the DocuSign system all required notices, disclosures, 

authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of you 

inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required 

notices and disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given 

us. Thus, you can receive all the disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through 

the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with this process, please let us know as 

described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the 

consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures 

electronically from us. 

 

How to contact Town of Holly Springs:  

You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically, 

to request paper copies of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to 

receive notices and disclosures electronically as follows: 

To contact us by email send messages to: jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us 

 

To advise Town of Holly Springs of your new email address  

To let us know of a change in your email address where we should send notices and disclosures 

electronically to you, you must send an email message to us at jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us 

and in the body of such request you must state: your previous email address, your new email 

address.  We do not require any other information from you to change your email address.  

If you created a DocuSign account, you may update it with your new email address through your 

account preferences.  

 

To request paper copies from Town of Holly Springs  

To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided 

by us to you electronically, you must send us an email to jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us and in 

the body of such request you must state your email address, full name, mailing address, and 

telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at that time, if any. 

 

To withdraw your consent with Town of Holly Springs  

To inform us that you no longer wish to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic 

format you may: 

- Page 210 -



i. decline to sign a document from within your signing session, and on the subsequent page, 

select the check-box indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may; 

ii. send us an email to jeff.wilson@hollyspringsnc.us and in the body of such request you must 

state your email, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We do not need any other 

information from you to withdraw consent..  The consequences of your withdrawing consent for 

online documents will be that transactions may take a longer time to process.. 

 

Required hardware and software  

The minimum system requirements for using the DocuSign system may change over time. The 

current system requirements are found here: https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-

signing-system-requirements.  

 

Acknowledging your access and consent to receive and sign documents electronically  

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to 

other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please confirm that you have 

read this ERSD, and (i) that you are able to print on paper or electronically save this ERSD for 

your future reference and access; or (ii) that you are able to email this ERSD to an email address 

where you will be able to print on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, 

if you consent to receiving notices and disclosures exclusively in electronic format as described 

herein, then select the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’ before 

clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system. 

By selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’, you confirm 

that: 

 You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and 

 You can print on paper this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure, or save or send 

this Electronic Record and Disclosure to a location where you can print it, for future 

reference and access; and 

 Until or unless you notify Town of Holly Springs as described above, you consent to 

receive exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures, authorizations, 

acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you by Town of Holly Springs during the course of your relationship with 

Town of Holly Springs. 

- Page 211 -

https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements
https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements


STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA   ) 
WAKE COUNTY    )  VEHICLE LEASE 
 
 This Lease of a vehicle (hereinafter “Lease” or “Agreement”), described below, is made and 
entered into _______________ by the Town of Holly Springs (“Holly Springs” or “Lessee”) and the Town 
of Apex (“Apex” or “Lessor”), (collectively the “Parties”) has an effective date of the later of the date of 
signature, and is made under the following terms and conditions: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties are each North Carolina Municipalities in close proximity and desire to 
assist each other in the provision of public service when necessary and convenient for each party; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, each Party operates separate public utilities departments that, among other things, 
collect residential leaves by the use of one or more vacuum trucks, and currently Apex has one that is 
currently surplus to the needs of Apex for a period of time until February 2024, and Holly Springs has a 
need for an additional truck; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, no joint agency or partnership shall be established through this Agreement or Lease. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in accordance with N.C.G.S. §160A-272, for the good and valuable 
consideration necessary to effectuate this Lease and in consideration of the foregoing precatory 
language, the Parties do hereby additionally agree as follows: 
 

1. From the Execution Date until such time as the town’s respective councils can consider a $1 
lease which the Parties anticipate to be November 21, 2023 (“Term”), or until terminated by 
the mutual consent of the Parties, Apex shall Lease the following vacuum truck to Holly 
Springs for $750 per week for the entire Term of the lease: 
 

a. A 2014 Freightliner M2 106 Leaf Truck (VIN 1FVACYCY0EHFW2024), (the “Truck”). 
 

2. The Town of Holly Springs shall be responsible for the daily maintenance of the Truck, as 
well as any damage (reasonable wear and tear excepted) and shall add it to Holly Springs’ 
insurance list for the fair market value so determined by the North Carolina League of 
Municipalities. In the event of any catastrophic damage or mechanical failure due to misuse 
not covered by insurance during the Term and during use by Holly Springs, Holly Springs 
shall work cooperatively with Apex to ensure that Apex receives fair market value of the 
Truck and/or a replacement truck of equal or greater value.  If at any time truck equipment 
fails in a manner that makes the truck unusable for its intended purpose it will be returned 
to Apex and no lease payment will be due for the period during which the truck could not be 
used as intended.   
 

3. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by written agreement of both Parties.  
Either Party may terminate this Agreement because of substantial breach of this Agreement 
by the other Party, provided that the terminating Party has given thirty (30) days’ written 
notice to the breaching Party and the breaching Party has not cured the breach during that 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

11/6/2023

- Page 212 -



period.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement without cause provided that the 
terminating Party has given ninety (90) days’ written notice to the other Party.  This section 
does not limit the Parties’ rights to enforce this Agreement through any other action or 
remedy.  Upon termination, it is agreed that all obligations that are still executory on both 
sides are discharged but any right based on prior breach or performance survives. 

 
4. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided, all notices provided for herein shall be in writing and 

shall be sent properly addressed by first class mail and electronic mail to the parties at the 
addresses shown below: 

 
Town of Apex  
PO Box 250 
Apex, North Carolina 27502-250 
Attention: Town Manager  
 
With copies to the Public Works & Transportation Director 
 
Town of Holly Springs 
P.O. Box 8 
Holly Springs, NC 27540 
Attention: Town Manager 
 
With copies to the Solid Waste Manager 
 
All notices shall be effective three (3) days after having been deposited, properly addressed and 
postage prepaid, in the US Postal Service. Any party hereto may change the person to whom or 
the address to which notices should be provided by giving written notice to the other parties of 
the change. 

 
5. Entire Agreement/Amendments.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties with respect to its general subject matter.  This Agreement may not be 
changed except in writing signed by all the parties. 

 
6. Representations and Warranties.  The Parties each represent, covenant and warrant for the 

other’s benefit as follows: 
 

(a) Each Party has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry 
out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  This Agreement is a valid and binding 
obligation of each Party. 

 
(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of or compliance 
with its terms and conditions, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement, results in a breach of the terms, conditions and provisions of any agreement or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

- Page 213 -



instrument to which either Party is now a party or by which either is bound, or constitutes a 
default under any of the foregoing. 

 
(c) To the knowledge of each Party, there is no litigation or other court, or administrative 
proceeding pending or threatened against such Party (or against any other person) affecting 
such Party’s rights to execute or deliver this Agreement or to comply with its obligations under 
this Agreement.  Neither such Party’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor its 
compliance with its obligations under this Agreement, requires the approval of any regulatory 
body or any other entity the approval of which has not been obtained.   
 
(d) The Truck and its components are in proper mechanical condition and may be placed in 
service for the purpose it is intended. 

  
7. Dispute Resolution.  In the event of conflict or default that might arise for matters 

associated with this Agreement, the Parties agree to informally communicate to resolve the 
conflict. If any such dispute cannot be informally resolved, then such dispute, or any other 
matter arising under this Agreement, shall be subject to resolution in a court of competent 
jurisdiction. Such disputes, or any other claims, disputes or other controversies arising out 
of, and between the Parties shall be subject to and decided exclusively by the appropriate 
general court of justice of Wake County, North Carolina. 

 
8. No Waiver of Non-Compliance with Agreement.  No provision of this Agreement shall be 

deemed to have been waived by any party hereto unless such waiver shall be in writing and 
executed by the same formality as this Agreement. The failure of any party hereto at any 
time to require strict performance by the other of any provision hereof shall in no way affect 
the right of the other party to thereafter enforce the same. In addition, no waiver or 
acquiescence by a party hereto of any breach of any provision hereof by another party shall 
be taken to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of such provision or as a waiver of the 
provision itself. 

 
9. Governing Law.  The parties intend that this Agreement be governed by the law of the State 

of North Carolina.  Proper venue for any action shall solely be Wake County. 
 
10. Assignment.  Neither Party may sell or assign any interest in or obligation under this 

Agreement without the prior express written consent of the other Party. 
 
11. Liability of Officers and Agents.  No officer, agent or employee of any party will be subject 

to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution of this Agreement or 
any other documents related to the transactions contemplated hereby.  Such officers, agents 
or employees will be deemed to execute such documents in their official capacities only, and 
not in their individual capacities.  This section will not relieve any such officer, agent or 
employee from the performance of any official duty provided by law. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

- Page 214 -



12. Execution in Counterparts/Electronic Version of Agreement.  This Agreement may be 
executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Either Party may convert a signed original 
of the Agreement to an electronic record pursuant to a North Carolina Department of 
Natural and Cultural Resources approved procedure and process for converting paper 
records to electronic records for record retention purposes.  Such electronic record of the 
Agreement shall be deemed for all purposes to be an original signed Agreement. 

 
13. Verification of Work Authorization.  The Parties, and all subcontractors, shall comply with 

Article 2, Chapter 64, of the North Carolina General Statutes.   
 

14. No third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no third-party beneficiaries to this Agreement. 
 
 

 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the Town of Apex and the Town of Holly Springs, have caused this 

Agreement to be executed and attested by their duly authorized officers and their official seals affixed, 
the day and year first written above. 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

- Page 215 -



[SEAL]    TOWN OF HOLLY SPRINGS, NORTH 
CAROLINA

 
 
 
 
 

By:    
Randy J. Harrington, Town Manager 

 

Date: _____________________________________ 
 

 
Attest: 

 
 
 
 
Linda C. McKinney, Town Clerk 

 
 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the 
manner required by the Local Government 
Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 
 
 
 

             Tina Stroupe, Finance Director 

Town of Holly Springs 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

11/6/2023

- Page 216 -



[SEAL]      TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By:  
 Shawn Purvis, Interim Town Manager 

Date: _______________________________ 

Attest: 

 

Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner 
required by the Local Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 

By:________________________________    
Antwan Morrison, Finance Director 
Town of Apex 

 
                                              

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 25E332F1-80A4-41C9-A136-83A916FE35ED

11/6/2023

- Page 217 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: PRESENTATION 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Councilmember Terry Mahaffey, Sponsor  

Barbara Conroy Co-Founder and President of Apex Public School Foundation  

Department(s): Governing Body 

Apex Public School Foundation 

Requested Motion 

Presentation of the Peak S.T.A.R. Award for the 1st Quarter of the 2023-2024 School Year.  

 

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

The Apex Town Council is pleased to work in partnership with the Apex Public School Foundation (APSF) to 

present the Peak S.T.A.R. Award to a deserving Apex school staff member, teacher, or someone in school 

administration.  This award will be presented quarterly by the Apex Town Council and the APSF. 

 

Attachments 

 N/A 

 

- Page 218 -



Proclamation 
Adoption Awareness Month 2023 

from the Office of the Mayor 

WHEREAS, There is a critical need for adoption in Wake County, with 
statistics showing that as of October 2023, there are 404 children in the foster 
care system, 98 of whom are intended to be adopted by a foster parent or 
relative, and 32 of whom are legally cleared for adoption recruitment; and, 

WHEREAS, 31 children in the Wake County foster care system have had to 
sleep in the Wake County Department of Social Services office at some point 
this year, highlighting the critical need to find homes for these children; and, 
 WHEREAS, Every child deserves to live in a safe, stable, loving, and 
nurturing environment, and adoption is one of the best ways to ensure they 
are able to have that for the rest of their lives; and, 
 WHEREAS, Adoption is a lengthy and complex process, often requiring 
coordination and support from adoptive families, public entities, private 
organizations, and the children themselves; and, 

WHEREAS, The Town of Apex recognizes that there is no issue more 
pressing and no goal more paramount than child welfare, and we are proud to 
aid in efforts supporting adoption. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor of Apex, North Carolina, 
do hereby proclaim the month of November 2023, “Adoption Awareness 
Month”, in the Town of Apex, and encourage all individuals and families to 
support organizations that work with adoption and child welfare, and to 
consider if adoption or foster care is right for you and your family.  

I hereby set my hand and have caused the Seal of the Town of Apex,  
North Carolina, to be affixed this the 14th day of November 2023 

 

 

Jacques Gilbert, Mayor 

- Page 219 -



Proclamation 
  Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Day 2023 

from the Office of the Mayor 

WHEREAS, Geographic Information Systems (GIS) technology is integrated 
computer software and hardware that allows for the management, analysis, and 
visualization of geographic data; and, 

WHEREAS, The Town of Apex recognizes that GIS technology is a vital part of 
how the town operates our infrastructure, sustains our natural resources, and 
stimulates our economic growth; and, 

WHEREAS, All town departments make use of GIS functions in some capacity in 
order to provide important services to our residents, including emergency response, 
utilities maintenance, planning parks, greenways, and other developments, and 
streamlining service requests to improve response times; and, 

 WHEREAS, Town staff includes around 195 registered users of GIS technology, 
who leverage their expertise to help enhance the quality of life for all of our 
residents; and, 

 WHEREAS, There are dozens of GIS tools the public can utilize on the town’s 
website which provide detailed and useful information about planning, 
development, stormwater, utilities, waste and recycling pickup, and much more.  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor of Apex, North Carolina, do 
hereby proclaim November 15, 2023 “GIS Day” in the Town of Apex, and encourage 
all residents to explore the myriad of GIS tools available, and to acknowledge and 
appreciate all the great work our town staff puts into creating and utilizing them. 

I hereby set my hand and have caused the Seal of the Town of Apex,  
North Carolina, to be affixed this the 14th day of November 2023 

 

 

Jacques Gilbert, Mayor 

- Page 220 -



Proclamation 
  Small Business Saturday 2023 

from the Office of the Mayor 

WHEREAS, The Town of Apex is incredibly proud to be a vibrant hub of small 
businesses which act as the heartbeat of our economy and an important fabric that 
helps knit together the character of our community; and, 

WHEREAS, According to the Small Business Administration, 68 cents of every 
dollar spent at a small business stays in the local community, and each dollar spent 
creates an additional 48 cents in local business activity as a result of employees and 
local businesses purchasing goods and services locally; and, 

 WHEREAS, Local small businesses report that Small Business Saturday helps 
them stand out, and the local excitement and support contributes significantly to 
their holiday sales each year; and, 

 WHEREAS, On small business Saturday, local businesses in Apex will be 
holding in-store specials, contests, discounts, and events; and, 

WHEREAS, The Town of Apex will be holding a Holiday Receipt Raffle, which 
allows every 25 dollars you spend at a local small business from November 25 to 
December 11 to act as a raffle ticket for various prizes and gift baskets; and, 

WHEREAS, Residents can find an interactive map of participating businesses 
and a list of Small Business Saturday Specials on the Small Business Saturday page 
of the Town’s website. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor of Apex, North Carolina, do 
hereby proclaim Saturday, November 25, “Small Business Saturday” in the Town of 
Apex, and encourage all residents to “Shop Small” and help support all of our small 
businesses in Apex and the people behind them that are our friends and neighbors. 

I hereby set my hand and have caused the Seal of the Town of Apex,  
North Carolina, to be affixed this the 14th day of November 2023 

 

 

 Jacques Gilbert, Mayor 

- Page 221 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: PRESENTATION 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert, Sponsor 

Seaira Green, Executive Director 

Department(s): Governing Body  

Western Wake Crisis Ministry (WWCM) 

Requested Motion 

Receive as information a presentation regarding current initiatives of the Western Wake Crisis Ministry 

(WWCM) located in Apex.  

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

The Western Wake Crisis Ministry (WWCM) Board of Directors recently appointed Seaira Green to serve as 

the new Executive Director. Ms. Green has more than 15 years as a results-oriented fundraising and 

nonprofit leader. Most recently, Ms. Green has served as the Chief Program Officer at Triangle Family 

Services where she demonstrated her ability to be a strategic leader in nonprofit management utilizing her 

macro and detail perspective and experience. Ms. Green’s first official day as Executive Director was 

September 18, 2023.  

 

Mayor Gilbert and Ms. Green recently met for introductions and to discuss current agency initiatives. Mayor 

Gilbert invited Ms. Green to make a presentation at an upcoming Council Meeting. This opportunity will 

provide Council and the community with an update on current agency programs and initiatives.  

 

 

Attachments 

 PR4-A1: Western Wake Ministry Presentation 

 

- Page 222 -



Building a brighter future for all by cultivating a healthy, 
hunger-free and housing-stable community.

wwcm.org ~ 919-362-0657

- Page 223 -



Vision: A brighter future for all by cultivating a healthy, 
hunger-free and housing-stable community.

Mission: Partnering with those in crisis, helping them gain 
stability through basic supports for food, financial/housing 
assistance, education, and opportunity.

Values: Compassion, Community, Equity, Optimism, 
Relationship, Vision, and Impact

- Page 224 -



Services
FOOD SECURITY

• Curbside Pickup & Open-Air 

Market – weekdays (M-Th)

• Saturday Distribution 

(monthly)

• Latinx/Hispanic Outreach 

• Home Delivery (monthly)

• Emergency Food Support

HOUSING SECURITY

● Rental Assistance

● Utility Assistance Program

● Short-term Case Management

● Resource Assistance

- Page 225 -



WWCM & Covid Response

• Curbside food distribution & home delivery
• Limited volunteers & staff in building 
• Monthly meat & produce distribution to all Wake County
• Resource Assistance provided virtually or by appointment 

outside
• Collaboration with Emergency Meal Program, Local Agencies 

& Churches 

- Page 226 -



○ Serve Approximately 400 families per month with food assistance
○ Serve Approximately 55+ families per month with financial support 

(rent & utilities), Receives approximately 330 calls for screening
○ Partnered with Town of Apex to assist customers with past due utility 

bills
● WWCM only has 5 employees, 2 of which are part-time

○ Approximately 100 regular volunteers 
○ Interdependent relationships with volunteers 
○ Numerous donors and partners that support the overall operations of 

WWCM including the Interfaith Food Network, Food bank of NC, 
Food Lion, United way, Apex Chamber of Commerce and Wake 
County. 

Operational Snapshot

- Page 227 -



- Page 228 -



What’s Happening at  WWCM
• Several food collection drives for Thanksgiving Meal-Goal is to serve 300 families

• Holidays and Beyond campaign to combat food security past the holidays

• Collaboration with Apex Police Department to support a family that actively fleeing 
domestic violence

• Hiring additional support staff to meet the needs of the community.

• Working directly with landlords, hotels, property managers to facilitate housing

• Hosting Coffee & Chat sessions, community tours and Lunch and Learns

- Page 229 -



What can Groups Do?

• Food and/or Fund Drives 
• Distribute information about WWCM via newsletter, social 

media 
• Volunteer 
• Invite WWCM to speak or present at events 

- Page 230 -



Where to Find Us

1600 Olive Chapel Road, Suite 408 (540 Flex), Apex, NC 27502

919-362-0657

WWCM.ORG

- Page 231 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: PUBLIC HEARING 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Dianne Khin, Director 

Department(s): Planning  

Requested Motion 

Public Hearing and possible motion to adopt an Ordinance on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town 

Council’s intent to annex 26.63 acres, Legacy Station, Satellite Annexation No. 770 into the Town Corporate 

Limits.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The annexation has been certified and a public hearing has been posted as required.  

 

Attachments 

 PH1-A1: Annexation Ordinance - Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 
 PH1-A2: Public Hearing Notice - Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 

 PH1-A3: Legal Description: Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 
 PH1-A4: Aerial Map – Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 
 PH1-A5: Plat Map – Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 
 PH1-A6: Annexation Petition – Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres 
 

 

 

- Page 232 -



 
 OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK 

“The Peak of Good Living” 

Apex Town Hall  .  P.O. Box 250 . 73 Hunter Street  .  Apex, NC  27502 

NORTH CAROLINA 
 

TOWN OF APEX 
 
 

 

 

Media Contact:   
Allen Coleman, Town Clerk to the Apex Town Council  
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE  

 
PUBLIC NOTICE – PUBLIC HEARING 

 
APEX, N.C. (October 27, 2023) – The Town Council of Apex, North Carolina has scheduled a 
Public Hearing to be held at 6:00 p.m. at Apex Town Hall, 73 Hunter Street, on the 14th day of 
November, 2023, on the question of annexation of the following property requested by petition 
filed pursuant to G.S. 160A-31: 
 

Satellite Annexation Petition No. 770 
Legacy Station – 30.047 acres 

 
 
 
 
 

- Page 233 -



 
 OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK 

“The Peak of Good Living” 

Apex Town Hall  .  P.O. Box 250 . 73 Hunter Street  .  Apex, NC  27502 

NORTH CAROLINA 
 

TOWN OF APEX 
 
 
 
 
 
Residents may submit written comments to the Town Council with attention marked to the 
Town Clerk Allen Coleman; P.O. Box 250; Apex, NC 27502 or by email at public 
public.hearing@apexnc.org.  Please use subject line “Annexation Petition No. 770” and include 
your first and last name, your address, and your phone number in your written statements.  
Written comments will be accepted until 3:00 PM on Tuesday, November 14, 2023.  
 
Members of the public can access and view the meeting on the Town’s YouTube Channel 
https://www.youtube.com/c/TownofApexGov or attend in-person.  
 
Anyone needing special accommodations to attend this meeting and/or if this information is 
needed in an alternative format, please contact the Town Clerk’s Office.  The Town Clerk is 
located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex Town Hall on the 2nd Floor, (email) 
allen.coleman@apexnc.org or (phone) 919-249-1260.  We request at least 48 hours’ notice prior 
to the meeting to make the appropriate arrangements.     

Questions should be directed to the Town Clerk’s Office.  

### 

- Page 234 -

mailto:public.hearing@apexnc.org
https://www.youtube.com/c/TownofApexGov
mailto:allen.coleman@apexnc.org


   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 
Municipality No. 333 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
After recording, please return to: Town Clerk, Town of Apex, P.O. Box 250, Apex, NC  27502 

  

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023- 

SATELLITE ANNEXATION PETITION NO. 770 

Legacy Station – 26.63 acres  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS 
OF THE TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA  

P.O. Box 250, Apex, North Carolina 27502 
 

       WHEREAS, the Apex Town Council has been petitioned under G.S.§160A-58.1, as 
amended, to annex the area described herein; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Apex Town Council has by Resolution directed the Town Clerk to 
investigate the sufficiency of said petition; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Town Clerk has certified the sufficiency of said petition and a public 
hearing on the question of this annexation was held at Apex Town Hall at 6:00 p.m. on 
November 14, 2023,  after due notice by posting to the Town of Apex website, 
http://www.apexnc.org/news/public-notices-legal-ads; and  
 
     WHEREAS, the Apex Town Council finds that the area described therein meets the 
standards of G.S.§160A-58.1(b), to wit: 
 

a) The nearest point on the proposed satellite corporate limits is not more than 
three (3) miles from the corporate limits of the Town;  
 

b) No point on the proposed satellite corporate limits is closer to another 
municipality than to the Town; 
 

c) The area described is so situated that the Town will be able to provide the same 
services within the proposed satellite corporate limits that it provides within the 
primary corporate limits; 
 

 
 

- Page 235 -

http://www.apexnc.org/news/public-notices-legal-ads


Page 2 of 4 
 

d) No subdivision, as defined in G.S. 160A-376, will be fragmented by this proposed 
annexation; 

 
WHEREAS, the Apex Town Council further finds that the petition has been signed 

by all the owners of real property in the area who are required by law to sign; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Apex Town Council further finds that the petition is otherwise 
valid, and that the public health, safety and welfare of the Town and the area proposed 
for annexation will be best served by annexing the area described;  

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of Apex, North 
Carolina: 
 
    Section 1.   By virtue of the authority granted by G.S.§160A-58.2, as amended, the 
described non-contiguous territory is hereby annexed and described in the attached 
property description and also shown as “Annexation Area” on the below identified 
survey plat is hereby annexed and made part of the Town of Apex, North Carolina, as of 
the date of adoption of this Ordinance on November 14, 2023.  The survey plat that 
describes the annexed territory is that certain survey plat entitled “Satellite Annexation 
Map for the Town of Apex, Wake County, North Carolina, White Oak Township (PINs No. 
0712-94-9922 and 0722-04-1522, Land Surveyor dated October 11, 2023” and 
recorded in Book of Maps book number 2023 and page number            , Wake County 
Registry.   
 
    Section 2.   Upon and after the adoption of this ordinance, the territory described 
herein and its citizens and property shall be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and 
regulations in force in the Town of Apex, North Carolina, and shall be entitled to the 
same privileges and benefits as other parts of the Town of Apex.  Said territory shall be 
subject to municipal taxes according to G.S.§160A-58.10, as amended. 

 
    Section 3.   The Clerk of the Town of Apex, North Carolina shall cause to be recorded 
in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Wake County and in the Office of the Secretary 
of State at Raleigh, North Carolina and in the Office of the Wake County Board of 
Elections an accurate map of the annexed territory, described in Section 1 hereof, 
together with a duly certified copy of this Ordinance. 
 
 
    Adopted this the 14th day of November, 2023. 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Jacques K. Gilbert 
      Mayor 
ATTEST:   
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 
Town Clerk 

- Page 236 -



Page 3 of 4 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Laurie L. Hohe 
Town Attorney 
 
Legal Description 
 
Tract 1 Legal Description (PIN No. 0712949922) 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and 

having North Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 

2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the Northwest corner of that parcel of land 

owned by Legacy Apex, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and Book of Maps 2004, 

Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 43°21'40" 

East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of 

Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" 

West, 199.45' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an 

Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the 

True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), 

more or less. 

Tract 2 Legal Description (PIN No. 0722041522) 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and 

having North Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 

2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the Northwest corner of that parcel of land 

owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and Book of Maps 2004, 

Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence North 82°58'49" East, 828.63' to a New 

Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°36'41" West, 79.80' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 

01°36'41" West, 893.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°57'07" West, 

417.11' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 76°25'00" West, 820.35' to an Existing 

Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'28" East, 465.54' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 

00°35'23" East, 74.24' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°39'29" East, 186.13' to 

an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'23" East, 755.82' to a New Iron Pipe, being 

the Point and Place of Beginning and containing an area of 26.627 Acres (1,159,991 sf), 

more or less. 

Save and Except the following area: 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and 

having North Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 

2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the Northwest corner of that parcel of land  
- Page 237 -



Page 4 of 4 
 

owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and Book of Maps 2004, 

Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 43°21'40" 

East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of 

Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" 

West, 199.45' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an 

Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the 

True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), 

more or less. 

 

 

 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF WAKE 
 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATION 
 

I, Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk, Town of Apex, North Carolina, do hereby certify the 
foregoing is a true and correct copy of Satellite Annexation Ordinance No. 2023-_____, 
adopted at a meeting of the Town Council, on the 14th day of November, 2023, the 
original of which will be on file in the Office of the Town Clerk of Apex, North Carolina. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the official Seal of the 
Town of Apex, North Carolina, this the 14th day of November, 2023. 
 
 
  

_______________________________________ 
Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 
Town Clerk 

                      (SEAL 

- Page 238 -



Tract 1 Legal Description (PIN No. 0712949922) 

 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 

43°21'40" East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" West, 199.45' to 

an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 

00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an 

area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), more or less. 

 

 

 

Tract 2 Legal Description (PIN No. 0722041522) 

 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence North 82°58'49" East, 828.63' to a New 

Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°36'41" West, 79.80' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°36'41" West, 

893.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°57'07" West, 417.11' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence 

South 76°25'00" West, 820.35' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'28" East, 465.54' to an 

Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°35'23" East, 74.24' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°39'29" 

East, 186.13' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'23" East, 755.82' to a New Iron Pipe, being the 

Point and Place of Beginning and containing an area of 26.627 Acres (1,159,991 sf), more or less. 

 

Save and Except the following area: 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 

43°21'40" East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" West, 199.45' to 

an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 

00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an 

area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), more or less. 

- Page 239 -



- Page 240 -



- Page 241 -



- Page 242 -



- Page 243 -



- Page 244 -



- Page 245 -



- Page 246 -



- Page 247 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 
 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: OLD BUSINESS 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Councilmember Terry Mahaffey, Sponsor  

Department(s): Governing Body  

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to adopt an Ordinance Amendment amending Chapter 5 – Article 1 - Section 5-9 – State 

Building Code, Fire Code to require automatic fire sprinklers in all residential dwellings (Group R-3 

occupancies and townhouses). UPDATE:  Councilmember Mahaffey intends to make a motion to remove 

this item from consideration.  This motion w ill likely occur during the “Regular Meeting Agenda”  

section of the agenda.    

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

The North Carolina Building Code Council and/or Residential Building Code Council (new) will have to 

approve of the change before fire sprinkler systems can be required in Apex. It is anticipated that review 

and approval of the proposed ordinance will take several months. The next North Carolina Building Code 

Council Meeting is December 12, 2023, however the deadline for agenda submission was due on 

November 1, 2023.  The first North Carolina Building Code Council meeting this item could be considered 

would be March 12, 2024.  

 

The Apex Town Council considered the proposed ordinance amendment during the October 24, 2023, 

regular meeting and the ordinance passed by a simple majority (3-2 with Councilmember Gantt and 

Councilmember Gray dissenting).  For the Town to pass an ordinance on the date of introduction (first vote 

by council), the ordinance must receive an affirmative vote by 2/3s of its members.  For Apex, this 

“supermajority” vote requires an affirmative vote of 4 members.  Because the ordinance passed by a simple 

majority, it is being presented again for a second vote.  If the ordinance receives an affirmative vote by a 

simple majority on the 2nd reading (second vote by council) it passes. 

 

Attachments 



• OB1-A1: Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System  
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-1024-__ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 5-9 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE TOWN OF APEX 

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statutes (“NCGS”) § 143-138 provides that the fire 
prevention code provisions of the North Carolina State Building Code: Fire Prevention Code are 
considered the minimum standards necessary to preserve and protect health and safety, and that 
municipalities and counties may submit more stringent provisions for approval by the North 
Carolina Building Code Council; 

WHEREAS, NCGS § 143-138 further provides that fire prevention standards exceeding the state 
minimum standards require official approval from the Building Code Council and that they 
provide adequate minimum standards to preserve and protect health and safety; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex finds it in the best interest of its citizens to 
provide fire prevention standards that exceed the standards mandated by the State of North 
Carolina. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex as 
follows: 

Section 1.  Section 5-9 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Apex is hereby 
amended to read as follows, with additions shown as bold, underlined text and deletions as 
struck through text: 

Sec. 5-9. – State building code, fire code. 

(a) The North Carolina State Building Code, Fire Code, as adopted by the North 
Carolina Building Code Council as amended from time to time, is hereby 
incorporated by reference into this Code as if fully set forth herein, and 
Appendices B, C, D, E, F, G, and H are specifically adopted and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

(b) Notwithstanding the exception to applicability for occupancy of one- and 
two-family dwellings in Section 102.13 of the North Carolina State 
Building Code: Fire Prevention Code, Section 903.2.8 and Section 
903.2.8.1 of the North Carolina State Building Code: Fire Prevention 
Code, as amended, shall be amended and apply within the Town of Apex, 
as follows: 

903.2.8 Group R. An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance 
with Section 903.3 shall be provided throughout all buildings with a 
Group R fire area. 

- Page 249 -



Exceptions: 

1. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in new adult and 
child day care facilities located in existing Group R-3 and R-4 
occupancies. 

2. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in temporary 
overflow shelters. 

3. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in camping units 
located within a campground where all of the following conditions 
exist. 
3.1 The camping unit is limited to one story in height. 
3.2 The camping unit is less than 400 square feet (37 m2) in area. 
3.3 The camping unit does not have a kitchen. 

4. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in an open air camp 
cabin that complies with the following: 
4.1 The open air camp cabin shall have at least two remote 

unimpeded exits.  Lighted exit signs shall not be required. 
4.2 The open air camp cabin shall not be required to have 

plumbing or electrical systems, but if the cabin has these 
systems, then the provisions of the code otherwise applicable to 
those systems shall apply. 

4.3 Smoke detectors and portable fire extinguishers shall be 
installed as required by other sections of this code. 

5. Temporary sleeping units for disaster relief workers as allowed by 
Section 321.4.5. 

903.2.8.1 Group R-3. 

An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 
903.3.1.3 shall be required in Group R-3 occupancies and townhouses. 

 Section 2.  It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained that the 
provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances and the 
sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 Section 3.  Severability, Conflict of Laws.  If this ordinance or application thereof to 
any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 
applications of the ordinance which can be given separate effect and to the end the provisions of 
this ordinance are declared to be severable.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 
this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective six months after approval 
by the North Carolina Building Code Council. 

- Page 250 -



Introduced by Council Member: _____________________________________ 

 Seconded by Council Member:   _____________________________________ 

 This the ____ day of ____________, 2023. 

 

Attest:          TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
____________________________      __________________________________ 
Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC      Jacques K. Gilbert        
Town Clerk         Mayor 
 
Approved As To Form: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Laurie L. Hohe  
Town Attorney 

- Page 251 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CLOSED SESSION 

 Meeting Date: November 14,2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Laurie Hohe, Town Attorney 

Department(s): Legal Services 

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to enter into closed session pursuant to NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6) to consider a personnel 

matter. 

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6)  
 

“To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions of appointment, or 

conditions of initial employment of an individual public officer or employee or prospective public officer or 

employee; or to hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or grievance by or against an individual public 

officer or employee” 

 

Attachments 

 N/A 

 

- Page 252 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CLOSED SESSION 

 Meeting Date: November 14, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office 

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to enter into closed session pursuant to NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6) to consider a personnel 

matter.  

 

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6) 
 
“To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions of appointment, or 

conditions of initial employment of an individual public officer or employee or prospective public officer or 

employee; or to hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or grievance by or against an individual public 

officer or employee” 

 

 

Attachments 

 N/A 

 

- Page 253 -


	Apex Town Council  
November 14, 2023 
Regular Meeting  
REVISED AGENDA
	CN1 2024 Town Council Meeting Calendar
	CN1 2024 Town Council Meeting Calendar
	CN1-A1: DRAFT - 2024 Council Meeting Calendar

	CN2 Agreement - Construction Agreement - CSX Transportation, Inc - Hunter StreetSidewalk
	CN2 - Coversheet - Agreement - Construction Agreement - CSX Transportation, Inc - Hunter StreetSidewalk
	CN2-A1: Construction Agreement - CSX Transportation, INC - Hunter Street Sidewalk

	CN3 Agreement - Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement - Equipment Sharing -with Town of Cary, Town of Morrisville and Town of Apex
	CN3 - Coversheet - Agreement - Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement - Equipment Sharing -with Town of Cary, Town of Morrisville and Town of Apex
	CN3-A1: Fire Protection Equipment Mutual Aid Agreement - Fire Protection Equipment Mutual AidAgreement - Equipment Sharing - with Town of Cary, Town of Morrisville and Town of Apex

	CN4	Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres
	CN4 - Coversheet - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres
	CN4-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition, Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing
	CN4-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres
	CN4-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres
	CN4-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226 acres
	CN4-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 765 - Alderwood - Two Remaining Parcels - 5.226
acres

	CN5	Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 acres
	CN5 - Coversheet - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 (Tracts One through Six) - 111.02 acres
	CN5-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition, Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing
	CN5-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 - 111.02 acres
	CN5-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 - 111.02 acres
	CN5-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 - 111.02 acres
	CN5-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 766 - Veridea No. 1 - 111.02 acres

	CN6	Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres
	CN6 - Coversheet - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres
	CN6-A1: Resolution Direction the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition, Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing
	CN6-A2: Legal Description - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres
	CN6-A3: Aerial Map - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres
	CN6-A4: Plat Map - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres
	CN6-A5: Annexation Petition - Annexation No. 768 - 9613 Horton Road - 17.41 acres

	CN7	Construction Contract Award - Browe Construction Company - Laura Duncan Sidewalk Project
	CN7 - Coversheet - Construction Contract Award - Laura Duncan Sidewalk Project
	CN7-A1: Bid Tabulation - Construction Contract Award - Laura Duncan Sidewalk Project
	CN7-A2: Standard Construction Agreement - Construction Contract Award - Laura Duncan Sidewalk Project

	CN8	Council Meeting Minutes - Various
	CN8 - Coversheet - Council Meeting Minutes - Various
	CN8-A1: DRAFT Minutes – October 19, 2023 – Town Council Work Session Meeting Minutes
	CN8-A2: DRAFT Minutes – October 24, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes
	CN8-A3: DRAFT Minutes – October 27, 2023 – Town Council Strategic Planning Work Session Meeting Minutes

	CN9	Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258
	CN9 - Coversheet - Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258
	CN9-A1: Encroachment Agreement - Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258
	CN9-A2: Exhibit A - Encroachment Agreement - 2915 Alderson Court - Lot 258

	CN10	Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 13 Occupational Licenses, Taxes and Regulations, Article III, Subsection 54 Exemptions - Pleasant Park Concessions
	CN10 - Coversheet - Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 13 Occupational Licenses, Taxes and Regulations, Article III, Subsection 54 Exemptions - Pleasant Park Concessions
	CN10-A1: Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 13 Occupational Licenses, Taxes and Regulations, Article III, Subsection 54 Exemptions - Pleasant Park Concessions
	CN10-A2: CONT-2023-314 – Service Agreement between Town of Apex Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources and Barham Enterprises (Concessionaire)

	CN11	Tax Report - September 2023
	CN11 - Coversheet - Tax Report - September 2023
	CN11-A1: Tax Report for September 2023

	CN12	Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck
	CN12 - Coversheet - Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck
	CN12-A1: Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck
	CN12-A2: CONT-2023-316 – Temporary Leaf Truck Lease - Vehicle Lease - 2014 Freightliner Leaf Truck

	PR1	Apex Public School Foundation - Quarterly Peak S.T.A.R. Awards
	PR1 - Coversheet - Presentation by the Apex Public School Foundation - Quarterly Peak S.T.A.R. Awards

	PR2 Proclamation – Adoption Awareness Month – November 2023
	PR2 Proclamation – Adoption Awareness Month – November 2023

	PR3	Proclamation - Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Day - Wednesday, November 15, 2023
	PR3 - Proclamation - Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Day - Wednesday, November 15, 2023

	PR4	Proclamation - Small Business Saturday 2023 - Saturday, November 25, 2023
	PR4 - Proclamation - Small Business Saturday 2023 - Saturday, November 25, 2023

	PR5	Western Wake Ministry Presentation
	PR5 - Coversheet - Western Wake Ministry Presentation
	PR5-A1: Western Wake Ministry Presentation

	PH1	Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1 - Coversheet - Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A1: Annexation Ordinance – Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A2 - Public Hearing Notice - Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A3: Legal Description – Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A4: Aerial Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A5: Plat Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres
	PH1-A6: Annexation Petition – Satellite Annexation No. 770 - Legacy Station - 26.63 acres

	OB1	Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System Requirements (2nd Reading)
	OB1 - Coversheet - Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System Requirements (2nd Reading)
	OB1-A1: Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System

	CS1	Closed Session - NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6)
	CS1 - Coversheet - Closed Session NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(6)

	CS2	Closed Session - NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6)
	CS2 - Coversheet - Closed Session - NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6)

	Bottom
	2024 Town Council Meeting Calendar - DRAFT 2023.11.03.pdf
	Table 1




